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Chapter 23 

George Whitefield 

George Whitefield(27 December [O.S. 16 December] 1714 – 30 

September 1770), also known as George Whitfield, was an 

Anglican cleric and evangelist who was one of the founders of 

Methodism and the evangelical movement.  

Born in Gloucester, he matriculated at Pembroke College at the 

University of Oxford in 1732. There he joined the "Holy Club" 

and was introduced to the Wesley brothers, John and Charles, 

with whom he would work closely in his later ministry. 

Whitefield was ordained after receiving his Bachelor of Arts 

degree. He immediately began preaching, but he did not settle 

as the minister of any parish. Rather he became an itinerant 

preacher and evangelist. In 1740, Whitefield traveled to North 

America, where he preached a series of revivals that became 

part of the "Great Awakening". His methods were controversial 

and he engaged in numerous debates and disputes with other 

clergymen.  

Whitefield received widespread recognition during his ministry; 

he preached at least 18,000 times to perhaps 10 million 

listeners in Great Britain and her American colonies. 

Whitefield could enthrall large audiences through a potent 

combination of drama, religious rhetoric, and patriotism.  

Early life 

Whitefield was born on 27 December [O.S. 16 December] 1714 

at the Bell Inn, Southgate Street, Gloucester in England. 
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Whitefield was the fifth son (seventh and last child) of Thomas 

Whitefield and Elizabeth Edwards, who kept an inn at 

Gloucester. At an early age, he found that he had a passion 

and talent for acting in the theatre, a passion that he would 

carry on with the very theatrical re-enactments of Bible stories 

he told during his sermons. He was educated at The Crypt 

School, Gloucester, and Pembroke College, Oxford.  

Because business at the inn had diminished, Whitefield did not 

have the means to pay for his tuition. He therefore came up to 

the University of Oxford as a servitor, the lowest rank of 

undergraduates. Granted free tuition, he acted as a servant to 

Fellows and Fellow-commoners; duties including teaching them 

in the morning, helping them bathe, cleaning their rooms, 

carrying their books, and assisting them with work. He was a 

part of the "Holy Club" at the University with the Wesley 

brothers, John and Charles. An illness, as well as Henry 

Scougal's The Life of God in the Soul of Man, influenced him to 

turn to the Church. Following a religious conversion, he 

became passionate for preaching his new-found faith. The 

Bishop of Gloucester ordained him a deacon.  

Evangelism 

• Whitefield preached his first sermon at St Mary de 

Crypt Church in his home town of Gloucester, a week 

after his ordination. He had earlier become the 

leader of the Holy Club at Oxford when the Wesley 

brothers departed for Georgia. 

In 1738 he went to Savannah, Georgia, in the American 

colonies, as parish priest of Christ Church. While there he 
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decided that one of the great needs of the area was an orphan 

house. He decided this would be his life's work. He returned to 

England to raise funds, as well as to receive priest's orders. 

While preparing for his return, he preached to large 

congregations. At the suggestion of friends he preached to the 

miners of Kingswood, outside Bristol, in the open air. Because 

he was returning to Georgia he invited John Wesley to take 

over his Bristol congregations, and to preach in the open air 

for the first time at Kingswood and then at Blackheath, 

London.  

Whitefield accepted the Church of England's doctrine of 

predestination and disagreed with the Wesley brothers' 

Arminian views on the doctrine of the atonement. As a result, 

Whitefield did what his friends hoped he would not do—hand 

over the entire ministry to John Wesley. Whitefield formed and 

was the president of the first Methodist conference, but he 

soon relinquished the position to concentrate on evangelical 

work.  

Three churches were established in England in his name—one 

in Penn Street, Bristol, and two in London, in Moorfields and 

in Tottenham Court Road—all three of which became known by 

the name of "Whitefield's Tabernacle". The society meeting at 

the second Kingswood School at Kingswood, a town on the 

eastern edge of Bristol, was eventually also named Whitefield's 

Tabernacle.  

Whitefield acted as chaplain to Selina, Countess of 

Huntingdon, and some of his followers joined the Countess of 

Huntingdon's Connexion, whose chapels were built by Selina, 

where a form of Calvinistic Methodism similar to Whitefield's 
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was taught. Many of Selina's chapels were built in the English 

and Welsh counties. One was erected in London—Spa Fields 

Chapel.  

In 1739, Whitefield returned to England to raise funds to 

establish the Bethesda Orphanage, now the Bethesda Academy. 

It is the oldest extant charity in North America.  

Bethesda Orphanage 

Whitefield's endeavor to build an orphanage in Georgia was 

central to his preaching. The Bethesda Orphanage and his 

preaching comprised the "two-fold task" that occupied the rest 

of his life. On 25 March 1740, construction began. Whitefield 

wanted the orphanage to be a place of strong Gospel influence, 

with a wholesome atmosphere and strong discipline.  

Having raised the money by his preaching, Whitefield "insisted 

on sole control of the orphanage". He refused to give the 

Trustees a financial accounting. The Trustees also objected to 

Whitefield's using "a wrong Method" to control the children, 

who "are often kept praying and crying all the Night".  

On returning to North America in 1740, he preached a series of 

revivals that came to be known as the First Great Awakening. 

In 1740 he engaged Moravian Brethren from Georgia to build 

an orphanage for negro children on land he had bought in the 

Lehigh Valley of Pennsylvania. Following a theological 

disagreement, he dismissed them and was unable to complete 

the building, which the Moravians subsequently bought and 

completed. This now is the Whitefield House in the center of 

the Moravian settlement of Nazareth, Pennsylvania. The 
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Whitefield House is owned by the Moravian Historical Society, 

and operates as the Society's museum and administrative 

offices.  

He preached nearly every day for months to large crowds of 

sometimes several thousand people as he traveled throughout 

the colonies, especially New England. His journey on horseback 

from New York City to Charleston, South Carolina, was at that 

time the longest in North America by a white man.  

Like his contemporary and acquaintance, Jonathan Edwards, 

Whitefield preached staunchly Calvinist theology that was in 

line with the "moderate Calvinism" of the Thirty-nine Articles. 

While explicitly affirming God's sole agency in salvation, 

Whitefield freely offered the Gospel, saying at the end of his 

sermons: "Come poor, lost, undone sinner, come just as you 

are to Christ."  

Revival meetings 

The Church of England did not assign him a pulpit, so he 

began preaching in parks and fields in England on his own, 

reaching out to people who normally did not attend church. 

Like Jonathan Edwards, he developed a style of preaching that 

elicited emotional responses from his audiences. But Whitefield 

had charisma, and his loud voice, his small stature, and even 

his cross-eyed appearance (which some people took as a mark 

of divine favour) all served to help make him one of the first 

celebrities in the American colonies. Whitefield included slaves 

in his revivals and their response was positive. Historians see 

this as "the genesis of African-American Christianity."  
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To Whitefield "the gospel message was so critically important 

that he felt compelled to use all earthly means to get the word 

out."  

Thanks to widespread dissemination of print media, perhaps 

half of all colonists eventually heard about, read about, or read 

something written by Whitefield. He employed print 

systematically, sending advance men to put up broadsides and 

distribute handbills announcing his sermons. He also arranged 

to have his sermons published.  

Whitefield sought to influence the colonies after he returned to 

England from his 1740 tour in America. He contracted to have 

his autobiographical Journals published throughout America. 

These Journals have been characterized as "the ideal vehicle 

for crafting a public image that could work in his absence." 

They depicted Whitefield in the "best possible light". When he 

returned to America for his third tour in 1745, he was better 

known than when he had left.  

Much of Whitefield's publicity was the work of William Seward, 

a wealthy layman who accompanied Whitefield. Seward acted 

as Whitefield's "fund-raiser, business co-ordinator, and 

publicist". He furnished newspapers and booksellers with 

material, including copies of Whitefield's writings.  

When Whitefield returned to England in 1742, a crowd 

Whitefield estimated at 20,000 and William M'Culloch, the 

local minister, at 30,000, met him. One such open-air 

congregation took place on Minchinhampton common. 

Whitefield preached to the "Rodborough congregation" - a 

gathering of 10,000 people - at a place now known as 

"Whitefield's tump."  
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Slaveholder and advocate of slavery 

Whitefield was a plantation owner and slaveholder, and viewed 

the work of slaves as essential for funding his orphanage's 

operations. Whitefield's contemporary, John Wesley denounced 

slavery as "the sum of all villainies," and detailed its abuses. 

However, defenses of slavery were common among 18th-century 

Protestants, especially missionaries who used the institution to 

emphasize God's providence. Whitefield was at first conflicted 

about slaves. He believed that they were human, and was 

angered that they were treated as "subordinate Creatures". The 

contention that Whitefield supported slavery comes from a 

single author Stephen Stein, who attributes anonymous 

documents to secret authorship of Whitefield.  

Slavery had been outlawed in the young colony of Georgia in 

1735. In 1747, Whitefield attributed the financial woes of his 

Bethesda Orphanage to Georgia's prohibition of black people in 

the colony. He argued that "the constitution of that colony 

[Georgia] is very bad, and it is impossible for the inhabitants 

to subsist" while blacks were banned.  

Between 1748 and 1750, Whitefield campaigned for the 

legalisation of African-American emigration into the colony 

because the trustees of Georgia had banned slavery. Whitefield 

argued that the colony would never be prosperous unless 

slaves were allowed to farm the land. Whitefield wanted slavery 

legalized not only for the prosperity of the colony, but also for 

the financial viability of the Bethesda Orphanage. "Had 

Negroes been allowed" to live in Georgia, he said, "I should now 

have had a sufficiency to support a great many orphans 

without expending above half the sum that has been laid out." 
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Whitefield's push for the legalization of slave emigration in to 

Georgia "cannot be explained solely on the basics of 

economics." It was also his hope for their adoption and for 

their eternal salvation.  

Black slaves were permitted to live in Georgia in 1751. 

Whitefield saw the "legalization of (black residency) as part 

personal victory and part divine will." Whitefield now argued a 

scriptural justification for black residency as slaves. He 

increased the number of the black children at his orphanage, 

using his preaching to raise money to house them.  

Whitefield became "perhaps the most energetic, and 

conspicuous, evangelical defender and practitioner of the 

rights of black people. By propagating such "a theological 

defense for" black residency Whitefield helped slaveholders 

prosperity. Upon his death, Whitefield left everything in the 

orphanage to the Countess of Huntingdon. This included 4,000 

acres of land and 50 black slaves.  

Campaign against cruel treatment of slaves 

In 1740, during his second visit to America, Whitefield 

published "an open letter to the planters of South Carolina, 

Virginia, and Maryland" chastising them for their cruelty to 

their slaves. He wrote, "I think God has a Quarrel with you for 

your Abuse of and Cruelty to the poor Negroes." Furthermore, 

Whitefield wrote: "Your dogs are caressed and fondled at your 

tables; but your slaves who are frequently styled dogs or 

beasts, have not an equal privilege." However, Whitefield 

"stopped short of rendering a moral judgment on slavery itself 

as an institution."  
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The Bethesda Orphanage "set an example of humane 

treatment" of black people. Phillis Wheatley (1753–1784), who 

was a slave, wrote a poem On the Death of the Rev. Mr. George 

Whitefield in 1770. The first line calls Whitefield a "happy 

saint".  

Benjamin Franklin and Whitefield 

Benjamin Franklin attended a revival meeting in Philadelphia, 

Pennsylvania and was greatly impressed with Whitefield's 

ability to deliver a message to such a large group. Franklin had 

previously dismissed as exaggeration reports of Whitefield 

preaching to crowds of the order of tens of thousands in 

England. When listening to Whitefield preaching from the 

Philadelphia court house, Franklin walked away towards his 

shop in Market Street until he could no longer hear Whitefield 

distinctly—Whitefield could be heard over 500 feet. He then 

estimated his distance from Whitefield and calculated the area 

of a semicircle centred on Whitefield. Allowing two square feet 

per person he computed that Whitefield could be heard by over 

30,000 people in the open air.  

Franklin admired Whitefield as a fellow intellectual but 

thought Whitefield's plan to run an orphanage in Georgia 

would lose money. He published several of Whitefield's tracts 

and was impressed by Whitefield's ability to preach and speak 

with clarity and enthusiasm to crowds. Franklin was an 

ecumenist and approved of Whitefield's appeal to members of 

many denominations, but, unlike Whitefield, was not an 

evangelical. After one of Whitefield's sermons, Franklin noted 

the:  
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wonderful ... change soon made in the manners of our 

inhabitants. From being thoughtless or indifferent about 

religion, it seem'd as if all the world were growing religious, so 

that one could not walk thro' the town in an evening without 

hearing psalms sung in different families of every street. 

• —  Franklin 1888, p. 135 

A lifelong close friendship developed between the revivalist 

preacher and the worldly Franklin. Looking beyond their public 

images, one finds a common charity, humility, and ethical 

sense embedded in the character of each man.  

True loyalty based on genuine affection, coupled with a high 

value placed on friendship, helped their association grow 

stronger over time. Letters exchanged between Franklin and 

Whitefield can be found at the American Philosophical Society 

in Philadelphia. These letters document the creation of an 

orphanage for boys named the Charity School.  

And in 1749, Franklin chose the Whitefield meeting house, 

with its Charity School, to be purchased as the site of the 

newly-formed Academy of Philadelphia which opened in 1751, 

followed in 1755 with the College of Philadelphia, both the 

predecessors of the University of Pennsylvania.  

A statue of George Whitefield is located in the Dormitory 

Quadrangle, standing in front of the Morris and Bodine 

sections of the present Ware College House on the University of 

Pennsylvania campus. On 2 July 2020, the University of 

Pennsylvania announced they would be removing the statue 

due to Whitefield's connection to slavery.   
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Travels 

Whitefield is remembered as one of the first to preach to 

slaves. Phillis Wheatley wrote a poem in his memory after he 

died, while she was still a slave.  

In an age when crossing the Atlantic Ocean was a long and 

hazardous adventure, he visited America seven times, making 

13 ocean crossings in total. It is estimated that throughout his 

life, he preached more than 18,000 formal sermons, of which 

78 have been published. In addition to his work in North 

America and England, he made 15 journeys to Scotland—most 

famously to the "Preaching Braes" of Cambuslang in 1742—two 

journeys to Ireland, and one each to Bermuda, Gibraltar, and 

the Netherlands. In England and Wales, Whitefield's itinerary 

included every county.  

He went to the Georgia Colony in 1738 following John Wesley's 

departure, to serve as a colonial chaplain at Savannah. While 

in Georgia, Whitefield served as minister for an orphanage and 

traveled extensively throughout both North America and 

Britain in an effort to raise money for the organization. He 

would often preach and attend public events during his travels, 

which served to further spread his message.  

Marriage 

"I believe it is God's will that I should marry", George 

Whitefield wrote to a friend in 1740. But he was concerned: "I 

pray God that I may not have a wife till I can live as though I 

had none." That ambivalence—believing God willed a wife, yet 
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wanting to live as if without one—brought Whitefield a 

disappointing love life and a largely unhappy marriage.  

His wife Elizabeth, a widow previously Elizabeth James, née 

Gwynne, married Whitefield on 14 November 1741, After their 

1744–48 stay in America, she never accompanied him on his 

travels.  

Whitefield reflected that "none in America could bear her". His 

wife believed that she had been "but a load and burden" to 

him. Cornelius Winter, who for a time lived with the 

Whitefields, observed that Whitefield "was not happy in his 

wife". Thus, "her death set his mind much at liberty".  

Elizabeth died of a fever on 9 August 1768. She was buried in 

a vault at the Tottenham Court Road Chapel. At the end of the 

19th century the Chapel needed restoration and all those 

interred there, except Augustus Toplady, were moved to 

Chingford Mount cemetery in north London.   

In 1743 after four miscarriages, Elizabeth had bore the 

couple's only child, a son. The baby died at four months old.  

Death 

• In 1770, the 55-year-old Whitefield continued 

preaching in spite of poor health. He said, "I would 

rather wear out than rust out." His last sermon was 

preached in a field "atop a large barrel". The next 

morning Whitefield died in the parsonage of Old 

South Presbyterian Church, Newburyport, 

Massachusetts, on 30 September 1770, and was 
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buried, according to his wishes, in a crypt under the 

pulpit of this church. A bust of Whitefield is in the 

collection of the Gloucester City Museum & Art 

Gallery.  

It was John Wesley who preached his funeral sermon in 

London, at Whitefield's request.  

Whitefield left almost £1,500 (equivalent to £209,000 in 2019) 

to friends and family. Furthermore, he had deposited £1,000 

(equivalent to £140,000 in 2019) for his wife if he predeceased 

her and had contributed £3,300 (equivalent to £461,000 in 

2019) to the Bethesda Orphanage. "Questions concerning the 

source of his personal wealth dogged his memory. His will 

stated that all this money had lately been left him 'in a most 

unexpected way and unthought of means.'"  

Relation to other Methodist leaders 

In terms of theology, Whitefield, unlike John Wesley, was a 

supporter of Calvinism. The two differed on eternal election, 

final perseverance, and sanctification, but were reconciled as 

friends and co-workers, each going his own way. It is a 

prevailing misconception that Whitefield was not primarily an 

organizer like Wesley. However, as Wesleyan historian Luke 

Tyerman states, "It is notable that the first Calvinistic 

Methodist Association was held eighteen months before Wesley 

held his first Methodist Conference." He was a man of profound 

experience, which he communicated to audiences with clarity 

and passion. His patronization by the Countess of Huntingdon 

reflected this emphasis on practice.  
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Opposition and controversy 

Whitefield welcomed opposition because as he said, "the more I 

am opposed, the more joy I feel". He proved himself adept at 

creating controversy. In his 1740 visit to Charles Town, it 

"took Whitefield only four days to plunge Charles Town into 

religious and social controversy."  

Whitefield thought he might be martyred for his views. After he 

attacked the established church he predicted that he would "be 

set at nought by the Rabbies of our Church, and perhaps at 

last be killed by them".  

Whitefield versus other clergy 

Whitefield chastised other clergy for teaching only "the shell 

and shadow of religion" because they did not hold the necessity 

of a new birth, without which a person would be "thrust down 

into Hell".  

In his 1740–1741 visit to America (as he had done in England), 

he attacked other clergy (mostly Anglican) calling them "God's 

persecutors". He said that Edmund Gibson, Bishop of London 

with supervision over Anglican clergy in America, knew no 

"more of Christianity, than Mahaomet, or an Infidel".  

After Whitefield preached at St. Philip's, Charleston, the 

Commissary, Alexander Garden, suspended him as a "vagabond 

clergyman." After being suspended, Whitefield attacked all 

South Carolina's Anglican clergy in print. Furthermore, 

Whitefield issued a blanket indictment of New England's 

Congregational ministers for their "lack of zeal".  
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In 1740, Whitefield published attacks on "the works of two of 

Anglicanism's revered seventeenth-century authors". Whitefield 

wrote that John Tillotson, archbishop of Canterbury (1691–

1694), had "no more been a true Christian than had 

Muhammad". He also attacked Richard Allestree's The Whole 

Duty of Man, one of Anglicanism's most popular spiritual 

tracts. At least once Whitefield had his followers burn the tract 

"with great Detestation".  

In England and Scotland (1741–1744), Whitefield bitterly 

accused John Wesley of undermining his work. He preached 

against Wesley, arguing that Wesley's attacks on 

predestination had alienated "very many of my spiritual 

children". Wesley replied that Whitefield's attacks were 

"treacherous" and that Whitefield had made himself "odious 

and contemptible". However, the two reconciled in later life.  

Along with Wesley, Whitefield had been influenced by the 

Moravian Church, but in 1753 he condemned them and 

attacked their leader, Count Nicolaus Zinzendorf, and their 

practices.  

When Joseph Trapp criticized Whitefield's Journals, Whitefield 

retorted that Trapp was "no Christian but a servant of Satan".  

Clergy versus Whitefield 

English, Scottish, and American clergy attacked Whitefield, 

often in response to his attacks on them and Anglicanism, as 

documented in this section. Early in his career, Whitefield 

criticized the Church of England. In response, clergy called 

Whitefield one of "the young quacks in divinity" who are 

"breaking the peace and unity" of the church.  
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From 1738 to 1741, Whitefield issued seven Journals. A 

sermon in St Paul's Cathedral depicted them as "a medley of 

vanity, and nonsense, and blasphemy jumbled together". 

Joseph Trapp called the Journals "blasphemous" and accused 

Whitefield of being "besotted either with pride or madness".  

In England, by 1738 when he was ordained priest, Whitefield 

wrote that "the spirit of the clergy began to be much 

embittered" and that "churches were gradually denied me". In 

response to Whitefield's Journals, the bishop of London, 

Edmund Gibson, published a 1739 pastoral letter criticizing 

Whitefield. Whitefield responded by labeling Anglican clerics as 

"lazy, non-spiritual, and pleasure seeking". He rejected 

ecclesiastical authority claiming that 'the whole world is now 

my parish'.  

In 1740, Whitefield had attacked John Tillotson and Richard 

Allestree's The Whole Duty of Man. These attacks resulted in 

hostile responses and reduced attendance at his London open-

air preaching.  

In 1741, Whitefield made his first visit to Scotland at the 

invitation of "Ralph and Ebenezer Erskine, leaders of the 

breakaway Associate Presbytery. When they demanded and 

Whitefield refused that he preach only in their churches, they 

attacked him as a "sorcerer" and a "vain-glorious, self-seeking, 

puffed-up creature". In addition, Whitefield's collecting money 

for his Bethesda orphanage, combined with the hysteria evoked 

by his open-air sermons, resulted in bitter attacks in 

Edinburgh and Glasgow."  

Whitefield's itinerant preaching throughout the colonies was 

opposed by Bishop Benson who had ordained him for a settled 
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ministry in Georgia. Whitefield replied that if bishops did not 

authorize his itinerant preaching, God would give him the 

authority.  

In 1740, Jonathan Edwards invited Whitefield to preach in his 

church in Northampton. Edwards was "deeply disturbed by his 

unqualified appeals to emotion, his openly judging those he 

considered unconverted, and his demand for instant 

conversions". Whitefield refused to discuss Edwards' 

misgivings with him. Later, Edwards delivered a series of 

sermons containing but "thinly veiled critiques" of Whitefield's 

preaching, "warning against over-dependence upon a 

preacher's eloquence and fervency".  

During Whitefield's 1744–1748 visit to America, ten critical 

pamphlets were published, two by officials of Harvard and 

Yale. This criticism was in part evoked by Whitefield's criticism 

of "their education and Christian commitment" in his Journal 

of 1741. Whitefield saw this opposition as "a conspiracy" 

against him.  

Whitefield versus laity 

When Whitefield preached in a dissenting church and "the 

congregation's response was dismal," he ascribed the response 

to "the people's being hardened" as were "Pharaoh and the 

Egyptians" in the Bible.  

Laity versus Whitefield 

Many New Englanders claimed that Whitefield destroyed "New 

England's orderly parish system, communities, and even 

families". The "Declaration of the Association of the County of 
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New Haven, 1745" stated that after Whitefield's preaching 

"religion is now in a far worse state than it was". After 

Whitefield preached in Charlestown, a local newspaper article 

attacked him as "blasphemous, uncharitable, and 

unreasonable."  

After Whitefield condemned Moravians and their practices, his 

former London printer (a Moravian), called Whitefield "a 

Mahomet, a Caesar, an imposter, a Don Quixote, a devil, the 

beast, the man of sin, the Antichrist".  

In the open air in Dublin, Ireland (1757), Whitefield 

condemned Roman Catholicism, inciting an attack by 

"hundreds and hundreds of papists" who cursed and wounded 

him severely and smashed his portable pulpit.  

On various occasions, a woman assaulted Whitefield with 

"scissors and a pistol, and her teeth". "Stones and dead cats" 

were thrown at him. A man almost killed him with a brass-

headed cane. "Another climbed a tree to urinate on him."  

In 1760, Whitefield was burlesqued by Samuel Foote in The 

Minor.  

Whitefield changes 

Selina Hastings, Countess of Huntingdon made Whitefield her 

personal chaplain. In her chapel, it was noted that his 

preaching was "more Considered among persons of a Superior 

Rank" who attended the Countess's services. Whitefield was 

humble before the Countess saying that he cried when he was 

"thinking of your Ladyship's condescending to patronize such a 

dead dog as I am". He now said that he "highly esteemed 
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bishops of the Church of England because of their sacred 

character". He confessed that in "many things" he had "judged 

and acted wrong" and had "been too bitter in my zeal". In 1763, 

in a defense of Methodism, Whitefield "repeated contrition for 

much contained in his Journals".  

Among the nobility who heard Whitefield in the Countess of 

Huntingdon's home was Lady Townshend. Regarding the 

changes in Whitefield, someone asked Lady Townshend, "Pray, 

madam, is it true that Whitefield has recanted?"  

She replied, "No, sir, he has only canted." One meaning of cant 

is "to affect religious or pietistic phraseology, esp. as a matter 

of fashion or profession; to talk unreally or hypocritically with 

an affectation of goodness or piety.". 

Religious innovation 

In the First Great Awakening, rather than listening demurely 

to preachers, people groaned and roared in enthusiastic 

emotion. Whitefield was a "passionate preacher" who often 

"shed tears". Underlying this was his conviction that genuine 

religion "engaged the heart, not just the head".  

In his preaching, Whitefield used a number of rhetorical ploys 

that were characteristic of theater, an artistic medium largely 

unknown in colonial America. Stout 1991 refers to him as a 

"divine dramatist" and ascribes his success to the theatrical 

sermons which laid foundations to a new form of pulpit 

oratory. Whitefield's "Abraham Offering His Son Isaac" is an 

example of a sermon whose whole structure resembles a 

theatrical play.  
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New divinity schools opened to challenge the hegemony of Yale 

and Harvard; personal experience became more important than 

formal education for preachers. Such concepts and habits 

formed a necessary foundation for the American Revolution. 

Whitefield's preaching bolstered "the evolving republican 

ideology that sought local democratic control of civil affairs 

and freedom from monarchial and parliamentary intrusion."  

Works 

Whitefield's sermons were widely reputed to inspire his 

audience's enthusiasm. Many of them as well as his letters and 

journals were published during his lifetime. He was an 

excellent orator as well, strong in voice and adept at 

extemporaneity. His voice was so expressive that people are 

said to have wept just hearing him allude to "Mesopotamia". 

His journals, originally intended only for private circulation, 

were first published by Thomas Cooper. James Hutton then 

published a version with Whitefield's approval. His exuberant 

and "too apostolical" language were criticised; his journals 

were no longer published after 1741.  

Whitefield prepared a new installment in 1744–45, but it was 

not published until 1938. 19th-century biographies generally 

refer to his earlier work, A Short Account of God's Dealings with 

the Reverend George Whitefield (1740), which covered his life 

up to his ordination. In 1747 he published A Further Account of 

God's Dealings with the Reverend George Whitefield, covering 

the period from his ordination to his first voyage to Georgia. In 

1756, a vigorously edited version of his journals and 

autobiographical accounts was published. Whitefield was 

"profoundly image-conscious". His writings were "intended to 
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convey Whitefield and his life as a model for biblical ethics ... , 

as humble and pious".  

After Whitefield's death, John Gillies, a Glasgow friend, 

published a memoir and six volumes of works, comprising 

three volumes of letters, a volume of tracts, and two volumes of 

sermons. Another collection of sermons was published just 

before he left London for the last time in 1769. These were 

disowned by Whitefield and Gillies, who tried to buy all copies 

and pulp them. They had been taken down in shorthand, but 

Whitefield said that they made him say nonsense on occasion. 

These sermons were included in a 19th-century volume, 

Sermons on Important Subjects, along with the "approved" 

sermons from the Works. An edition of the journals, in one 

volume, was edited by William Wale in 1905. This was 

reprinted with additional material in 1960 by the Banner of 

Truth Trust. It lacks the Bermuda journal entries found in 

Gillies' biography and the quotes from manuscript journals 

found in 19th-century biographies. A comparison of this 

edition with the original 18th-century publications shows 

numerous omissions—some minor and a few major.  

Whitefield also wrote several hymns. Charles Wesley composed 

a hymn in 1739, "Hark, how all the welkin rings". Whitefield 

revised the opening couplet in 1758 for "Hark, the Herald 

Angels Sing".  

Veneration and legacy 

Whitefield is honoured together with Francis Asbury with a 

feast day on the liturgical calendar of the Episcopal Church 

(USA) on 15 November.  
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Whitfield County, Georgia, United States, is named after 

Whitefield. When the act by the Georgia General Assembly was 

written to create the county, the "e" was omitted from the 

spelling of the name to reflect the pronunciation of the name.  

Kidd 2014, pp. 260–263 summarizes Whitefield's legacy.  

• "Whitefield was the most influential Anglo-American 

evangelical leader of the eighteenth century." 

• "He also indelibly marked the character of 

evangelical Christianity." 

• He "was the first internationally famous itinerant 

preacher and the first modern transatlantic celebrity 

of any kind." 

• "Perhaps he was the greatest evangelical preacher 

that the world has ever seen." 

Mark Galli wrote of Whitefield's legacy:  

George Whitefield was probably the most famous religious 

figure of the eighteenth century. Newspapers called him the 

'marvel of the age'. Whitefield was a preacher capable of 

commanding thousands on two continents through the sheer 

power of his oratory. In his lifetime, he preached at least 

18,000 times to perhaps 10 million hearers. 

• —  Galli 2010, p. 63 

  



Chapter 24 

First Great Awakening 

The First Great Awakening (sometimes Great Awakening) or the 

Evangelical Revival was a series of Christian revivals that 

swept Britain and its thirteen North American colonies in the 

1730s and 1740s. The revival movement permanently affected 

Protestantism as adherents strove to renew individual piety 

and religious devotion. The Great Awakening marked the 

emergence of Anglo-American evangelicalism as a trans-

denominational movement within the Protestant churches. In 

the United States, the term Great Awakening is most often 

used, while in the United Kingdom the movement is referred to 

as the Evangelical Revival.  

Building on the foundations of older traditions—Puritanism, 

Pietism and Presbyterianism—major leaders of the revival such 

as George Whitefield, John Wesley and Jonathan Edwards 

articulated a theology of revival and salvation that transcended 

denominational boundaries and helped forge a common 

evangelical identity. Revivalists added to the doctrinal 

imperatives of Reformation Protestantism an emphasis on 

providential outpourings of the Holy Spirit. Extemporaneous 

preaching gave listeners a sense of deep personal conviction of 

their need of salvation by Jesus Christ and fostered 

introspection and commitment to a new standard of personal 

morality. Revival theology stressed that religious conversion 

was not only intellectual assent to correct Christian doctrine 

but had to be a "new birth" experienced in the heart. 

Revivalists also taught that receiving assurance of salvation 

was a normal expectation in the Christian life.  
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While the Evangelical Revival united evangelicals across 

various denominations around shared beliefs, it also led to 

division in existing churches between those who supported the 

revivals and those who did not. Opponents accused the revivals 

of fostering disorder and fanaticism within the churches by 

enabling uneducated, itinerant preachers and encouraging 

religious enthusiasm. In England, evangelical Anglicans would 

grow into an important constituency within the Church of 

England, and Methodism would develop out of the ministries of 

Whitefield and Wesley. In the American colonies the Awakening 

caused the Congregational and Presbyterian churches to split, 

while it strengthened both the Methodist and Baptist 

denominations. It had little immediate impact on most 

Lutherans, Quakers, and non-Protestants, but later gave rise 

to a schism among Quakers (see Quaker History) which 

persists to this day.  

Evangelical preachers "sought to include every person in 

conversion, regardless of gender, race, and status". 

Throughout the North American colonies, especially in the 

South, the revival movement increased the number of African 

slaves and free blacks who were exposed to and subsequently 

converted to Christianity. It also inspired the founding of new 

missionary societies, such as the Baptist Missionary Society in 

1792.  

Continental Europe 

Historian Sydney E. Ahlstrom sees the Great Awakening as 

part of a "great international Protestant upheaval" that also 

created pietism in the Lutheran and Reformed churches of 

continental Europe. Pietism emphasized heartfelt religious 
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faith in reaction to an overly intellectual Protestant 

scholasticism perceived as spiritually dry. Significantly, the 

pietists placed less emphasis on traditional doctrinal divisions 

between Protestant churches, focusing rather on religious 

experience and affections.  

Pietism prepared Europe for revival, and it usually occurred in 

areas where pietism was strong. The most important leader of 

the Awakening in central Europe was Nicolaus Zinzendorf, a 

Saxon noble who studied under pietist leader August Hermann 

Francke at Halle University. In 1722, Zinzendorf invited 

members of the Moravian Church to live and worship on his 

estates, establishing a community at Herrnhut. The Moravians 

came to Herrnhut as refugees, but under Zinzendorf's 

guidance, the group enjoyed a religious revival. Soon, the 

community became a refuge for other Protestants as well, 

including German Lutherans, Reformed Christians and 

Anabaptists. The church began to grow, and Moravian societies 

would be established in England where they would help foster 

the Evangelical Revival as well.  

Evangelical Revival in Britain 

England 

While known as the Great Awakening in the United States, the 

movement is referred to as the Evangelical Revival in Britain. 

In England, the major leaders of the Evangelical Revival were 

three Anglican priests, the brothers John and Charles Wesley 

and their friend George Whitefield. Together, they founded 

what would become Methodism. They had been members of a 
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religious society at Oxford University called the Holy Club and 

"Methodists" due to their methodical piety and rigorous 

asceticism. This society was modeled on the collegia pietatis 

(cell groups) used by pietists for Bible study, prayer and 

accountability. All three men experienced a spiritual crisis in 

which they sought true conversion and assurance of faith.  

George Whitefield joined the Holy Club in 1733 and, under the 

influence of Charles Wesley, read German pietist August 

Hermann Francke's Against the Fear of Man and Scottish 

theologian Henry Scougal's The Life of God in the Soul of Man 

(the latter work was a favorite of Puritans). Scougal wrote that 

many people mistakenly understood Christianity to be 

"Orthodox Notions and Opinions" or "external Duties" or 

"rapturous Heats and extatic Devotion". Rather, Scougal wrote, 

"True Religion is an Union of the Soul with God . . . It is Christ 

formed within us." Whitefield wrote that "though I had fasted, 

watched and prayed, and received the Sacrament long, yet I 

never knew what true religion was" until he read Scougal. From 

that point on, Whitefield sought the new birth. After a period of 

spiritual struggle, Whitefield experienced conversion during 

Lent in 1735. In 1736, he began preaching in Bristol and 

London. His preaching attracted large crowds who were drawn 

to his simple message of the necessity of the new birth as well 

as by his manner of delivery. His style was dramatic and his 

preaching appealed to his audience's emotions. At times, he 

wept or impersonated Bible characters. By the time he left 

England for the colony of Georgia in December 1737, Whitefield 

had become a celebrity.  

John Wesley left for Georgia in October 1735 to become a 

missionary for the Society for Promoting Christian Knowledge. 
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Wesley made contact with members of the Moravian Church led 

by August Gottlieb Spangenberg. Wesley was impressed by 

their faith and piety, especially their belief that it was normal 

for a Christian to have assurance of faith. The failure of his 

mission and encounters with the Moravians led Wesley to 

question his own faith. He wrote in his journal, "I who went to 

America to convert others was never myself converted to God."  

Back in London, Wesley became friends with Moravian minister 

Peter Boehler and joined a Moravian small group called the 

Fetter Lane Society. In May 1738, Wesley attended a Moravian 

meeting on Aldersgate Street where he felt spiritually 

transformed during a reading of Martin Luther's preface to the 

Epistle to the Romans. Wesley recounted that "I felt my heart 

strangely warmed. I felt I did trust in Christ, Christ alone for 

salvation, and an assurance was given me that he had taken 

away my sins, even mine, and saved me from the law of sin and 

death." Wesley understood his Aldersgate experience to be an 

evangelical conversion, and it provided him with the assurance 

he had been seeking. Afterwards, he traveled to Herrnhut and 

met Zinzendorf in person.  

John Wesley returned to England in September 1738. Both 

John and Charles were preaching in London churches. 

Whitefield stayed in Georgia for three months to establish 

Bethesda Orphanage before returning to England in December. 

While enjoying success, Whitefield's itinerant preaching was 

controversial. Many pulpits were closed to him, and he had to 

struggle against Anglicans who opposed the Methodists and the 

"doctrine of the New Birth". Whitefield wrote of his opponents, 

"I am fully convinced there is a fundamental difference between 
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us and them. They believe only an outward Christ, we further 

believe that He must be inwardly formed in our hearts also."  

In February 1739, parish priests in Bath and Bristol refused to 

allow Whitefield to preach in their churches on the grounds 

that he was a religious enthusiast. In response, he began open-

air field preaching in the mining community of Kingswood, 

near Bristol. Open-air preaching was common in Wales, 

Scotland and Northern Ireland, but it was unheard of in 

England. Further, Whitefield violated protocol by preaching in 

another priest's parish without permission. Within a week, he 

was preaching to crowds of 10,000. By March, Whitefield had 

moved on to preach elsewhere. By May, he was preaching to 

London crowds of 50,000. He left his followers in Bristol in the 

care of John Wesley. Whitefield's notoriety was increased 

through the use of newspaper advertisements to promote his 

revivals. Wesley was at first uneasy about preaching outdoors, 

as it was contrary to his high-church sense of decency. 

Eventually, however, Wesley changed his mind, claiming that 

"all the world [is] my parish". On April 2, 1739, Wesley first 

preached to about 3,000 people near Bristol. From then on he 

continued to preach wherever he could gather an assembly, 

taking the opportunity to recruit followers to the movement.  

Faced with growing evangelistic and pastoral responsibilities, 

Wesley and Whitefield appointed lay preachers and leaders. 

Methodist preachers focused particularly on evangelising 

people who had been "neglected" by the established Church of 

England. Wesley and his assistant preachers organised the new 

converts into Methodist societies. These societies were divided 

into groups called classes—intimate meetings where 

individuals were encouraged to confess their sins to one 
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another and to build each other up. They also took part in love 

feasts which allowed for the sharing of testimony, a key feature 

of early Methodism. Growth in numbers and increasing 

hostility impressed upon the revival converts a deep sense of 

their corporate identity. Three teachings that Methodists saw 

as the foundation of Christian faith were:  

• People are all, by nature, "dead in sin". 

• They are "justified by faith alone" 

• Faith produces inward and outward holiness. 

The evangelicals responded vigorously to opposition—both 

literary criticism and even mob violence—and thrived despite 

the attacks against them. John Wesley's organisational skills 

during and after the peak of revivalism established him as the 

primary founder of the Methodist movement. By the time of 

Wesley's death in 1791, there were an estimated 71,668 

Methodists in England and 43,265 in America.  

Wales and Scotland 

The Evangelical Revival first broke out in Wales. In 1735, 

Howell Harris and Daniel Rowland experienced a religious 

conversion and began preaching to large crowds throughout 

South Wales. Their preaching initiated the Welsh Methodist 

revival.  

The origins of revivalism in Scotland stretch back to the 1620s. 

The attempts by the Stuart Kings to impose bishops on the 

Church of Scotland led to national protests in the form of the 

Covenanters. In addition, radical Presbyterian clergy held 

outdoor conventicles throughout southern and western 

Scotland centering on the communion season. These revivals 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 4 

652 

would also spread to Ulster and featured "marathon 

extemporaneous preaching and excessive popular enthusiasm." 

In the 18th century, the Evangelical Revival was led by 

ministers such as Ebenezer Erskine, William M'Culloch (the 

minister who presided over the Cambuslang Work of 1742), and 

James Robe (minister at Kilsyth). A substantial number of 

Church of Scotland ministers held evangelical views.  

Great Awakening in America 

Early revivals 

In the early 18th century, the 13 Colonies were religiously 

diverse. In New England, the Congregational churches were the 

established religion; whereas in the religiously tolerant Middle 

Colonies, the Quakers, Dutch Reformed, Anglican, 

Presbyterian, Lutheran, Congregational, and Baptist churches 

all competed with each other on equal terms. In the Southern 

colonies, the Anglican church was officially established, 

though there were significant numbers of Baptists, Quakers 

and Presbyterians. At the same time, church membership was 

low from having failed to keep up with population growth, and 

the influence of Enlightenment rationalism was leading many 

people to turn to atheism, Deism, Unitarianism and 

Universalism. The churches in New England had fallen into a 

"staid and routine formalism in which experiential faith had 

been a reality to only a scattered few."  

In response to these trends, ministers influenced by New 

England Puritanism, Scots-Irish Presbyterianism, and 

European Pietism began calling for a revival of religion and 
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piety. The blending of these three traditions would produce an 

evangelical Protestantism that placed greater importance "on 

seasons of revival, or outpourings of the Holy Spirit, and on 

converted sinners experiencing God's love personally." In the 

1710s and 1720s, revivals became more frequent among New 

England Congregationalists. These early revivals remained 

local affairs due to the lack of coverage in print media. The 

first revival to receive widespread publicity was that 

precipitated by an earthquake in 1727. As they began to be 

publicized more widely, revivals transformed from merely local 

to regional and transatlantic events.  

In the 1720s and 1730s, an evangelical party took shape in the 

Presbyterian churches of the Middle Colonies led by William 

Tennent, Sr. He established a seminary called the Log College 

where he trained nearly 20 Presbyterian revivalists for the 

ministry, including his three sons and Samuel Blair. While 

pastoring a church in New Jersey, Gilbert Tennent became 

acquainted with Dutch Reformed minister Theodorus Jacobus 

Frelinghuysen. Historian Sydney Ahlstrom described 

Frelinghuysen as "an important herald, if not the father of the 

Great Awakening". A pietist, Frelinghuysen believed in the 

necessity of personal conversion and living a holy life. The 

revivals he led in the Raritan Valley were "forerunners" of the 

Great Awakening in the Middle Colonies. Under 

Frelinghuysen's influence, Tennent came to believe that a 

definite conversion experience followed by assurance of 

salvation was the key mark of a Christian. By 1729, Tennent 

was seeing signs of revival in the Presbyterian churches of New 

Brunswick and Staten Island. At the same time, Gilbert's 

brothers, William and John, oversaw a revival at Freehold, New 

Jersey.  
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Northampton revival 

The most influential evangelical revival was the Northampton 

revival of 1734–1735 under the leadership of Congregational 

minister Jonathan Edwards. In the fall of 1734, Edwards 

preached a sermon series on justification by faith alone, and 

the community's response was extraordinary. Signs of religious 

commitment among the laity increased, especially among the 

town's young people. Edwards wrote to Boston minister 

Benjamin Colman that the town "never was so full of Love, nor 

so full of Joy, nor so full of distress as it has lately been. ... I 

never saw the Christian spirit in Love to Enemies so 

exemplified, in all my Life as I have seen it within this half-

year." The revival ultimately spread to 25 communities in 

western Massachusetts and central Connecticut until it began 

to wane in 1737.  

At a time when Enlightenment rationalism and Arminian 

theology was popular among some Congregational clergy, 

Edwards held to traditional Calvinist doctrine. He understood 

conversion to be the experience of moving from spiritual 

deadness to joy in the knowledge of one's election (that one 

had been chosen by God for salvation). While a Christian might 

have several conversion moments as part of this process, 

Edwards believed there was a single point in time when God 

regenerated an individual, even if the exact moment could not 

be pinpointed.  

The Northampton revival featured instances of what critics 

called enthusiasm but what supporters believed were signs of 

the Holy Spirit. Services became more emotional and some 

people had visions and mystical experiences. Edwards 
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cautiously defended these experiences as long as they led 

individuals to a greater belief in God's glory rather than in 

self-glorification. Similar experiences would appear in most of 

the major revivals of the 18th century.  

Edwards wrote an account of the Northampton revival, A 

Faithful Narrative, which was published in England through 

the efforts of prominent evangelicals John Guyse and Isaac 

Watts. The publication of his account made Edwards a 

celebrity in Britain and influenced the growing revival 

movement in that nation. A Faithful Narrative would become a 

model on which other revivals would be conducted.  

Whitefield, Tennent and Davenport 

George Whitefield first came to America in 1738 to preach in 

Georgia and found Bethesda Orphanage. Whitefield returned to 

the Colonies in November 1739. His first stop was in 

Philadelphia where he initially preached at Christ Church, 

Philadelphia's Anglican church, and then preached to a large 

outdoor crowd from the courthouse steps. He then preached in 

many Presbyterian churches. From Philadelphia, Whitefield 

traveled to New York and then to the South. In the Middle 

Colonies, he was popular in the Dutch and German 

communities as well as among the British. Lutheran pastor 

Henry Muhlenberg told of a German woman who heard 

Whitefield preach and, though she spoke no English, later said 

she had never before been so edified.  

In 1740, Whitefield began touring New England. He landed in 

Newport, Rhode Island, on September 14, 1740, and preached 

several times in the Anglican church. He then moved on to 
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Boston, Massachusetts, where he spent a week. There were 

prayers at King's Chapel (at the time an Anglican church) and 

preaching at Brattle Street Church and South Church. On 

September 20, Whitefield preached in First Church and then 

outside of it to about 8,000 people who could not gain 

entrance. The next day, he preached outdoors again to about 

15,000 people. On Tuesday, he preached at Second Church and 

on Wednesday at Harvard University. After traveling as far as 

Portsmouth, New Hampshire, he returned to Boston on October 

12 to preach to 30,000 people before continuing his tour.  

Whitefield then traveled to Northampton at the invitation of 

Jonathan Edwards. He preached twice in the parish church 

while Edwards was so moved that he wept. He then spent time 

in New Haven, Connecticut, where he preached at Yale 

University. From there he traveled down the coast, reaching 

New York on October 29. Whitefield's assessment of New 

England's churches and clergy prior to his intervention was 

negative. "I am verily persuaded," he wrote, "the Generality of 

Preachers talk of an unknown, unfelt Christ. And the Reason 

why Congregations have been so dead, is because dead Men 

preach to them."  

Whitefield met Gilbert Tennent on Staten Island and asked him 

to preach in Boston to continue the revival there. Tennent 

accepted and in December began a three-month long preaching 

tour throughout New England. Besides Boston, Tennent 

preached in towns throughout Massachusetts, Rhode Island 

and Connecticut. Like Whitefield's, Tennent's preaching 

produced large crowds, many conversions and much 

controversy. While antirevivalists such as Timothy Cutler 
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heavily criticized Tennent's preaching, most of Boston's 

ministers were supportive.  

Tennent was followed in the summer of 1741 by itinerant 

minister James Davenport, who proved to be more 

controversial than either Tennent or Whitefield. His rants and 

attacks against "unconverted" ministers inspired much 

opposition, and he was arrested in Connecticut for violating a 

law against itinerant preaching. At his trial, he was found 

mentally ill and deported to Long Island. Soon after, he arrived 

in Boston and resumed his fanatical preaching only to once 

again be declared insane and expelled. The last of Davenport's 

radical episodes took place in March 1743 in New London when 

he ordered his followers to burn wigs, cloaks, rings and other 

vanities. He also ordered the burning of books by religious 

authors such as John Flavel and Increase Mather. Following 

the intervention of two pro-revival "New Light" ministers, 

Davenport's mental state apparently improved, and he 

published a retraction of his earlier excesses.  

Whitefield, Tennent and Davenport would be followed by a 

number of both clerical and lay itinerants. However, the 

Awakening in New England was primarily sustained by the 

efforts of parish ministers. Sometimes revival would be 

initiated by regular preaching or the customary pulpit 

exchanges between two ministers. Through their efforts, New 

England experienced a "great and general Awakening" between 

1740 and 1743 characterized by a greater interest in religious 

experience, widespread emotional preaching, and intense 

emotional reactions accompanying conversion, including 

fainting and weeping. There was a greater emphasis on prayer 

and devotional reading, and the Puritan ideal of a converted 
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church membership was revived. It is estimated that between 

20,000 and 50,000 new members were admitted to New 

England's Congregational churches even as expectations for 

members increased.  

By 1745, the Awakening had begun to wane. Revivals would 

continue to spread to the southern backcountry and slave 

communities in the 1750s and 1760s.  

Conflict 

The Great Awakening aggravated existing conflicts within the 

Protestant churches, often leading to schisms between 

supporters of revival, known as "New Lights", and opponents of 

revival, known as "Old Lights". Old Lights saw the religious 

enthusiasm and itinerant preaching unleashed by the 

Awakening as disruptive to church order, preferring formal 

worship and a settled, university-educated ministry. They 

mocked revivalists as being ignorant, heterodox or con artists. 

New Lights accused Old Lights of being more concerned with 

social status than with saving souls and even questioned 

whether some Old Light ministers were even converted. They 

also supported itinerant ministers who disregarded parish 

boundaries.  

Congregationalists in New England experienced 98 schisms, 

which in Connecticut also affected which group would be 

considered "official" for tax purposes. It is estimated in New 

England that in the churches there were about one-third each 

of New Lights, Old Lights, and those who saw both sides as 

valid. The Awakening aroused a wave of separatist feeling 

within the Congregational churches of New England. Around 
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100 Separatist congregations were organized throughout the 

region by Strict Congregationalists. Objecting to the Halfway 

Covenant, Strict Congregationalists required evidence of 

conversion for church membership and also objected to the 

semi–presbyterian Saybrook Platform, which they felt infringed 

on congregational autonomy. Because they threatened 

Congregationalist uniformity, the Separatists were persecuted 

and in Connecticut they were denied the same legal toleration 

enjoyed by Baptists, Quakers and Anglicans.  

The Baptists benefited the most from the Great Awakening. 

Numerically small before the outbreak of revival, Baptist 

churches experienced growth during the last half of the 18th 

century. By 1804, there were over 300 Baptist churches in New 

England. This growth was primarily due to an influx of former 

New Light Congregationalists who became convinced of Baptist 

doctrines, such as believer's baptism. In some cases, entire 

Separatist congregations accepted Baptist beliefs.  

As revivalism spread through the Presbyterian churches, the 

Old Side–New Side Controversy broke out between the anti-

revival "Old Side" and pro-revival "New Side". At issue was the 

place of revivalism in American Presbyterianism, specifically 

the "relation between doctrinal orthodoxy and experimental 

knowledge of Christ." The New Side, led by Gilbert Tennent and 

Jonathan Dickinson, believed that strict adherence to 

orthodoxy was meaningless if one lacked a personal religious 

experience, a sentiment expressed in Tennent's 1739 sermon 

"The Danger of an Unconverted Ministry". Whitefield's tour had 

helped the revival party grow and only worsened the 

controversy. When the Presbyterian Synod of Philadelphia met 
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in May 1741, the Old Side expelled the New Side, which then 

reorganized itself into the Synod of New York.  

Aftermath 

Historian John Howard Smith noted that the Great Awakening 

made sectarianism an essential characteristic of American 

Christianity. While the Awakening divided many Protestant 

churches between Old and New Lights, it also unleashed a 

strong impulse towards interdenominational unity among the 

various Protestant denominations. Evangelicals considered the 

new birth to be "a bond of fellowship that transcended 

disagreements on fine points of doctrine and polity", allowing 

Anglicans, Presbyterians, Congregationalists and others to 

cooperate across denominational lines.  

While divisions between Old and New Lights remained, New 

Lights became less radical over time and evangelicalism 

became more mainstream. By 1758, the Old Side–New Side 

split in the Presbyterian Church had been healed and the two 

factions reunited. In part, this was due to the growth of the 

New Side and the numerical decline of the Old Side. In 1741, 

the pro-revival party had around 22 ministers, but this number 

had increased to 73 by 1758. While the fervor of the Awakening 

would fade, the acceptance of revivalism and insistence on 

personal conversion would remain recurring features in 18th 

and 19th-century Presbyterianism.  

The Great Awakening inspired the creation of evangelical 

educational institutions. In 1746, New Side Presbyterians 

founded what would become Princeton University. In 1754, the 

efforts of Eleazar Wheelock led to what would become 
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Dartmouth College, originally established to train Native 

American boys for missionary work among their own people. 

While initially resistant, well-established Yale University came 

to embrace revivalism and played a leading role in American 

evangelicalism for the next century.  

Revival theology 

The Great Awakening was not the first time that Protestant 

churches had experienced revival; however, it was the first 

time a common evangelical identity had emerged based on a 

fairly uniform understanding of salvation, preaching the gospel 

and conversion. Revival theology focused on the way of 

salvation, the stages by which a person receives Christian faith 

and then expresses that faith in the way they live.  

The major figures of the Great Awakening, such as George 

Whitefield, Jonathan Edwards, Gilbert Tennent, Jonathan 

Dickinson and Samuel Davies, were moderate evangelicals who 

preached a pietistic form of Calvinism heavily influenced by 

the Puritan tradition, which held that religion was not only an 

intellectual exercise but also had to be felt and experienced in 

the heart. This moderate revival theology consisted of a three-

stage process. The first stage was conviction of sin, which was 

spiritual preparation for faith by God's law and the means of 

grace. The second stage was conversion, in which a person 

experienced spiritual illumination, repentance and faith. The 

third stage was consolation, which was searching and receiving 

assurance of salvation. This process generally took place over 

an extended time.  
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Conviction of sin 

Conviction of sin was the stage that prepared someone to 

receive salvation, and this stage often lasted weeks or months. 

When under conviction, nonbelievers realized they were guilty 

of sin and under divine condemnation and subsequently faced 

feelings of sorrow and anguish. When revivalists preached, 

they emphasized God's moral law to highlight the holiness of 

God and to spark conviction in the unconverted. Jonathan 

Edwards' sermon "Sinners in the Hands of an Angry God" is an 

example of such preaching.  

As Calvinists, revivalists also preached the doctrines of 

original sin and unconditional election. Due to the fall of man, 

humans are naturally inclined to rebel against God and unable 

to initiate or merit salvation, according to the doctrine of 

original sin. Unconditional election relates to the doctrine of 

predestination—that before the creation of the world God 

determined who would be saved (the elect) on the basis of his 

own choosing. The preaching of these doctrines resulted in the 

convicted feeling both guilty and totally helpless, since God 

was in complete control over whether they would be saved or 

not.  

Revivalists counseled those under conviction to apply the 

means of grace to their lives. These were spiritual disciplines 

such as prayer, Bible study, church attendance and personal 

moral improvement. While no human action could produce 

saving faith, revivalists taught that the means of grace might 

make conversion more likely.  
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Revival preaching was controversial among Calvinists. Because 

Calvinists believed in election and predestination, some 

thought it inappropriate to preach to strangers that they could 

repent and receive salvation. For some, such preaching was 

only acceptable within their own churches and communities. 

The revivalists use of "indiscriminate" evangelism—the 

"practice of extending the gospel promises to everyone in their 

audiences, without stressing that God redeems only those 

elected for salvation"—was contrary to these notions. While 

they preached indiscriminately, however, revivalists continued 

to affirm Calvinist doctrines of election and predestination.  

Another issue that had to be addressed were the intense 

physical and emotional reactions to conviction experienced 

during the Awakening. Samuel Blair described such responses 

to his preaching in 1740, "Several would be overcome and 

fainting; others deeply sobbing, hardly able to contain, others 

crying in a most dolorous manner, many others more silently 

weeping. ... And sometimes the soul exercises of some, thought 

comparatively but very few, would so far affect their bodies, as 

to occasion some strange, unusual bodily motions." Moderate 

evangelicals took a cautious approach to this issue, neither 

encouraging or discouraging these responses, but they 

recognized that people might express their conviction in 

different ways.  

Conversion 

The conviction stage lasted so long because potential converts 

were waiting to find evidence of regeneration within their lives. 

The revivalists believed regeneration or the new birth was not 

simply an outward profession of faith or conformity to 
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Christianity. They believed it was an instantaneous, 

supernatural work of the Holy Spirit providing someone with "a 

new awareness of the beauty of Christ, new desires to love 

God, and a firm commitment to follow God's holy law." The 

reality of regeneration was discerned through self-examination, 

and while it occurred instantaneously, a convert might only 

gradually realize it had occurred.  

Regeneration was always accompanied by saving faith, 

repentance and love for God—all aspects of the conversion 

experience, which typically lasted several days or weeks under 

the guidance of a trained pastor. True conversion began when 

the mind opened to a new awareness and love of the gospel 

message. Following this illumination, converts placed their 

faith in Christ, depending on him alone for salvation. At the 

same time, a hatred of sin and a commitment to eliminate it 

from the heart would take hold, setting the foundation for a 

life of repentance or turning away from sin. Revivalists 

distinguished true conversion (which was motivated by love of 

God and hatred of sin) from false conversion (which was 

motivated by fear of hell).  

Consolation 

True conversion meant that a person was among the elect, but 

even a person with saving faith might doubt his election and 

salvation. Revivalists taught that assurance of salvation was 

the product of Christian maturity and sanctification. Converts 

were encouraged to seek assurance through self-examination of 

their own spiritual progress. The treatise Religious Affections 

by Jonathan Edwards was written to help converts examine 

themselves for the presence of genuine "religious affections" or 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 4 

665 

spiritual desires, such as selfless love of God, certitude in the 

divine inspiration of the gospel, and other Christian virtues.  

It was not enough, however, to simply reflect on past 

experiences. Revivalists taught that assurance could only be 

gained through actively seeking to grow in grace and holiness 

through mortification of sin and utilizing the means of grace. 

In Religious Affections, the last sign addressed by Edwards was 

"Christian practice", and it was this sign to which he gave the 

most space in his treatise. The search for assurance required 

conscious effort on the part of a convert and took months or 

even years to achieve.  

Social effects 

Women 

The Awakening played a major role in the lives of women, 

though they were rarely allowed to preach or take leadership 

roles. A deep sense of religious enthusiasm encouraged women, 

especially to analyze their feelings, share them with other 

women, and write about them. They became more independent 

in their decisions, as in the choice of a husband. This 

introspection led many women to keep diaries or write 

memoirs. The autobiography of Hannah Heaton (1721–94), a 

farm wife of North Haven, Connecticut, tells of her experiences 

in the Great Awakening, her encounters with Satan, her 

intellectual and spiritual development, and daily life on the 

farm.  

Phillis Wheatley was the first published black female poet, and 

she was converted to Christianity as a child after she was 
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brought to America. Her beliefs were overt in her works; she 

describes the journey of being taken from a Pagan land to be 

exposed to Christianity in the colonies in a poem entitled "On 

Being Brought from Africa to America." Wheatley became so 

influenced by the revivals and especially George Whitefield that 

she dedicated a poem to him after his death in which she 

referred to him as an "Impartial Saviour". Sarah Osborn adds 

another layer to the role of women during the Awakening. She 

was a Rhode Island schoolteacher, and her writings offer a 

fascinating glimpse into the spiritual and cultural upheaval of 

the time period, including a 1743 memoir, various diaries and 

letters, and her anonymously published The Nature, Certainty 

and Evidence of True Christianity (1753).  

African Americans 

The First Great Awakening led to changes in Americans' 

understanding of God, themselves, the world around them, and 

religion. In the southern Tidewater and Low Country, northern 

Baptist and Methodist preachers converted both white and 

black people. Some were enslaved at their time of conversion 

while others were free. Caucasians began to welcome dark-

skinned individuals into their churches, taking their religious 

experiences seriously, while also admitting them into active 

roles in congregations as exhorters, deacons, and even 

preachers, although the last was a rarity.  

The message of spiritual equality appealed to many enslaved 

peoples, and, as African religious traditions continued to 

decline in North America, Black people accepted Christianity in 

large numbers for the first time.  
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Evangelical leaders in the southern colonies had to deal with 

the issue of slavery much more frequently than those in the 

North. Still, many leaders of the revivals proclaimed that 

slaveholders should educate enslaved peoples so that they 

could become literate and be able to read and study the Bible. 

Many Africans were finally provided with some sort of 

education.  

George Whitefield's sermons reiterated an egalitarian message, 

but only translated into a spiritual equality for Africans in the 

colonies who mostly remained enslaved. Whitefield was known 

to criticize slaveholders who treated enslaved peoples cruelly 

and those who did not educate them, but he had no intention 

to abolish slavery. He lobbied to have slavery reinstated in 

Georgia and proceeded to become a slave holder himself. 

Whitefield shared a common belief held among evangelicals 

that, after conversion, slaves would be granted true equality in 

Heaven. Despite his stance on slavery, Whitefield became 

influential to many Africans.  

Samuel Davies was a Presbyterian minister who later became 

the fourth president of Princeton University. He was noted for 

preaching to African enslaved peoples who converted to 

Christianity in unusually large numbers, and is credited with 

the first sustained proselytization of enslaved peoples in 

Virginia. Davies wrote a letter in 1757 in which he refers to the 

religious zeal of an enslaved man whom he had encountered 

during his journey. "I am a poor slave, brought into a strange 

country, where I never expect to enjoy my liberty. While I lived 

in my own country, I knew nothing of that Jesus I have heard 

you speak so much about. I lived quite careless what will 

become of me when I die; but I now see such a life will never 
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do, and I come to you, Sir, that you may tell me some good 

things, concerning Jesus Christ, and my Duty to GOD, for I am 

resolved not to live any more as I have done."  

Davies became accustomed to hearing such excitement from 

many Black people who were exposed to the revivals. He 

believed that Black people could attain knowledge equal to 

white people if given an adequate education, and he promoted 

the importance for slaveholders to permit enslaved peoples to 

become literate so that they could become more familiar with 

the instructions of the Bible. The emotional worship of the 

revivals appealed to many Africans, and African leaders started 

to emerge from the revivals soon after they converted in 

substantial numbers. These figures paved the way for the 

establishment of the first Black congregations and churches in 

the American colonies. Before the American Revolution, the 

first black Baptist churches were founded in the South in 

Virginia, South Carolina, and Georgia; two Black Baptist 

churches were founded in Petersburg, Virginia.  

Scholarly interpretation 

The idea of a "great awakening" has been contested by 

historian Jon Butler as vague and exaggerated. He suggested 

that historians abandon the term Great Awakening because the 

18th-century revivals were only regional events that occurred 

in only half of the American colonies and their effects on 

American religion and society were minimal. Historians have 

debated whether the Awakening had a political impact on the 

American Revolution which took place soon after. Professor 

Alan Heimert sees a major impact, but most historians think it 

had only a minor impact.  



Chapter 25 

The Plantation Act is Passed to 

Encourage Immigration to the 

Colonies and Regularize Colonial 

Naturalization Procedures 

Plantation Act 1740 

The Plantation Act 1740 (referring to colonies) or the 

Naturalization Act 1740 are common names used for an act of 

the British Parliament (13 Geo. 2 c.7) that was officially titled 

An Act for Naturalizing such foreign Protestants and others 

therein mentioned, as are settled or shall settle in any of His 

Majesty's Colonies in America.  

The Act became effective on 1 June 1740 and allowed any 

Protestant alien residing in any of their American colonies for 

seven years, without being absent from that colony for more 

than two months, to be deemed "his Majesty’s natural-born 

subjects of this Kingdom."  

The Act also required making specific declarations concerning 

royal allegiance and succession, profession of the Christian 

faith, and the payment of two shillings. Compared to other 

alternatives available at the time, the Act provided a cheap and 

easy method of imperial naturalization, and the length of 

residency was not unreasonable.  
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Background 

Reflecting the situation in Britain, the necessary profession of 

Christian faith was distinctly Protestant and specifically 

Anglican. The act was not intended for conscientious Roman 

Catholics, and they were referred to in the law as Papists. 

Exceptions however for non-conforming religious scruples and 

conscience were made, in the case of Quakers and Jews. 

Adherents of both faiths were allowed to dispense with the 

Sacramental test, with the former being allowed to affirm the 

oaths, and the latter being relieved of the obligation to repeat 

the words 'Upon the true faith of a Christian', at the end of the 

Oath of Abjuration required by the Act of Settlement since 

1701.  

Contents 

The Plantation Act was enacted to systematize naturalization 

procedures in all localities as well as to encourage immigration 

to the American colonies. It provided a workable naturalization 

procedure by empowering colonial courts to administer the 

oath of allegiance to aliens. The act endowed colonial courts 

with the responsibility of deciding when alien petitioners had 

fulfilled the statutory requirements for imperial citizenship.  

The Secretaries of Colonies were required, under penalty, to 

send annual lists of such persons to the Commissioners of 

Trade and Plantations. In proprietary colonies, the judges were 

appointed by colonial governors and thus represented the royal 

or proprietary interest. However, by delegating authority to 

colonial officials, naturalization became subject to the 
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pressure of the same local interest groups that increasingly 

defied the governor's efforts to implement royal and proprietary 

instructions on other issues. Despite the penalties imposed 

under the act, only six Secretaries of the thirteen American 

Colonies and one in the West Indies submitted the mandated 

lists.  

Development 

In England during the 17th and 18th centuries, several basic 

statutes applied to naturalization, but these statutes would 

not include many aliens in the colonies who were considered 

an integral part of the colonial communities. Over the same 

time period, the American provinces (except New Hampshire) 

passed their own naturalization laws, which granted 

citizenship to people living within their province. These laws 

were based more on local colonial interpretations of community 

citizenship than on stricter considerations in the mother-

country. but they gave no rights beyond their borders. This 

situation was initially accepted as positive and workable in 

England, but proved to be too inconsistent with and broader 

imperial intentions as time passed.  

Britain began withdrawing support to promote immigration to 

the colonies at the end of the Seven Years' War. Colonial 

implementation both before and after the Plantation Act tended 

to ignore, evade, and reshape English regulations, thus 

vitiating many policy decisions and generating a chaotic array 

of citizenship procedures. The Navigation Acts were a 

particular target for evasion, since they were seen as acting 

more as restraint on both colonial naturalization and its 

peoples' ability to take part fully in the economy. Colonial 
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naturalization of aliens was outright forbidden in December 

1773, under any conditions. A ban on royal land grants, 

initiated earlier in 1773, was made final in February 1774.  

The colonial naturalization laws and the Plantation Act, during 

its nearly 30-year utilization would define British North 

America as a refuge and land of opportunity, The prohibition 

on naturalizing foreigners under the act was considered 

intolerable, and would be included, inter alia, in the grievances 

listed in the Declaration of Independence, though some 

consider that surprising. Despite being a British law, the 

Plantation Act "was the model upon which the Naturalization 

Act of 1790, the first U.S. naturalization act, with respect to 

time, oath of allegiance, process of swearing before a judge, 

and the like, was clearly based."  

Battle of Cartagena de Indias 

The Battle of Cartagena de Indias took place during the 1739 

to 1748 War of Jenkins' Ear between Spain and Britain. The 

result of long-standing commercial tensions, the war was 

primarily fought in the Caribbean; the British tried to capture 

key Spanish ports in the region, including Porto Bello and 

Chagres in Panama, Havana, and Cartagena de Indias in 

present-day Colombia.  

Two previous naval attacks failed in 1740, while the third 

attempt in March 1741 was a combined naval and ground 

assault. The British were forced to retreat, having lost over 

9,500–11,500 men, the majority from yellow fever; some units 

suffered death rates of 80 to 90 percent. Victory demonstrated 

Spain's ability to defend its position and largely ended active 
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operations in this area. Both countries switched focus to the 

wider European War of the Austrian Succession and hostilities 

ended with the 1748 Treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle.  

Background 

The 1713 Treaty of Utrecht, which ended the War of the 

Spanish Succession, gave British merchants access to Spanish 

colonies in the Americas, which had hitherto been closed off 

via mercantilist policies by Spain. This included the Asiento de 

Negros, a monopoly to supply 5,000 slaves a year to Spanish 

America, and the Navio de Permiso, permitting two ships a year 

to transport 500 tons of goods each for sale in Porto Bello or 

Veracruz. These concessions were assigned to the South Sea 

Company, which was taken over by the British government 

after becoming bankrupt in 1720. In the 18th century, 

European wars were often fought over trade privileges 

overseas, which the then dominant theory of mercantilism 

viewed as a finite resource. This meant if British trade 

increased, Spanish trade had to therefore diminish and so the 

role of a government was to restrict foreign competition.  

As the French previously discovered, high costs meant the 

majority of the profits which could be gained from the 

concessions were in smuggling contraband goods, which 

evaded import duties and deprived the Spanish colonial 

authorities of much needed revenue. The Spanish Crown was 

also entitled to 25% of the profits made by the South Sea 

Company, which were rarely paid, despite their conviction it 

was immensely profitable. Between 1717 to 1733, only eight 

merchant ships were sent from Britain to the Americas and the 

asiento has been described as a 'commercial illusion.'  
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These tensions were increased by Spanish resentment at 

British control of Gibraltar and Menorca, which were confirmed 

by the Treaty of Utrecht. In the Anglo-Spanish War of 1727 to 

1729, Spain laid siege to Gibraltar, while Britain blockaded 

Portobello; both attempts failed and the two countries made 

peace in the Treaty of Seville but the underlying issues for the 

conflict remained unresolved. British merchants wanted easier 

access to lucrative Spanish markets in the Caribbean Basin, 

where demand from colonists had created a large black market.  

The Spanish were permitted to board British vessels trading 

with their colonies in the Americas; during a search for illegal 

goods in 1731, Welshman Robert Jenkins, captain of the 

Rebecca, claimed a Spanish coast guard officer had severed his 

ear. The legend this was later exhibited to the House of 

Commons has no basis in fact but proved useful in persuading 

the British public to support a war with Spain. Pressure for 

the British public for a declaration of war arose out of a 

combination of a political campaign to remove Robert Walpole, 

the long-serving Prime Minister, and a desire for greater 

commercial access in Spanish America. On 23 October 1739, 

Britain declared war on Spain.  

Spanish Caribbean 

The Spanish Caribbean trade had a network of four main ports: 

Vera Cruz; Cartagena; Porto Bello; and the main port through 

which all the trade of those three ports came, Havana. On 22 

November 1739 the British captured Porto Bello in the 

Viceroyalty of New Granada. The British attack was part of an 

attempt to damage the Spanish economy. The poorly defended 

port was attacked by six British ships of the line under the 
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command of Vice-Admiral Edward Vernon. The relative ease of 

this capture, although the city was abandoned immediately 

after the battle, caused jubilation in Britain.  

Vernon was given command over one quarter of the Royal Navy, 

which formed part of a major combined arms amphibious 

expedition under the overall command of Lord Cathcart. The 

first goal of the expedition was to capture Havana, the most 

important of the Spanish ports because it had facilities where 

ships could be refitted and, by 1740, it had become Spain's 

largest and most active shipyard. Lord Cathcart died en route 

and it remained unclear who was in command overall. 

Cathcart's untimely demise resulted in dissension in the 

British command, preventing the coordination needed for this 

complex operation.  The despatch of the large fleet and troop 

contingent had been demanded by the British public led by 

merchant lobbyists, and the South Sea Company in particular, 

which refused to accept the compromise agreements made by 

the Spanish and British governments. The Duke of Newcastle 

advocated the public's demands before Parliament. Vice-

Admiral Vernon was an active and ardent supporter of war 

against Spain and advocated offensive actions both in 

Parliament and before the British Admiralty. The decision to 

mount a large expedition to the West Indies was reached in 

December 1739. Walpole, who opposed the war categorically, 

and Vernon, who favored small squadron actions, were both 

dissatisfied with the situation. Vernon, despite his earlier 

failed raid on Cartagena, was not convinced that a large-scale 

attack on a heavily fortified city would prove to be as 

successful as his smaller Portobello assault had been. He 

feared in particularly that a prolonged siege would lead to 
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heavy attrition from disease, a typical situation given the 

limited medical knowledge of the time.  

Objectives 

Britain's objective was to capture and retain Spain's four ports 

in the Caribbean basin. By taking control of these ports, the 

British would effectively control the entry and exit routes to 

South America. The British would have bases from which to 

launch attacks into the interior, and Spain would have limited 

access to deep water ports on the eastern coast of their 

American colonies and therefore be unable to resupply their 

inland forces. Control of these ports would also provide the 

British a foothold to later attack the rest of Spanish Empire in 

the Americas. However, Britain had no place to build and refit 

ships in the Caribbean, as Spain did with the dockyards at 

Havana, and without a dockyard no fleet could remain in the 

area for any length of time without breaking down. A quick 

capture of Havana and its dry dock was imperative and it was 

the favored objective of Newcastle and Sir Charles Wager, First 

Lord of the Admiralty, but Britain's divided ministry left the 

course of the campaign up to Vernon and others at a Council 

of War held in Jamaica. They followed Vernon, who preferred 

Cartagena as their initial objective as it was a good port and to 

windward of Britain's existing Caribbean bases and Vernon 

thought Havana was too well defended to be the initial target.  

City of Cartagena de Indias 

Founded by Pedro de Heredia in 1533, Cartagena of the Indies 

in the 18th century was a large and rich city of over 10,000 

people. It was the capital of the province of Cartagena and had 
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significant fortifications that had been recently repaired, 

enlarged and improved with outlying forts, batteries and 

works. Its harbor, considered by some observers to be one of 

the finest in the world, served the galleons of the commercial 

fleet (Galeones a Tierra Firme y Perú) that annually assembled 

at Havana to convoy the immense revenues of gold and silver 

from New Granada and Peru to Spain.  

The shallow coastal shelf extending out from the city walls 

prevented a direct attack from the sea, while a high water table 

hindered sapping and exposed unacclimatised troops to 

disease. After Cartagena's capture in 1585 by an English force 

under Sir Francis Drake, its fortifications were rebuilt by the 

Italian engineer Battista Antonelli. Neglect allowed the French 

privateer Baron de Pointis to sack the town in 1697 but Juan 

de Herrera y Sotomayor largely rebuilt Cartagena's defences 

before his death in 1732.  

The city faces the Caribbean to the west; to the south its bay 

has two entrances: Boca Chica (Little Mouth) and Boca Grande 

(Big Mouth). Boca Chica historically was the deep water 

entrance and was so narrow it allowed the passage of only one 

ship at a time. This entrance was defended on one side by the 

Fort San Luis with a couple of small outworks on the peninsula 

of Tierra Bomba, and on the other side by the fascine battery 

Baradera. Beyond Boca Chica was the lagoon of the outer 

harbor with an entry channel into the inner harbor between 

two peninsulas, each defended by a fort. The walls of the city 

itself mounted some 160 cannon, while the suburbs had 140 

guns. The city was surrounded by a moat and its gates were 

guarded by recently built bastions. The suburbs were also 

surrounded by a moat. On a hill about a quarter mile south of 
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the city stood Fort San Lazaro, a square fifty feet on a side 

with three demi-bastions. The fort's position commanded the 

city itself and the plain around the hill. Another small hill 

nearby defended the fort, but there was no fresh water source 

available outside Cartagena and the fort. The road from the 

best landing point, the beach at Texar de Gracias, ran three 

miles to Fort Lazaro.  

Battle 

The battle pitted a British invasion force of 124 ships 

including: 29 ships of the line, 22 frigates, 2 hospital ships, 

various fire ships and bomb ships armed with a total of some 

2,000 cannon, 80 troop transports and 50 merchant ships. 

There were at least 27,400 military personnel, of which the 

land force totaled 12,000 including: two British regular 

infantry regiments, the 15th Foot and 24th Foot, 6,000 newly 

raised marines and some 3,600 American colonial troops, 

commanded by Colonel William Gooch (the Lieutenant 

Governor of Virginia), in four battalions designated as Gooch's 

American Regiment, arriving from the North American colonies 

on another 40 transports.  

The Spanish force defending Cartagena was composed of 2,700 

to 3,000 Spanish regulars from the regiments Aragon, España 

and that of Toledo, Lisboa and Navarra just arrived in October 

1740, brought by Vice-admiral Torres; a colonial regiment from 

Cartagena; an unspecified number of sailors; 5 companies of 

militia and 600 Indian archers, perhaps 4,000 to 6,000 

defenders, manning six ships of the line and strategic 

fortifications—under the command of the Governor General of 
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Cartagena, Don Blas de Lezo and the Viceroy of New Granada, 

Sebastián de Eslava.  

Preliminary maneuvers 

The expedition was very slow leaving Britain. Initially, contrary 

winds delayed the sailing until most of the shipboard 

provisions were consumed and a steep increase of sickness 

occurred among the ship crews. Then news of the sailing of the 

French squadrons and a Spanish squadron caused further 

delay while the British fleet was reinforced in response. The 

expedition suffered from manpower shortages in the navy, 

which required drafting two full infantry regiments, the 34th 

and 36th; to fill crew requirements Cathcart was ordered by 

the government to transfer 600 of his marines to provide 

marines for the men of war. These delays cost the British three 

months of valuable campaign time. The 3,600 Americans were 

transported to Jamaica from New York on 40 transports 

escorted by some British men of war and arrived much sooner 

on 3 December 1740. The Americans were originally under the 

command of General Spotswood, Governor of Virginia, who was 

to be second-in command under Cathcart, however Spotswood 

died and was replaced by Gooch as commander of the 

Americans. They found on their arrival that no arrangements 

had been made by the British government for their provisions. 

The lack of provision and climate immediately began to take a 

toll on the Americans, while the fleet from Britain was 

suffering from typhus, scurvy and dysentery; by January 1741 

the land forces had already suffered 500 dead, including Lord 

Cathcart the commander in chief, and 1,500 sick. With both 

Cathcart and Spotswood dead, command of the land forces 

went to Thomas Wentworth, who had no previous combat 
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command experience. In Jamaica, 300 enslaved Africans were 

added to the expedition as a work battalion. Additional delays 

before and after embarking from Jamaica cost more precious 

time, including a brief skirmish with a French squadron. Both 

the British and the Spanish were well aware that with onset of 

the two-month rainy season in May, the so-called 'sickly 

season', which would last from May to November, would also 

begin.  

The Spanish had received reinforcements but were already 

suffering severely from diseases as well. Similar to the British, 

but not as disruptive to operations, there was dissension 

between Lezo and Eslava. In particular, Lezo favored a very 

strong, all-out defense of Boca Chica channel; Eslava's 

opposition led to an under-manning of some of the forward 

defenses, allowing the British an easier initial landing.  

Attack on Fort San Luis at Boca Chica 

The British expedition arrived off Cartagena on 13 March with 

no overall commander but with decisions being made by 

councils of war, with General Wentworth commanding the land 

forces and Vernon the sea forces. The navy had lost so many 

sailors by this time as a result of the epidemics that one third 

of the land forces were needed to fill out the crews. Although 

the city of Cartagena was fronted on one side by the ocean, the 

shore and surf were so rough as to preclude any attempt to 

approach it from sea. The other access channel, Boca Grande, 

was too shallow to allow the passage of ocean-going ships. The 

channel of Boca Chica was the only deep-draft passage into the 

harbor of Cartagena. It ran between two narrow peninsulas and 

was defended on one side by the fort of San Luis, Boca Chica 
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Castle, with four bastions having some 49 cannons, 3 mortars 

and a garrison of 300 soldiers under the command of the chief 

engineer, Carlos Desnaux. A boom stretched from the island of 

La Bomba to the southern peninsula on which was Fort San 

Jose with 13 cannon and 150 soldiers. Also supporting the 

entrance were the 6 Spanish line ships.  

Before settling to disembark, Vernon silenced the batteries of 

the fortresses of Chamba, San Felipe and Santiago defended by 

Lorenzo Alderete from Malaga. After attacking the fort of Punta 

Abanicos in the Barú Peninsula, defended by Jose Polanco 

Campuzano from Santo Domingo and a week of bombardment, 

the British planned to land near the smaller access channel, 

Boca Chica, with 300 grenadiers. The Spanish defenders of two 

small, nearby forts, San Iago and San Philip, were driven off by 

a division of three ships of the fleet under Chaloner Ogle which 

suffered some 120 casualties with the Shrewsbury alone losing 

100 killed and wounded as well as taking serious damage from 

cannon fire from Fort San Luis. The grenadiers landed that 

evening and were followed on 22 March by the whole of the 

British land forces: the two regular regiments and the six 

regiments of marines. Of the American land forces only 300 

were allowed ashore as most of the American troops of the four 

battalions had been dispersed to serve aboard the Ships of the 

Line to replace Vernon's losses in sailors and were not 

available for amphibious operations. They were followed in a 

few days by the artillery. After the army made camp, the 

Americans and the Jamaicans constructed a battery in two 

weeks and its twenty 24 pounder guns began battering the fort. 

A squadron of five ships, consisting of the Boyne, Prince 

Frederick, Hampton Court, Tilbury, and Suffolk, led inshore by 

Commodore Lestock, also attempted to batter the fort into 
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submission for two days but had the worst of it, making no 

impression on the fort and having many men killed and three 

ships heavily damaged and disabled.  

The British artillery on land, after three days of firing night 

and day, made a breach in the main fort while part of the fleet 

assisted. Another part of the fleet engaged the Spanish ships, 

two of which Lezo scuttled and another, the Galicia, he set on 

fire. The two scuttled Spanish ships partially blocked the 

channel and the Galicia was captured by the British before it 

could sink. The British attacked Fort San Luis by land and sea 

on 5 April. The infantry advanced on the breach; however, the 

Spanish had already retreated to fortifications in the inner 

harbor. Over the following week, the landing force re-embarked 

and entered the harbor. The operation against Boca Chica cost 

the British army 120 killed and wounded, additionally 250 died 

from the diseases of yellow fever and malaria, and 600 sick 

were hospitalized.  

Attack on Fort San Lazaro 

The next council of war decided to attempt to isolate Cartagena 

from the land side by an assault of Fort San Lazaro, called in 

some accounts San Felipe de Barajas. With the capture of San 

Luis and other outlying defensive works, the fleet passed 

through the Boca Chica channel into the lagoon that made up 

the harbor of Cartagena. The Spanish withdrew to concentrate 

their forces at Fort San Lazaro and the city. Vernon goaded 

Wentworth into an ill-considered, badly planned assault on the 

fort, an outlying strong-point of Cartagena, which Vernon 

refused to support with the fleet making specious excuses 

about the depth of the harbor. The ships cleared the beach 
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with cannon fire and Wentworth landed on 16 April at Texar de 

Gracias. After the British gained the inner harbor and captured 

some outlying forts, de Lezo strengthened the last main 

bastion of Fort San Lazaro by digging a trench around it and 

clearing a field of fire on the approach. He had to hold the fort 

as it commanded the city and, in British hands, a 

bombardment would force Cartagena to surrender in a short 

time. Lezo defended the trench with some 650 soldiers and 

garrisoned the fort with another 300, while keeping in hand a 

reserve of 200 marines and sailors. The British advanced from 

the beach and had to pass a narrow defile. There they met a 

Spanish force that briefly contested that passage before giving 

way.  

The only British engineer with the expedition had been killed 

at fort San Luis; no one could construct a battery to breach 

the walls. The British decided to storm the fort outright in a 

coup de main, walls unbreached, during a night attack. The 

night attack would allow the assault of the northern side of the 

fort facing Cartagena because, in the dark, the guns of 

Cartagena would not be able to give supporting fire. The 

southern side had the lowest and most vulnerable walls and 

the grenadiers would attempt to quickly storm and carry the 

parapets. But the attack started late and the initial advance on 

Lazaro was made near dawn at 4 am 20 April by a forlorn hope 

of 50 picked men followed by 450 grenadiers commanded by 

Colonel Wynyard. The main body was 1,000 men of the 15th 

and 24th regiments commanded by Colonel Grant, then a 

mixed company from the 34th and 36th regiments and some 

unarmed Americans carrying scaling-ladders for the fort's high 

walls and wool packs to fill in the trench. Finally, there was a 

reserve of 500 marines under Colonel Wolfe.  
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The column was led by two Spanish deserters as guides who 

misled the British on the southern low walled side. Wynyard 

was led to a steep approach and, as the grenadiers scrambled 

up the slope, they were received with a deadly volley of musket 

fire at thirty yards from the Spanish in the entrenchments. The 

grenadiers deployed into line and advanced, slowly trading fire. 

On the north face, Grant fell early and the leaderless troops 

traded fire with the Spanish. Most of the Americans dropped 

the ladders they carried and took cover. Those ladders brought 

forward were too short by ten feet. After an hour, the sun rose 

and as the guns of Cartagena opened fire on the British, 

casualties mounted. At eight o'clock, when a column of 

Spanish infantry coming from the gates of Cartagena 

threatened to cut the British off from their ships, Wentworth 

ordered a retreat. The assault failed, with a loss of 600 

casualties from a force of approximately 2,000. Sickness and 

disease increased the casualties of the expedition. During the 

period surrounding the attack on Fort San Lazaro, Wentworth's 

land forces were reduced from 6,500 effectives to 3,200.   

British withdrawal 

Don Blas de Lezo's plan had been that, given the overwhelming 

force against him, he would attempt to conduct a fighting 

withdrawal and delay the British long enough until the start of 

the rainy season at the end of April. The tropical downpours 

would delay campaigning for another 2 months. Further, the 

longer the enemy had to remain mostly crowded on ships at 

sea and in the open on land, the more likely that insufficient 

supply, discomfort and especially disease would become his 

allies and the deadly enemies of the British. De Lezo was aided 

by the contempt that Vernon and Wentworth had for each 
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other, which prevented their cooperation after the initial 

landing. Another important factor in the defeat of the British 

force was the fact that Cartagena's defensive fortifications had 

been repaired and improved over the past year. Although De 

Lezo was pressed to the limit, his plan worked and the Spanish 

prevailed. The rains came and the British had to board their 

ships, where close quarters made disease even more deadly. By 

25 April, Vernon and the council decided to retreat to Jamaica, 

and by mid-May they were gone. By 7 May, only 1,700 men of 

the land forces were fit for service and no more than 1,000 in 

condition to land against the enemy; within a month of leaving 

Cartagena, another 1,100 died. British strength was reduced to 

1,400 and American to 1,300.  

The expedition and battle lasted for 67 days and ended with 

the British fleet withdrawing in defeat, with 18,000 dead or 

incapacitated, mostly by disease. The Spanish also suffered 

severely from disease including Blas de Lezo himself, who died 

a few weeks after falling ill from the plague from unburied 

bodies. In addition a total of 50 British ships were lost, badly 

damaged, disabled or abandoned for lack of crews. There were 

nineteen ships of the line damaged, four frigates and twenty-

seven transports lost. Of the 3,600 American colonists, who 

had volunteered, lured by promises of land and mountains of 

gold, most died of yellow fever, dysentery, and outright 

starvation. Only 300 returned home, including Lawrence 

Washington, who renamed his Virginia plantation, Mount 

Vernon after Admiral Vernon.  

During the early stage of the battle, when the Spanish forces 

had retreated from different defense points to regroup in the 

larger fortress of San Lazaro, feeling victory in his hands 
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Vernon dispatched a messenger, Captain Laws, to Britain to 

inform King George of the British forces' entry to the inner bay 

on 17 May. The souvenir industry, in expectation of a triumph 

that never came, had been busily manufacturing 

commemorative medals for the occasion. They were mainly 

made by button-makers, who copied a few basic designs and 

are generally of very poor quality. The largest collections of 

these medals can be found in the United Kingdom and the 

United States. Commemorative china was also produced but its 

survival has been rarer. In one of the medals Admiral Vernon 

was shown looking down upon the "defeated" Spanish admiral 

Don Blas de Lezo who appeared kneeling down. A contemporary 

song was composed by a sailor from the Shrewsbury that 

prematurely celebrated the victory:  

VERNON'S GLORY; OR, THE SPANIARDS DEFEAT.  

Being an account of the taking of Carthagena by Vice-Admiral 

Vernon...  

"...and the town surrender[ed] 

To Admiral Vernon, the scourge of Spain". 

The main reasons for the British defeat were the failure of the 

British to find united leadership after the commander in chief, 

General Charles Cathcart, died of dysentery en route; the 

logistic inability to land siege artillery and ammunition near to 

Cartagena; the impediments made by Vernon that prevented 

involvement of his line ships to support the infantry forces; 

and the effective Spanish maneuvers carried out by the viceroy 

Sebastián de Eslava, Admiral Blas de Lezo and Colonel Carlos 

Suivillars.  
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There is no evidence for the claim made in recent years by 

works published in Spain that Admiral Vernon sent a letter to 

Blas de Lezo saying that "We have decided to retreat, but we 

will return to Cartagena after we take reinforcements in 

Jamaica", to which Blas de Lezo supposedly responded: "In 

order to come to Cartagena, the English King must build a 

better and larger fleet, because yours now is only suitable to 

transport coal from Ireland to London". Note that coal was not 

transported from Ireland to England, the reverse being the 

case.  

Aftermath 

Following the news of the disaster Robert Walpole's government 

soon collapsed. Spain retained control over its most 

strategically important colonies, including the vitally crucial 

port in the Caribbean that helped secure the defense of the 

Spanish Main and its trans-Atlantic trade with Spain.  

News of Britain's defeat reached Europe at the end of June, 

1741 and had immense repercussions. It caused George II of 

Great Britain, who had been acting as mediator between 

Frederick the Great of Prussia and Maria Theresa supporting 

Austria over Prussian seizure of Silesia in December 1740, to 

withdraw Britain's guarantees of armed support for the 

Pragmatic Sanction. That encouraged France and Spain, the 

Bourbon allies, revealed to also be allied with Prussia, to move 

militarily against a now isolated Austria. A greater and wider 

war, the War of the Austrian Succession, now began.  

The staggering losses suffered by the British compromised all 

the subsequent actions by Vernon and Wentworth in the 
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Caribbean and most ended in acrimonious failure despite 

reinforcements of 1,000 troops from Jamaica and 3,000 regular 

infantry from Britain. Vernon and Wentworth were both 

recalled to Britain in September 1742, with Chaloner Ogle 

taking command of a very sickly fleet that had less than half 

its sailors fit for duty. By the time the Caribbean campaign 

ended in May 1742 ninety percent of the army had died from 

combat and sickness. Several other British attacks took place 

in the Caribbean with little consequence on the geopolitical 

situation in the Atlantic. The weakened British forces led by 

Charles Knowles made raids upon the Venezuelan coast, 

attacking La Guaira in February 1743 and Puerto Cabello in 

April, though neither operation was particularly successful.  

The failure to take Cartagena caused what was left of the naval 

forces assigned to Vernon to remain in the Caribbean longer. 

This resulted in the weakened Mediterranean squadron being 

unable to prevent the Spanish from twice convoying troops 

totalling 25,000 to Italy in November and December 1741. It 

was not until Commodore Richard Lestock, commander of one 

of Vernon's divisions at Cartagena, returned to Europe with 

ships from the Caribbean fleet, that Britain reinforced its 

presence in the Mediterranean.  

Historian Reed Browning describes the British Cartagena 

expedition as "stupidly disastrous" and quotes Horace Walpole, 

whose father was Vernon's bitter enemy, writing in 1744: "We 

have already lost seven millions of money and thirty thousand 

men in the Spanish war and all the fruit of all this blood and 

treasure is the glory of having Admiral Vernon's head on 

alehouse signs." The inscription on Vernon's marble memorial 

in Westminster Abbey reflects the bitter dispute between the 
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naval and land forces at the siege of Cartagena: "He subdued 

Chagre, and at Carthagena conquered as far as naval forces 

could carry victory". In 2014, whilst on his royal visit to 

Colombia, Prince Charles in cooperation with the city 

authorities unveiled a plaque which commemorated the 

casualties of the battle. After complaints from city residents 

that the Spanish defenders were not explicitly mentioned on 

the plaque and that it was placed near a statue of de Lezo, the 

city authorities decided to remove the plaque, with Mayor 

Dionisio Velez stating that it had not been his intention to "stir 

this controversy, or hurt the feelings of people".  

Popular culture 

Scottish folk/pirate metal band Alestorm, has a song entitled 

"1741 (The Battle of Cartagena)" on their 2014 album Sunset 

on the Golden Age, which chronicles the battle.  

Siege of St. Augustine (1740) 

The Siege of St. Augustine was a military engagement that took 

place during June–July 1740. It was a part of the much larger 

conflict known as the War of Jenkins' Ear, between Great 

Britain and Spain.  

Background 

After some mutual minor skirmishes, Governor James 

Oglethorpe of the colony of Georgia raised a mixed force of 

British regulars (the 42nd Regiment of Foot), colonial militia 
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from the Province of Georgia and the Carolinas, and Native 

American Creek and Chickasaw, or Uchees. The campaign 

began in December 1739, and by January Oglethorpe was 

raiding Spanish forts west of St. Augustine. In May 1740, 

Oglethorpe undertook an expedition to capture St. Augustine 

itself. In support of that objective, Oglethorpe first captured 

Fort San Diego, Fort Picolotta, Fort San Francisco de Pupo, 

and Fort Mose, the first free black settlement in America.  

Siege 

Oglethorpe deployed his batteries on the island of Santa 

Anastasia while a British naval squadron blockaded the port. 

On 24 June Oglethorpe began a 27-day bombardment. On 26 

June a sortie by 300 Spanish and free blacks attacked Fort 

Mose held by 120 Highlander Rangers and 30 Indians. In the 

Siege of Fort Mose, the garrison was taken by surprise with 68 

killed and 34 captured while the Spanish loss was 10 killed. 

The Spanish managed to send supply ships through the Royal 

Navy blockade and any hope of starving St. Augustine into 

capitulation was lost. Oglethorpe now planned to storm the 

fortress by land while the navy ships attacked the Spanish 

ships and half-galleys in the harbor. Commodore Pearce, 

however resolved to forgo the attack during hurricane season. 

Oglethorpe gave up the siege and returned to Georgia; 

abandoning his artillery during his withdrawal.  

Negro Act of 1740 

The comprehensive Negro Act of 1740 was passed in the 

Province of South Carolina, during colonial Governor William 
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Bull's time in office, in response to the Stono Rebellion in 

1739. The act made it illegal for enslaved Africans to move 

abroad, assemble in groups, raise food, earn money, and learn 

to write (though reading was not proscribed). Additionally, 

owners were permitted to kill rebellious slaves if necessary. 

The Act remained in effect until 1865.  

John Belton O'Neall summarized the 1740 South Carolina law, 

in his written work, The Negro Law of South Carolina, when he 

stated: "A slave may, by the consent of his master, acquire and 

hold personal property. All, thus required, is regarded in law 

as that of the master." Across the South, state supreme courts 

supported the position of this law. O'Neall was the only one to 

express protest against the Act, arguing for the propriety of 

receiving testimony from enslaved Africans (many of whom, by 

1848, were Christians) under oath: "Negroes (slave or free) will 

feel the sanctions of an oath, with as much force as any of the 

ignorant classes of white people, in a Christian country."  

  



Chapter 26 

New York Conspiracy of 1741 

The Conspiracy of 1741, also known as the Slave Insurrection 

of 1741, was a purported plot by slaves and poor whites in the 

British colony of New York in 1741 to revolt and level New York 

City with a series of fires. Historians disagree as to whether 

such a plot existed and, if there was one, its scale. During the 

court cases, the prosecution kept changing the grounds of 

accusation, ending with linking the insurrection to a "Popish" 

plot by Spaniards and other Catholics.  

In 1741, Manhattan had the second-largest slave population of 

any city in the Thirteen Colonies after Charleston, South 

Carolina. Rumors of a conspiracy arose against a background 

of economic competition between poor whites and slaves; a 

severe winter; war between Britain and Spain, with heightened 

anti-Catholic and anti-Spanish feelings; and recent slave 

revolts in South Carolina and Saint John in the Caribbean.  

In March and April 1741, a series of 13 fires erupted in Lower 

Manhattan, the most significant one within the walls of Fort 

George, then the home of the governor. After another fire at a 

warehouse, a slave was arrested after having been seen fleeing 

it. A 16-year-old Irish indentured servant,  

Mary Burton, arrested in a case of stolen goods, testified 

against the others as participants in a supposedly growing 

conspiracy of poor whites and blacks to burn the city, kill the 

white men, take the white women for themselves, and elect a 

new king and governor.  
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In the spring of 1741 fear gripped Manhattan as fires burned 

across all the inhabited areas of the island. The suspected 

culprits were New York's slaves, some 200 of whom were 

arrested and tried for conspiracy to burn the town and murder 

its white inhabitants. As in the Salem witch trials, a few 

witnesses implicated many other suspects. In the end, over 100 

people were hanged, exiled, or burned at the stake.  

Most of the convicted people were hanged or burnt – how many 

is uncertain. The bodies of two supposed ringleaders, Caesar, a 

slave, and John Hughson, a white cobbler and tavern keeper, 

were gibbeted. Their corpses were left to rot in public. Seventy-

two men were deported from New York, sent to Newfoundland, 

various islands in the West Indies, and the Madeiras.  

Background 

With the increase of enslaved Africans in New York during the 

early decades of the 18th century, there were both real revolts 

and periodic fears in the white community about revolts. Fears 

about slavery were used by different political factions to fan 

other tensions, as well. By 1741 slaves comprised one in five of 

New York's total population of 10,000; it was the second-

largest slave population of any city in British North America 

after that of Charleston, South Carolina. Between 1687 and 

1741, a slave plot was "discovered" on average every two and 

one half years.  

Some residents remembered the New York Slave Revolt of 1712, 

when more than 20 slaves met to destroy property and abusers 

in retaliation for the injustices they had suffered. One of the 

slaves, called "Kofi", set fire to his master's outhouse. When 
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townspeople gathered to put it out, the slaves attacked the 

crowd, killing nine whites and injuring six. The governor tried 

and executed 21 slaves.  

With the increase of slaves in New York, poor whites had to 

compete economically. Some slaveholders were artisans who 

taught their slaves their trade. They could subcontract their 

work and underbid other white artisans. This created racial 

and economic tension between the slaves and competing white 

craftsmen.  

The governor of New York in 1737 told the legislature, "the 

artificers complain and with too much reason of the pernicious 

custom of breeding slaves to trades whereby the honest 

industrious tradesmen are reduced to poverty for want of 

employ, and many of them forced to leave us to seek their 

living in other countries." Some whites went out of business 

because of this.  

The winter of 1740–1741 was a miserable period for the poor in 

the city. An economic depression contributed to declining food 

and fuel supply, aggravated by record low temperatures and 

snowfall. Many people were in danger of starving and freezing 

to death. These conditions caused many denizens, especially 

the poor whites and slaves, to grow resentful of the 

government. The tension between whites and blacks was great. 

"A mere hint of restiveness among black New Yorkers could 

throw whites into a near panic".  

In addition, Britain experienced increased hostilities with 

Spain, which added to the anti-Catholic and anti-Spanish 

feelings by the authorities. In 1691 the British Crown ordered 

all New York officials to swear oaths under the Test Act. These 
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oaths consisted of a series of declarations against the 

authority of the Catholic Church and its religious practices. All 

potential officeholders were obliged to swear that they had not 

received privilege from the Pope.  

As tensions between England and Spain escalated, the Test Act 

was determined to be too lenient for Catholics. By 1700 the 

New York anti-priest law utterly outlawed the presence of 

Catholic priests under penalty of life imprisonment.  

In 1739 war broke out between the English and Spanish. The 

War of Jenkins' Ear, which lasted from 1739 until 1748, was 

initiated after Spanish coast guards unlawfully boarded the 

ship of Robert Jenkins, a British merchant, and severed his 

ear.  

This incidence was particularly notable because the 1713 

Treaty of Utrecht gave British a thirty-year right to supply an 

unlimited number of slaves to Spanish colonies with an 

additional 500 tons of goods each year. At the time, Spain was 

frequently viewed by slaves in Anglophone colonies as a 

liberator due to the fact the Spanish had offered freedom to 

any slave who joined their cause.  

To attack Cuba, the British recruited soldiers from New York, 

and reduced the number of troops normally kept there. The 

upper classes were nervous and tensions during the winter 

reminded them of the times of the Slave Revolt of 1712. The 

government banned slave meetings on street corners. They 

limited slaves in groups to three, but allowed twelve at 

funerals. The government reduced other rights of assembly and 

movement.  
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Working-class conspiracy 

Initially tackling the problem of stolen goods and Hughson's 

tavern, the city council decided to launch an investigation. 

They turned it over to Daniel Horsmanden, the city recorder 

and one of three justices on the provincial supreme court. 

Horsmanden set up a grand jury that he "directed to 

investigate whites who sold liquor to blacks – men like John 

Hughson." Given legal practice then and his own inclinations, 

he exercised great influence in interrogations and directing the 

grand jury's investigations.  

John Hughson was a poor, illiterate cobbler who came to New 

York from Yonkers in the mid-1730s with his wife, daughter, 

and mother-in-law. Unable to find work, he opened a tavern. 

His neighbors were offended because he sold to clients they 

considered unsavory. In 1738, Hughson opened a new tavern 

when he moved to the Hudson River waterfront, near the 

Trinity Churchyard. It soon became a rendezvous point for 

slaves, poor whites, free blacks, and soldiers. The elite were 

nervous about such lower class-types socializing together. 

Hughson's place also was a center of trade in stolen property. 

"City slaves laughingly referred to his place as 'Oswego', after 

the Indian trading post on Lake Ontario." Although the 

constables watched his place constantly, they failed to catch 

Hughson for thievery. In February, two weeks before the first 

fire, Hughson was arrested for receiving stolen goods from 

slaves Caesar and Prince, who were also jailed. Caesar, Prince, 

and Cuffee were considered part of the "Geneva Club", named 

after an incident in which they stole some "Geneva", or Dutch 

gin. (The slaves were punished by whipping.)  
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Horsmanden, one of three justices on the court and leader of 

an investigation, pressured 16-year-old indentured servant, 

Mary Burton, to testify against her master Hughson on theft 

charges. While a grand jury heard that case, the first of 13 

suspicious fires broke out.  

Fires 

On March 18, 1741, Governor George Clarke's house in Fort 

George caught fire, and soon the church connected to his 

house was ablaze too. People tried to save it, but the fire soon 

grew beyond control. The fire threatened to spread to another 

building, where all the city documents were kept. The governor 

ordered the windows smashed and documents thrown out to 

save them.  

Later the practice was to keep them in the City Hall. A week 

later another fire broke out, but was put out quickly. The same 

thing happened the next week at a warehouse. Three days later 

a fire broke out in a cow stable. On the next day a person 

walking past a wealthy neighborhood saw coals by the hay in a 

stable and put them out, saving the neighborhood.  

As the number of fires increased, so did the suspicion that the 

fires were not accidents but planned arson. When on April 6, a 

round of four fires broke out, and a black man was spotted 

running away, a white man yelled out, "A negro, a negro." The 

man's cry was taken up quickly by a crowd and soon turned to, 

"The negroes are rising!" They captured the running slave, 

Cuffee. He was jailed. Within a few days, 100 slaves were 

jailed.  
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Horsmanden put a lot of pressure on Burton to talk about the 

fires. Finally, Burton said the fires were a conspiracy between 

blacks and poor whites to burn down the town.  

Horsmanden was pleased with her testimony but was 

convinced that Burton knew more about the conspiracy than 

she had told him. He threatened to throw her in jail if she did 

not tell him more, so she testified further. There was rising 

fear about slaves and poor whites' combining for insurrection. 

Burton swore the three members of the Geneva Club met 

frequently at Hughson's home, had talked about burning the 

fort and town, and the Hughsons had agreed to help them. 

Another person suspected in the fires was "Margaret Sorubiero, 

alias Salingburgh, alias Kerry, commonly called Peggy", or the 

"Newfoundland Irish" beauty. She was a prostitute who 

serviced blacks. The room she lived in was paid for by Caesar, 

with whom she had a child.  

Although Burton's testimony did not prove that any crime had 

been committed, the grand jury was so afraid that more fires 

would occur that they decided to believe her. The board of 

inquiry requested the lieutenant-governor to issue a 

proclamation offering a reward to anyone providing information 

leading to the conviction of anyone setting fire to any dwelling 

or storehouse in the city: £100 to a white person, £45 to a free 

black or Indian, and £20 and freedom to a slave. Such prices 

attracted more testimony.  

On May 2, the court found Caesar and Prince guilty of burglary 

and condemned them to death. The next day seven barns 

caught fire. Two blacks were caught and immediately burned at 

the stake. On May 6, the Hughsons and Peggy were found 
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guilty of burglary charges. Peggy, "in fear of her life, decided to 

talk." Some of the blacks who had been imprisoned in the 

dungeons also decided to talk. Two who did not talk were 

Caesar and Prince, who were hanged on May 11.  

Trials 

Having gathered witnesses, Horsmanden started the trials. Kofi 

(Cuffee) and another slave Quaco (Quack) were the first to be 

tried. They were convicted, although each of their masters 

defended them. Respectable white men whose testimony 

normally would have been given considerable weight, they 

stated that each of the slaves had been at home the evening in 

question. The slaves were convicted anyway.  

Immediately before being sentenced to being hanged on May 

30, they confessed and identified dozens of other so-called 

conspirators. Moore asked to save them as future witnesses, 

but the officers of the court decided against it because of the 

rage of the crowd. Each of the slaves was hanged. More trials 

followed quickly. The trials and testimony in courtrooms were 

filled with conflicting evidence. Both the Hughsons and Peggy 

Kerry were tried on June 4. They were sentenced to hang eight 

days later.  

At the height of the hysteria, half of the city's male slaves over 

the age of 16 were implicated in the plot and jailed. Arrests, 

trials and executions continued through the summer. "The 

'epidemic of mutual incrimination' reached such proportions 

that officials were forced to suspend circuit courts for the rest 

of 1741. The jails simply could hold no more people." An 

anonymous letter was sent to the city of New York, cautioning 
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them against the epidemic of suspicion and executions, as the 

writer claimed to have seen in the Salem witch trials.  

Five men known as the "Spanish Negroes" were among those 

arrested. Dark-skinned Spanish sailors who had been sold into 

slavery by a privateer, they contended they were full Spanish 

citizens and unfairly enslaved. Because Britain was at war with 

Spain, this did not earn them much sympathy; it even raised 

suspicions against them as infiltrators. The British colonists 

were worried about anyone with Spanish and Catholic ties. The 

five Spanish blacks were convicted and hanged.  

At the height of the trials' hysteria Horsmanden believed he 

had found an irrefutable link between the Papists and fires. As 

the investigation wore on, Horsmanden also came to believe 

that a man named John Ury was responsible. Ury had just 

arrived in town and had been working as a school teacher and 

a private tutor. He was an expert in Latin, which was enough 

to make him suspect by less educated Protestants as possibly 

being a Roman Catholic priest. Horsmanden arrested him on 

suspicion of being a priest and Spanish secret agent. Burton 

suddenly "remembered" that Ury had been one of the plotters 

of the conspiracy and testified against him. Ury was put on 

trial. His defense was that he was a dissenter from the Church 

of England, but not a Catholic priest, and had no knowledge of 

any conspiracy. But at the time of the trial, Horsmanden had 

received a warning from the governor of Georgia that Spanish 

agents were coming to burn all the considerable towns in New 

England. James Ogelthorpe, founder and governor of Georgia, 

sent word to Prosecutor Joseph Murray that the Spanish were 

planning a secret invasion of the British colonies:  
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A party of our Indians returned the eighth instant from war 

against the Spaniards. They had an engagement with a party of 

Spanish horse, just by [St.] Augustine…And they brought one 

Spainiard prisoner to me… Some intelligence I had of a 

villainous design of a very extraordinary nature and, if true, 

very important, viz. that the Spaniards had employed 

emissaries to burn all the magazines and considerable towns in 

the English North America, thereby to prevent the subsisting of 

the great expedition and fleet in the West Indies. And for this 

purpose many priests were employed who pretended to be 

physicians, dancing masters, and other kinds of occupations, 

and under that pretence to get admittance and confidence in 

families.  

Oglethorpe's letter left little doubt that the colony was part of 

an international conspiracy, one which not only planned to 

infiltrate and destroy the city of New York, but also to engage 

its Protestant citizens in religious warfare.  

Catholicism, as it was now deeply tied to both the Spanish and 

slaves, came to be perceived as a greater threat than ever 

before in the colony. This added to suspicions about Ury, and 

the teacher was convicted. He was hanged on the last day of 

August.  

Gradually the fears died down. When Burton and other 

witnesses began to accuse members of the upper class and 

family members of the judges as conspirators, the case became 

a major embarrassment to Horsmanden. In addition, the 

political leadership of the city was changing. The case was 

finally closed. Those slaves and whites still in jail were 

released.  
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By the end of the trials, 161 blacks and 20 whites had been 

arrested. From May 11 to August 29, 1741, seventeen blacks 

and four whites were convicted and hanged, 13 blacks were 

burned at stake, and 70 blacks were banished from New York. 

Seven whites were also deported. The following year, Mary 

Burton finally received her reward of £100 from the city, which 

she used to buy her freedom from indenture, and had money 

left over.  

The executions were conducted near the Poor House at the 

north end of the city and its boundary of Chambers Street. 

North of there was the African Burial Ground, which was 

rediscovered in 1991 during survey work for construction at 26 

Federal Plaza in lower Manhattan. In consultation with the 

African-American community, the remains of 400 people, 

including children, were removed and studied. They were 

reburied in a formal ceremony. Likely the site of up to 20,000 

African burials during the colonial period, it has been 

designated as a National Historic Landmark.  

Women’s role 

Mary Burton, Sarah Hughson, and Peggy Kerry were three 

women whose testimony was instrumental in the outcomes of 

the trials during the slave revolt. Burton's most notable 

accusations was against John Ury. Hughson also gave 

testimony against Ury, however her testimony only came once 

threatened with death. Kerry, when first confronted, denied 

everything, but, later, in hopes of being pardoned, said she 

had been involved and shifted the location of the conspiracy 

itself.  
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Representation in fiction 

• The events are the subject of the novel The Savage 

City (1955) by Jean Paradise, published by Ace 

Books. 

• These events are used as part of a revenge plot in 

the novel On Maiden Lane (1981) by Bruce 

Nicolaysen, a 5-volume family saga encompassing 

the history of New York/Manhattan from 1613 to 

1930. 

• These events figure in the plot of Pete Hamill's novel 

Forever (2003). 

• In 2007, Mat Johnson published The Great Negro 

Plot: A Tale of Conspiracy and Murder in Eighteenth-

Century New York, a novel set during these events. 

• The events are recounted by a prisoner in Golden Hill 

by Francis Stufford. 

  



Chapter 27 

King George's War 

King George's War (1744–1748) is the name given to the 

military operations in North America that formed part of the 

War of the Austrian Succession (1740–1748). It was the third 

of the four French and Indian Wars. It took place primarily in 

the British provinces of New York, Massachusetts Bay (which 

included Maine as well as Massachusetts at the time), New 

Hampshire (which included Vermont at the time), and Nova 

Scotia. Its most significant action was an expedition organized 

by Massachusetts Governor William Shirley that besieged and 

ultimately captured the French fortress of Louisbourg, on Cape 

Breton Island in Nova Scotia, in 1745. In French, it is known 

as the Troisième Guerre Intercoloniale or Third Intercolonial 

War.  

• The Treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle ended the war in 1748

and restored Louisbourg to France, but failed to

resolve any outstanding territorial issues.

Causes 

The War of Jenkins' Ear (named for a 1731 incident in which a 

Spanish commander sliced off the ear of British merchant 

captain Robert Jenkins and told him to take it to his king, 

George II) broke out in 1739 between Spain and Great Britain, 

but was restrained to the Caribbean Sea and conflict between 

Spanish Florida and the neighboring British Province of 

Georgia. The War of the Austrian Succession, nominally a 
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struggle over the legitimacy of the accession of Maria Theresa 

to the Austrian throne, began in 1740, but at first did not 

involve either Britain or Spain militarily. Britain was drawn 

diplomatically into that conflict in 1742 as an ally of Austria 

and an opponent of France and Prussia, but open hostilities 

between them did not take place until 1743 at Dettingen.  

War was not formally declared between Britain and France 

until March 1744. Massachusetts did not declare war against 

Quebec and France until June 2.  

Course of the war 

News of war declarations reached the French fortress at 

Louisbourg first, on May 3, 1744, and the forces there wasted 

little time in beginning hostilities. Concerned about their 

overland supply lines to Quebec, they raided the British fishing 

port of Canso on May 23, and then organized an attack on 

Annapolis Royal, the capital of Nova Scotia. But French forces 

were delayed in departing Louisbourg, and their Mi'kmaq and 

Maliseet First Nations allies, together with Father Jean-Louis 

Le Loutre, decided to attack on their own at Fort Anne in early 

July.  

Annapolis had received news of the war declaration, and the 

British forces were somewhat prepared when the First Nations 

warriors began besieging Fort Anne. Lacking heavy weapons, 

the Mi'kmaq and Maliseet withdrew after a few days. Then, in 

mid-August, a larger French force arrived at Fort Anne, but it 

was also unable to mount an effective attack or siege against 

the garrison. The fort had received supplies and reinforcements 

from Massachusetts.  
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In 1745, British colonial forces captured Fortress Louisbourg 

after a siege of six weeks. In retaliation, the Wabanaki 

Confederacy of Acadia launched the Northeast Coast Campaign 

(1745) against the British settlements on the border of Acadia 

in northeast Maine. France launched a major expedition to 

recover Louisbourg in 1746. Beset by storms, disease, and 

finally the death of its commander, the Duc d'Anville, the 

expedition's survivors returned to France in tatters without 

reaching its objective.  

The war was also fought on the frontiers between the northern 

British colonies and New France. Each side had allies among 

the Native Americans, and outlying villages were raided and 

captives taken for ransom, or sometimes adoption by Native 

American tribes who had suffered losses to disease or warfare. 

As a result of the frequent raiding on the northern frontier, 

Governor William Shirley ordered the construction of a chain of 

frontier outposts stretching west to its border with New York.  

On November 28, 1745, the French with their Indian allies 

raided and destroyed the village of Saratoga, New York, killing 

or capturing more than one hundred of its inhabitants. After 

this, the British abandoned their settlements in New York 

north of Albany, a major trading city. In July 1746 an Iroquois 

and intercolonial force assembled in northern New York for a 

retaliatory attack against British forces.  

When the expected British regulars never arrived, the attack 

was called off. A large (1,000+ man) French and First Nations 

force mustered to raid in the upper Hudson River valley in 

1746 instead raided in the Hoosac River valley, including an 

attack on Fort Massachusetts (at present-day North Adams, 
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Massachusetts). This was in retaliation for the slaying of an 

Indian leader in an earlier skirmish. Other raids included the 

1747 French and Mi'kmaq raid on Grand Pré, Nova Scotia; and 

a raid in 1748 by Indian allies of the French against 

Schenectady, New York.  

Aftermath 

The war took a heavy toll, especially in the northern British 

colonies. The losses of Massachusetts men alone in 1745–46 

have been estimated as 8% of that colony's adult male 

population.  

According to the Treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle, Louisbourg was 

returned to France three years later, in exchange for the city of 

Madras in India, which had been captured by the French from 

the British. This decision outraged New Englanders, 

particularly Massachusetts colonists who had contributed the 

most to the expedition (in terms of funding and personnel). The 

British government eventually acknowledged Massachusetts' 

effort with a payment of £180,000 after the war. The province 

used this money to retire its devalued paper currency.  

The peace treaty, which restored all colonial borders to their 

pre-war status, did little to end the lingering enmity between 

France, Britain, and their respective colonies, nor did it resolve 

any territorial disputes. Tensions remained in both North 

America and Europe. They broke out again in 1754, with the 

start of the French and Indian War in North America, which 

spread to Europe two years later as the Seven Years' War. 

Between 1749 and 1755 in Acadia and Nova Scotia, the fighting 

continued in Father Le Loutre's War.  



Chapter 28 

Siege of Louisbourg (1745) 

The siege of Louisbourg took place in 1745 when a New 

England colonial force aided by a British fleet captured 

Louisbourg, the capital of the French province of Île-Royale 

(present-day Cape Breton Island) during the War of the 

Austrian Succession, known as King George's War in the 

British colonies.  

The northern British colonies regarded Louisbourg as a 

menace, calling it the "American Dunkirk" due to its use as a 

base for privateers. There was regular, intermittent warfare 

between the French and the Wabanaki Confederacy on one side 

and the northern New England colonies on the other (See the 

Northeast Coast Campaigns of 1688, 1703, 1723, 1724). For the 

French, the Fortress of Louisbourg also protected the chief 

entrance to Canada, as well as the nearby French fisheries.  

The French government had spent 25 years in fortifying it, and 

the cost of its defenses was reckoned at thirty million livres. 

Although the fortress's construction and layout was 

acknowledged as having superior seaward defences, a series of 

low rises behind them made it vulnerable to a land attack.  

The low rises provided attackers places to erect siege batteries. 

The fort's garrison was poorly paid and supplied, and its 

inexperienced leaders mistrusted them. The colonial attackers 

were also lacking in experience, but ultimately succeeded in 

gaining control of the surrounding defences. The defenders 

surrendered in the face of an imminent assault.  
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Louisbourg was an important bargaining chip in the peace 

negotiations to end the war, since it represented a major 

British success. Factions within the British government were 

opposed to returning it to the French as part of any peace 

agreement, but these were eventually overruled, and 

Louisbourg was returned, over the objections of the victorious 

British North Americans, to French control after the 1748 

Treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle, in return for French concessions 

elsewhere.  

Context 

From 1688 onward there had been a number of military 

campaigns fought between the French and their allies and the 

English in the region. Under the Treaty of Utrecht, which 

ended the War of the Spanish Succession, the French colony of 

Acadia had been ceded to Great Britain. The tribes of 

Wabanaki Confederacy, had a long history of raiding British 

settlements along Northern New England in present-day Maine. 

During the 17th and early-18th century, the Wabanaki fought 

in several campaigns, including in 1688, 1703, 1723, 1724. 

Many of the British military leaders of the siege of Louisbourg 

came from Northern New England, whose family members were 

killed in the raids.  

In the summer of 1744, New Englanders' concerns of further 

attacks on the Northern New England increased after a French 

and Wabanaki force sailed from Louisbourg to the nearby 

British fishing port of Canso, attacking a small fort on Grassy 

Island and burned it to the ground, taking prisoner 50 British 

families. This port was used by the New England fishing fleet; 
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however, the Canso Islands (including Grassy Island) were 

contested by both Britain and France.  

The prisoners taken during the Canso raid were first brought 

to Louisbourg, where they were given freedom to move around. 

Some of the military men took careful note of the fortress 

design, layout, and condition, as well as the size and condition 

of its garrison and armaments. These men were eventually 

released to Boston, where their intelligence, along with that 

provided by merchants who did business at Louisbourg, proved 

useful in planning the attack.  

The French, military and civilian alike, were not in the best of 

condition at Louisbourg. Supplies were short in 1744, and the 

fishermen were reluctant to sail without adequate provisions. 

The military rank and file claimed that they were promised a 

share of the spoils from the Canso raid, which had instead 

gone to officers, who sold those same provisions and profited 

in the endeavour. In December 1744, the troops mutinied over 

the poor conditions and pay that was months overdue. Even 

after acting Governor Louis Du Pont Duchambon managed to 

quiet the discontent by releasing back pay and supplies, the 

following winter was extremely tense, as the military 

leadership maintained a tenuous hold on the situation. 

Duchambon was even reluctant to send for help, fearing the 

message would be intercepted and spark further unrest. Word 

of the unrest did, however, make its way to Boston.  

In 1745, the governor of the Province of Massachusetts Bay, 

William Shirley, secured by a narrow margin the support of the 

Massachusetts legislature for an attack on the fortress. He and 

the governor of the Province of New Hampshire, Benning 
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Wentworth, sought the support of other colonies. Connecticut 

provided 500 troops, New Hampshire 450, Rhode Island a ship, 

New York ten cannons, and Pennsylvania and New Jersey 

funds. The force was under the command of William Pepperrell 

of Kittery (in the portion of the Massachusetts colony that is 

now the state of Maine), and a fleet of colonial ships was 

assembled and placed under the command of Captain Edward 

Tyng. Governor Shirley sent to Commodore Peter Warren, the 

chief officer of the Royal Navy's West Indies station, a request 

for naval support in the event of an encounter with French 

warships, which would significantly outclass any of the 

colonial ships. Warren at first declined this offer, lacking 

authorization from London to assist. Only a few days later, he 

received orders from the Admiralty to proceed to protect the 

New England fisheries. The expedition set sail from Boston in 

stages beginning in early March 1745 with 4,200 soldiers and 

sailors aboard a total of 90 ships.  

Battle 

Canso and Port Toulouse 

The force stopped at Canso to reprovision. There they were met 

by Commodore Warren, enlarging the expedition by 16 ships. 

In late March, the naval forces began to blockade Louisbourg, 

however ice fields were being swept from the Gulf of St. 

Lawrence to the seas off Louisbourg that spring, presenting a 

considerable hazard to wooden-hulled sailing ships. The poor 

weather and general state of disorganization of the New 

England naval forces resulted in numerous delays to the 
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expedition, however, they kept busy harassing French fishing 

and shipping in the waters surrounding Île-Royale.  

With the ice fields gone by late April, the siege began in 

earnest. Pepperell's land forces sailed in transports from 

Canso. On May 2, he besieged Port Toulouse (present-day St. 

Peter's, Nova Scotia) as well as destroying several coastal 

villages in the area between Canso and Louisbourg.  

Landing 

On May 11, John Gorham and his rangers led the charge to 

land troops on the shores close to the fortress. They tried to 

land their whale boats at Flat Point Cover while covered by the 

fire power of the Lord Montague, Boston Packet and 

Massachusetts. Gorham was repelled by 20 French troops that 

occupied the cove.  

Gorham quickly regrouped with several other vessels and the 

operation was re-directed to Kennington Cove. The French 

troops were unable to re-position themselves in time to stop 

the landing of British troops.  

After 1500 British were already on shore, 200 French troops 

arrived to repel the British, led by Pierre Morpain and De la 

Boularderie. Morpain retreated while De La Boularderie gave 

himself up as a prisoner. The British would land 2000 troops 

by the end of the day.  

Destroying the fisheries 

While most of the troops were employed at attacking the Royal 

Battery, the Island Battery and Fortress Louisbourg, others 
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were scouting around the perimeter of the fortress, destroying 

small fishing villages. On May 8, the Mi'kmaq defended against 

an attack on near-by Margaret's Bay and killed seven of 

Warren's troops. On May 11, the English killed or took 

prisoner seventeen French and the French wounded three 

English.  

On May 19, Edward Tyng in the vessel HMS Prince of Orange 

along with the ship Massachusetts destroyed St. Ann's Bay, 

burning the town and shipping. They killed 20 people and took 

25 prisoners.  

The French killed one British troop. On May 21, the Prince of 

Orange is joined by the Defence and they destroy Ingonish, 

burning a town of 80 houses. They continued to destroy the 

towns of Bradore and Bayonne.  

On May 23, 20 British troops from Jeremiah Moulton's 

Regiment attacked a small village.  

While they were in the village, they were surrounded by 100 

fighters made up of French and Mi'kmaq. They killed 18 of the 

20 British troops.  

On May 30, the Mi'kmaq at Chapeau Rouge (L'Ardoise) attacked 

thirteen English soldiers from Captain Fletcher's crew on the 

Boston Packet, who were seeking wood and water. They killed 

seven English soldiers, three of whom were scalped. They also 

took three prisoners, two of whom were later found butchered 

and one later died of wounds.  

On June 24, the Defence and the Boston Packet sent a 

plundering expedition on shore near "Laten".  
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Royal (Grand) Battery 

Upon landing, the British forces immediately launched an 

attack on the North East Harbour (present-day Louisbourg, 

Nova Scotia). The act terrorized the French and they 

abandoned the Royal Battery with much of its armaments still 

operational. The British immediately occupied the battery and 

began firing at the fortress. They repulsed a French and Indian 

attempt to re-take the battery the following day.  

Island Battery 

The Island Battery was the most formidable and took the New 

Englanders six weeks to silence. The Island Battery, which had 

160 troops, needed to be defeated before the Royal Navy could 

enter the harbour.  

On May 26, the 100 British troops under the command of 

Samuel Waldo turned the canons of the Royal Battery on the 

Island Battery and bombarded the battery for days.  

On June 6, Captain Brooks led 400 British troops against the 

Island Battery and were repulsed by the French troops. The 

French killed 60 British troops and took 116 prisoner.  

5th failed attack 

Later on June 7, Gorham commanded 650 troops to attack but 

was forced to retreat. The French killed 189 New Englanders in 

the failed assault.  

On June 9, the 100 British troops fight 100 French and 80 

Indigenous. The British killed 40 and took seventeen prisoners. 
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The French and Indigenous killed 6 British and wounded many 

more.  

Careening Wharf Battle 

Gorham and 40 rangers discovered 30 French canon at the 

Careening Wharf on June 9. The next day, the French Governor 

Du Chambon sent 100 inexperienced French troops under the 

command of Sieur de Beaubassin.  

Gorham and his rangers were able to launch a surprise attack 

on the French troops, killing five of them. One of Gorham's 

(Indian) rangers was killed. (By June 11 (new style), 

Beaubassin's force was decimated with many Mi’kmaw fighters 

killed.)  

Gorham’s Battery 

By June 21, Gorham had built a battery at Lighthouse Point. 

He had hauled ten cannon from the Royal Battery. He shelled 

the Island Battery for five days and on June 27 the French 

Battery was silenced.  

Surrender 

On June 27, French and native reinforcements led by Paul 

Marin were prevented from reaching Louisbourg in the Naval 

battle off Tatamagouche. The New Englanders' landward siege 

was supported by Commodore Warren's fleet and, following 47 

days (six weeks and five days) of siege and bombardment, the 

French capitulated on June 28, 1745.  
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Aftermath 

News of the victory reached Governor Shirley in Boston on July 

3 which, coincidentally, was commencement day at Harvard 

(usually a day of celebration in itself). All of New England 

celebrated the taking of France's mighty fortress on the 

Atlantic.  

Losses to the New England forces in battle had been modest, 

although the garrison that occupied the fortress during the 

following winter suffered many deaths from cold and disease.  

After the fall of Louisbourg, the New Englanders also assumed 

control of Port-La-Joye on present-day Prince Edward Island 

(which the French regained in battle the following year).  

Despite the British conquest of Louisbourg, the French and 

Wabanaki attacks continued on Northern New England in the 

campaigns of 1745, 1746, and 1747).  

Duchambon's actions in the mutiny and siege were the subject 

of inquiries upon his return to France in August 1745. 

Duchambon was protected from reprisals by the actions of 

François Bigot, Louisbourg's civilian administrator, who 

deflected much of the blame onto others. Duchambon retired 

from the service with a pension in March 1746.  

William Pepperrell and Peter Warren were both richly rewarded 

for their efforts. Warren, in addition to profiting from prize 

money, was promoted to rear admiral. Pepperrell was made a 

baronet by King George II and given a commission as colonel of 

a new regiment, numbered 66th at the time (but not to be 
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confused with the later 66th Regiment of Foot). Governor 

Shirley was also given a colonel's commission to raise his own 

regiment.  

Both France and Britain planned expeditions to North America 

in the wake of the capture. The great Duc d'Anville Expedition 

led by Admiral Jean-Batiste, De Roye de la Rochefoucauld, Duc 

d'Anville was dispatched from France to retake Louisbourg and 

recover Acadia in 1746.  

However it was destroyed by storms, disease, and British naval 

attacks and never reached the fortress. The British government 

made plans, based on suggestions by Shirley and Warren, for a 

follow-up expedition to seize Quebec.  

For a variety of reasons, including a late start and contrary 

winds, the 1746 expedition did not leave European waters, and 

was instead diverted to raid the French port of Lorient. 

Although the idea was also considered for the 1747 campaign 

season, it again failed to bear fruit.  

When the war ended with the signing of the Treaty of Aix-la-

Chapelle in 1748, Louisbourg was returned to France in 

exchange for the return of Madras to Britain, and the 

withdrawal of French troops from the Low Countries.  

The decision to withdraw from Louisbourg came under fierce 

attacks in London from opponents of the Pelham Ministry, but 

it went ahead nonetheless. In 1758 the fortress was captured 

again by the British during the Seven Years' War, this time 

permanently, as Île-Royale and much of New France was ceded 

to Britain under the terms of the 1763 Treaty of Paris.  
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French naval officers 

• Chevalier Guy-François de Coëtnempren (Comte de 

Kersaint), (Renommee)  

British naval officers 

• Commodore Peter Warren 

• Captain Richard Tiddleman (T. Somers) (Superbe, 

415 men, 60 guns) 

• Captain Philip Durell (Eltham, 250 men, 40 guns) 

• Captain W. J? Calmady (Launceston, 250 men, 40 

guns) 

• Captain James Douglas (then Capt. W. Montague) 

(Mermaid, 250 men, 40 guns) 

Joined from England 22–23 May  

• Captain Frederick Cornwall (Hector, 40 guns) 

• Captain Richard Edwards (Princess Mary, 60 guns) 

Joined from England 10–11 June  

• Captain John Hore/ Hoar (D. Hare) (Canterbury, 60 

guns); 

• Captain J. Brett (Sunderland, 60 guns); 

• Captain J. Crickshanke (Lark, 40 guns); 

• Capt. F. Geary (Capt. Kemp) (Chester, 50 guns) 

• Capt. James Douglas (Vigilant, 64 guns) - Former 

prize taken 18 May 
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• Captain Clark Gayton (Bien Aime, 30 guns) - former 

prize 

• Captain Britt (Sunderland, 60 guns) 

Massachusetts naval forces 

• Captain Edward Tyng (Ship Massachusetts frigate, 

150 men, 20 guns) 

• Captain Jonathan Snelling (Molineux frigate, 150 

men, 20 guns) 

• Captain George Griffith (Caesar, 70 men, 14 guns) 

• Captain John Rouse (Shirley Galley, 150 men, 20 

guns) 

• Captain Joseph Smithers/ Smythurst (Snow Prince 

of Orange (ship), 80 men, 14 guns - sank in storm) 

• Captain William Fletcher (Brig Boston Packet, 16 

guns; Wattering) 

• Captain David Donahew  † (Sloop, 12 guns) 

• Captain Thomas Saunders (sloop, 8 guns) 

• Captain Bosch (sloop, 8 guns) 

Other naval forces 

• Captain Griffin (Rhode Island sloop, 20 guns) 

• Captain Thompson (Connecticut vessel, 16 guns) 

• Captain John Prentice (Defence, Connecticut vessel, 

12 guns, 100 men) 

• Captain John Furnell (Fernald), (Abigail, 14 or 10 

guns) - New Hampshire sloop 

• Captain Daniel Fones (Tartar (ship), 14 guns) - 

Rhode Island sloop 
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Legacy 

• Louisburg Square in Boston is named after the siege. 

• Vernon Street, Halifax, Nova Scotia was formerly 

known as Louisbourg Street. 

• Shirley Street, Halifax, Nova Scotia is named for 

Massachusetts Governor William Shirley. 

• Pepperell St. Halifax, Nova Scotia was named after 

Pepperrell 

• Pepperell, Massachusetts was named after William 

Pepperrell. 

• Warren, Rhode Island and Warren, New Hampshire 

are named after British naval hero Admiral Sir Peter 

Warren. 

  



Chapter 29 

Princeton University Founded 

Princeton University is a private Ivy League research university 

in Princeton, New Jersey. Founded in 1746 in Elizabeth as the 

College of New Jersey, Princeton is the fourth-oldest 

institution of higher education in the United States and one of 

the nine colonial colleges chartered before the American 

Revolution. The institution moved to Newark in 1747, and then 

to the current site nine years later. It officially became a 

university in 1896 and was subsequently renamed Princeton 

University.  

The university is governed by the Trustees of Princeton 

University and has an endowment of $26.6 billion, the largest 

endowment per student in the United States. Princeton 

provides undergraduate and graduate instruction in the 

humanities, social sciences, natural sciences, and engineering 

to approximately 8,500 students on its 600 acres (2.4 km) 

main campus. It offers postgraduate degrees through the 

Princeton School of Public and International Affairs, the School 

of Engineering and Applied Science, the School of Architecture 

and the Bendheim Center for Finance. The university also 

manages the Department of Energy's Princeton Plasma Physics 

Laboratory and is home to the NOAA's Geophysical Fluid 

Dynamics Laboratory. It is classified among "R1: Doctoral 

Universities – Very high research activity" and has one of the 

largest university libraries in the world.  

Princeton uses a residential college system and is known for its 

upperclassmen eating clubs. Students can choose from around 
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500 recognized student organizations on campus, like the 

nation's oldest debate union, the second oldest college daily 

student newspaper, the oldest touring musical-comedy theater 

group, or the oldest licensed college radio station. Princeton 

students embrace a wide variety of traditions from both the 

past and present. The university is a NCAA Division I school 

and competes in the Ivy League. The school's athletic team, the 

Princeton Tigers, has won the most titles in its conference and 

has sent many students and alumni to the Olympics.  

As of May 2021, 69 Nobel laureates, 16 Fields Medalists and 

16 Turing Award laureates have been affiliated with Princeton 

University as alumni, faculty members, or researchers. In 

addition, Princeton has been associated with 21 National Medal 

of Science winners, 5 Abel Prize winners, 11 National 

Humanities Medal recipients, 215 Rhodes Scholars and 137 

Marshall Scholars.  

Two U.S. Presidents, twelve U.S. Supreme Court Justices 

(three of whom currently serve on the court) and numerous 

living billionaires and foreign heads of state are all counted 

among Princeton's alumni body. Princeton has graduated many 

members of the U.S. Congress and the U.S. Cabinet, including 

eight Secretaries of State, three Secretaries of Defense and two 

Chairmen of the Joint Chiefs of Staff.  

Princeton University was founded in Elizabeth, New Jersey, in 

1746 as the College of New Jersey, shortly before moving into 

the newly built Nassau Hall in Princeton. In 1783, for about 

four months Nassau Hall hosted the United States Congress, 

and many of the students went on to become leaders of the 

young republic.  



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 4 

723 

The institution was formally designated Princeton University in 

1896, and soon embarked on a major expansion under the 

auspices of future president of the USA Woodrow Wilson. Later 

in the 20th century, the culture became more liberal, and 

Princeton became coeducational in 1969  

College of New Jersey 

Princeton University was founded at Elizabeth, New Jersey, in 

1746 as the College of New Jersey.  

New Light Presbyterians founded the College of New Jersey, 

later Princeton University, in 1746 in order to train ministers 

dedicated to their views. The college was the educational and 

religious capital of Scottish-Irish America. By 1808, a loss of 

confidence in the college within the Presbyterian Church led to 

the establishment in 1812 of the separate Princeton 

Theological Seminary, but deep Presbyterian influence at the 

college continued through the 1910s.  

The Province of New Jersey granted a charter on October 22, 

1746 for “the Education of Youth in the Learned Languages 

and in the Liberal Arts and Sciences”. The charter was unique 

in the colonies, for it specified that “any Person of any 

religious Denomination whatsoever” might attend. The 

College's enrollment totaled 10 young men, who met for classes 

in the Reverend Jonathan Dickinson's parlor in Elizabeth. 

Dickinson died soon after and was replaced by Aaron Burr, Sr., 

pastor of the Presbyterian Church in Newark, New Jersey. The 

College moved to Newark in the fall of 1747, where in 1748 a 

class of six men became the first to graduate.  
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New location 

In 1756, the College moved to its new quarters to Nassau Hall, 

in Princeton, New Jersey. Nassau Hall, named to honor King 

William III, Prince of Orange, of the House of Nassau, was one 

of the largest buildings in the colonies. For nearly half a 

century it housed the entire College—classrooms, dormitories, 

library, chapel, dining room, and kitchen. During the American 

Revolution it survived occupation by soldiers from both sides 

and today bears a cannonball scar from the Battle of Princeton 

(January 3, 1777). The federal government recognized the 

historical significance of “Old Nassau” by awarding it national 

landmark status and by issuing an orange and black 

commemorative three-cent stamp in celebration of its 1956 

bicentennial.  

Following the untimely deaths of its first five presidents, the 

college enjoyed a long period of stability during 1768-94 under 

Reverend John Witherspoon. Military occupation and the Battle 

of Princeton severely damaged the college during the war. In 

another disaster, fire destroyed Nassau Hall in March 1802. 

Student unrest led to an explosion at the Nassau Hall front 

door and several other incidents in 1814. Witherspoon was a 

prominent religious and political leader; and an original signer 

of the Declaration of independence and the Articles of 

Confederation.  

John Witherspoon was a prominent evangelical Presbyterian 

minister in Scotland before becoming the sixth president of 

Princeton in 1768. Upon his arrival, he transformed a college 

designed predominantly to train clergymen into a school that 

would equip the leaders of a revolutionary generation. 
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Witherspoon made fundamental changes to the moral 

philosophy curriculum, strengthened the college's commitment 

to natural philosophy (science), and positioned Princeton in 

the larger transatlantic world of the republic of letters. 

Witherspoon's common sense approach to morality was more 

influenced by the Enlightenment ethics of Scottish 

philosophers Francis Hutcheson and Thomas Reid than the 

Christian virtue of Jonathan Edwards. Witherspoon thus 

believed morality was a science. It could be cultivated in his 

students or deduced through the development of the moral 

sense—an ethical compass instilled by God in all human 

beings and developed through education (Reid) or sociability 

(Hutcheson).  

Such an approach to morality owed more to the natural moral 

laws of the Enlightenment than traditional sources of Christian 

ethics. Thus, while "public religion" was an important source of 

social virtue, it was not the only source. Witherspoon, in 

accordance with the Scottish moral sense philosophy, taught 

that all human beings—religious or otherwise—could be 

virtuous.  

His students, who included James Madison, Aaron Burr, Philip 

Freneau, and John Breckinridge, all played prominent roles in 

the development of the new nation. Locally, Witherspoon was 

influential in leading the royal colony of New Jersey—a colony 

initially ambivalent about revolution—toward rebellion. In 

1780 an amended charter declared that the trustees should no 

longer swear allegiance to the king of England, and in 1783 the 

Continental Congress met in Nassau Hall, thus making it the 

capitol of the United States for a short time. Nine Princeton 

alumni attended the Constitutional Convention of 1787, more 
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than from any other American or British institution. But even 

as Witherspoon championed American liberty, he also 

championed more conservative ideals such as order and 

national unity. As a result, he was a strong defender of a 

national constitution. Not surprisingly, the College's revised 

charter of 1799 called on the trustees to support the new 

Constitution of the United States of America.  

19th century 

The situation during the winter semester of 1806-07 under the 

presidency of Samuel Stanhope Smith was characterized by 

little or no faculty-student rapport or communication, crowded 

conditions, and strict school rules - a combination that led to 

a student riot on March 31-April 1, 1807. College authorities 

denounced it as a sign of moral decay.  

In 1812 Princeton Theological Seminary was established as a 

separate institution. College authorities approved, for they 

were coming to see that specialized training in theology 

required more attention than they could give. Archibald 

Alexander, a professor at the college, was its first professor 

and principal. The two institutions have always enjoyed a close 

relationship based on common history and shared resources.  

• Princeton University's position on pre-Civil War 

disputes over slavery and abolitionism tended to fall 

on the conservative side, not so much favoring 

slavery as opposing radical antislavery. This resulted 

from Princeton's adhering to the conservative Old 

School wing of the Presbyterian denomination. 

Ironically, the surrounding town had a lively free 
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black community during this period, which formed 

its own congregations, including the Witherspoon 

Street Presbyterian Church. By the late 1850s, the 

conservative middle gave way and increasingly 

supported Lincoln and Republican Party positions on 

slavery issues. 

The debate between James McCosh (1811–94), president of the 

college (1868–88), and Charles Hodge, head of Princeton 

Seminary, during the late 1860s and 1870s exemplified the 

classic conflict between science and religion over the question 

of Darwin's evolution theory. McCosh offered the first public 

endorsement of evolution by an American religious leader. 

However, the two men showed greater similarities regarding 

matters of science and religion than popularly appreciated. 

Both supported the increasing role of scientific inquiry in 

natural history and resisted its intrusion into philosophy and 

religion. The debate vitalized the college and helped propel the 

school to future recognition for excellence in scholarship.  

Although genuinely loved by many Princetonians, as president 

of Princeton during 1888-1902 Francis Landey Patton (1843–

1932) was viewed by many as a hindrance to Princeton's 

progress. His model of higher education frustrated the plans of 

the 'New Princetonians,' who desired a graduate school, not a 

graduate department. Further, his insistence on a somewhat 

rigid Christian education program - which limited academic 

freedom - coupled with outdated administrative methods, 

alienated those who hoped he would make Princeton into a 

major American university. Finally, in 1902, Patton was ousted 

from the presidency.  



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 4 

728 

Princeton University 

As part of the sesquicentennial celebrations in 1896, the 

College of New Jersey changed its name to Princeton 

University, the present name of the university. Princeton 

University adopted as an informal motto “Princeton in the 

nation’s service,” the title of the keynote speech by professor 

Woodrow Wilson.  

Woodrow Wilson 

In 1902 Woodrow Wilson became Princeton's 13th president. 

During his term of office (1902–10) plans for building the 

Graduate College were finalized, and what had been the College 

of New Jersey began to grow into a full-scale university.  

As Princeton looked toward expansion, Wilson focused on the 

quality of the individual teaching and learning experience. He 

is credited with developing small discussion classes called 

preceptorials, which to this day supplement lecture courses in 

the humanities and social sciences.  

Wilson doubled the size of the faculty, created an 

administrative structure, and revised the curriculum to include 

general studies for freshmen and sophomores and concentrated 

study for juniors and seniors. He proposed that the 

undergraduate dormitories be divided into quadrangles or 

“colleges” in which students would live with resident faculty 

masters and have their own recreational facilities. A variation 

on this plan became a reality in 1982 when five residential 

colleges were organized for freshmen and sophomores.  
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Wilson kept blacks out of Princeton, even as other ivy-league 

schools were accepting small numbers of blacks and Princeton 

did not have its first black graduate until 1948.  

Wilson established academic departments but otherwise 

downplayed the Germanic model of the PhD-oriented research 

university in favor of the "Oxbridge" (Oxford and Cambridge) 

model of intense small group discussions and one-on-one 

tutorials. He hired 50 young professors, called preceptors, to 

meet with students in small conferences, grilling them about 

their reading. Complaining that Princeton was dominated by 

"eating clubs" in which students ate with each other and 

ignored the professors, he sought to build Oxford-style colleges 

where students and faculty would eat and talk together. He 

failed—the eating clubs are still there.  

Wilson promoted the leadership model, whereby the college 

focused on training a small cadre of undergraduates for 

national leadership, "the minority who plan, who conceive, who 

superintend," as he called them in his 1902 inaugural address 

as the university's president. "The college is no less democratic 

because it is for those who play a special part." He confronted 

Andrew Fleming West, the dean of the graduate school, and 

lost. West had the German research model in mind and 

outmaneuvered Wilson by obtaining outside funding for a 

graduate complex for serious scholarship that was well 

separated from the fun-loving undergraduates.  

As supervising architect of the Princeton campus during 1906–

29, Ralph Adams Cram contributed several important buildings 

in the medieval collegiate Gothic style as well as a plan for 

stylistic unity and for development.  
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Undergraduate life 

The college was a popular setting for novels about student life, 

the faculty and the town. The "Undergraduate novel" (e.g., F. 

Scott Fitzgerald's This Side of Paradise and Harvey Smith's The 

Gang's All Here) detailed campus life in the 1920s and 1950s. 

The "Faculty novel" characterized the 1960s (e.g., Kingsley 

Amis's One Fat Englishman and John W. Aldridge's The Party at 

Cranton). The '"Town novel" (e.g., Julian Moynihan's Garden 

State and Thomas Baird's Losing People) typified the 1970s. 

Other important novels include Saul Bellow's Humboldt's Gift 

(1975) and Carlos Baker's A Friend's Power (1958).  

As a trendsetter in young men's fashion, Princeton University 

in the early 20th century casualized the look of clothing across 

the country for decades to come. With its elite prep-school 

student population and highly ritualized eating club 

subculture, the school was an ideal setting in which to create a 

nation's taste in menswear.  

In 1909–10, football faced a crisis resulting from the failure of 

the previous reforms of 1905–06 to solve the problem of 

serious injuries. There was a mood of alarm and mistrust, and, 

while the crisis was developing, the presidents of Harvard, 

Yale, and Princeton developed a project to reform the sport and 

forestall possible radical changes forced by government upon 

the sport. President Arthur Hadley of Yale, A. Lawrence Lowell 

of Harvard, and Wilson of Princeton worked to develop 

moderate changes to reduce injuries. Their attempts, however, 

were reduced by rebellion against the rules committee and 

formation of the Intercollegiate Athletic Association. The big 

three had tried to operate independently of the majority, but 
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changes did reduce injuries. In 1926 Harvard entered into an 

agreement to play football against the University of Michigan 

instead of Princeton, and that agreement threatened to destroy 

the 'Big Three' relationship of the time. Harvard's actions were 

based on the fact that games with Princeton had been marred 

by fights and roughness. During the 1930s, the 'Big Three' was 

restored, and in 1939 it was enlarged to the Ivy League.  

During World War II the student body of Princeton University 

became almost entirely military as the result of Reserve Officer 

Training Corps mobilization, the Navy V-7 and V-12 programs, 

and the Army Specialized Training Program. Wartime changes 

opened Princeton to the larger world and brought it into the 

mainstream of American society. From their beginnings 

Harvard, Yale and Princeton restricted the admittance of Jews 

and other minorities. After World War II, however, ethnic 

prejudice was condemned in higher education because of the 

US commitment to democracy. College-bound veterans, 

benefiting from the GI Bill, flooded admissions offices with 

applications. By the 1950s and 1960s the Big Three began to 

expand their admission policies, admitting more minorities.  

Religion 

In the early 20th century, the student body was predominately 

old-stock, high-status Protestants, especially Presbyterians, 

Episcopalians, and Congregationalists—a group later called 

"WASPS" (White Anglo-Saxon Protestants).  

In the early 20th century liberal Christians came to dominate 

the student body, a former evangelical stronghold. In 1915 

President John Grier Hibben refused the request of evangelist 
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Billy Sunday to preach on campus, but later allowed liberal 

theologian Albert Parker Fitch to do so. Liberals sought to 

make Princeton a modern university that promoted a liberal 

philosophy of education and liberal theology. Conservative 

Christians considered the teachings of the liberals to be heresy 

and sought to get Lucius H. Miller, the liberal professor of 

Bible studies, removed from the faculty and to have Bible 

classes eliminated from the curriculum. Liberals favored 

retaining the religious aspects of the curriculum and, since 

they came to control Princeton, they were able to maintain 

those courses along with various institutions that promoted 

liberal piety. They did this through an uneasy alliance with 

cultural modernists on the faculty. Gradually the hegemony of 

the liberal Christian leaders of higher education was eroded by 

the secularization of the university that occurred during the 

first half of the 20th century. Princeton thus ceased being a 

Presbyterian institution in the 1920s, as symbolized by the 

building of a great interdenominational chapel.  

Mathematics 

American mathematicians of the 1920s worked to maintain the 

generous funding they had received during World War I. 

Unwilling to enter a permanent relationship with the federal 

government, they turned to industry and to private 

foundations, but with only limited success. The most reliable 

support for mathematics emerged from universities, where the 

funding could be justified as part of a larger program of 

institutional improvement. Oswald Veblen, a leading 

mathematician and chair of the department, took this 

approach as Princeton was in the process of transforming itself 

into a recognized research institution. Veblen's skill in 
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securing university funding helped to make the Princeton 

mathematics department a center of mathematics research. His 

strategy helped to split the field, however, between 'pure' 

mathematicians in academic settings and 'applied' 

mathematicians whose interest in the practical applications of 

their work allowed them to find support in industry.  

21st century 

Princeton University has produced 29 Nobel laureates. Some of 

the greatest minds of 20th century were associated with 

Princeton University. Princeton has also produced several 

Fields Medallists. Before World War II, most elite university 

faculties were gentlemen's clubs, with few, if any, Jews, 

blacks, women, or other minorities. By 1980, this condition 

had been altered dramatically, as numerous members of those 

groups held faculty positions.  

Princeton's students and faculty share the tradition of 

educational excellence begun more than 250 years ago. The few 

books in the Dickinson parlor were the seeds for 55 miles 

(89 km) of shelving and more than five million volumes in 

Firestone Library. The original quadrangle—Nassau Hall, the 

president's house, and two flanking halls—has grown into a 

600-acre (2.4 km) main campus with more than 160 buildings. 

The “learned languages”—Latin and Greek—have been joined 

by many ancient and modern languages and an array of 

computer dialects.  

Today, more than 1,200 full and part-time faculty members 

teach at Princeton; collectively they publish more than 2,000 

scholarly documents a year. Princeton's professors form a 
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single faculty that teaches both undergraduate and graduate 

students. Originally an institution devoted to the education of 

young men, Princeton became coeducational in 1969. Today, 

approximately 5,000 undergraduates and 2,500 graduate 

students are enrolled here. Virtually all undergraduates and 

about two-thirds of graduate students live on campus.  

Princeton is one of the smallest of the nation's leading 

research universities. Its size permits close interaction among 

students and faculty members in settings ranging from 

introductory courses to senior theses.  

1960s and 1970s 

Princeton was hardly untouched by the Vietnam War. Students 

for a Democratic Society (SDS) had an active Princeton 

chapter, which organized protests against the Institute for 

Defense Analysis and staged a protest that came to be known 

as the "Hickel Heckle," in which several SDS members 

demanded that Interior Secretary Walter J. Hickel "Talk About 

the War!" Three students were suspended over the incident.  

In 1971, the Third World Center, now the Carl A. Fields 

Center, was founded to address the concerns of minority 

students to have a facility of their own making for academic, 

political and social functions.  

In service to the nation 

Three future U.S. presidents studied at Princeton as 

undergraduates. Two were alumni: James Madison, the fourth 
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president and an influential founding father, graduated in 

1771; and Woodrow Wilson, the 28th president, graduated in 

1879. Wilson also served as president of Princeton from 1902 

to 1910. Future President John F. Kennedy began his studies 

at Princeton in the fall of 1935 until a period of illness 

precipitated his withdrawal from the university and eventual 

transfer to Harvard University during his freshman year.  

Jonathan Dickinson 

Jonathan Dickinson (1663–1722) was a merchant from Port 

Royal, Jamaica who was shipwrecked on the southeast coast of 

Florida in 1696, along with his family and the other passengers 

and crew members of the ship.  

The party was held captive by Jobe ("Hoe-bay") Indians for 

several days, and then was allowed to travel by small boat and 

on foot the 230 miles up the coast to Saint Augustine. The 

party was subjected to harassment and physical abuse at 

almost every step of the journey to Saint Augustine. Five 

members of the party died from exposure and starvation on the 

way.  

The Spanish authorities in Saint Augustine treated the 

surviving members of the party well, and sent them by canoe to 

Charles Town (now Charleston, South Carolina), where they 

were able to find passage to their original destination, 

Philadelphia.  

After many hardships, Jonathan Dickinson finally reached 

Philadelphia. He prospered there and twice served as Mayor of 

Philadelphia, in 1712–1713 and 1717–1719.  
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Jonathan Dickinson's Journal 

Dickinson wrote a journal of the ordeal, which was published 

by the Society of Friends in 1699 as  

God's Protecting Providence Man's Surest Help and Defence in 

the times of the greatest difficulty and most Imminent danger 

Evidenced in the Remarkable Deliverance of divers Persons, 

from the devouring Waves of the Sea, amongst which they 

Suffered Shipwrack. And also from the more cruelly devouring 

jawes of the inhumane Canibals of Florida. Faithfully related 

by one of the persons concerned therein, Jonathan Dickenson 

(sic). 

This book was reprinted sixteen times in English, and three 

times each in Dutch and German translations, between 1700 

and 1869. Today it is more commonly known as Jonathan 

Dickinson's Journal. Dickinson's Journal has been described by 

the Cambridge History of English and American Literature as, 

"in many respects the best of all the captivity tracts".  

Early life 

Jonathan Dickinson was born in 1663 in Jamaica. His father 

Francis had raised a troop of horse for Oliver Cromwell's 

Western Design expedition to capture Spanish possessions in 

the Caribbean, and had taken part in the English seizure of 

Jamaica in 1655, for which he had been rewarded with two 

plantations. Jonathan's brother Caleb stayed on the 

plantations while Jonathan became a merchant in the then 

chief port city of Jamaica, Port Royal. The earthquake of 1692, 
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which nearly destroyed Port Royal, caused the Dickinson 

family great financial losses.  

Voyage and shipwreck 

In 1696 Jonathan Dickinson left Jamaica with the intention of 

settling with his family in Philadelphia. Dickinson and his 

family, which included his wife, Mary, their six-month-old son, 

Jonathan, and his ten slaves, took passage on the barkentine 

Reformation. The Journal opens with a list of everybody on the 

Reformation which looks like the dramatis personae of a play. 

This list included the Commander (or Master) and the Mate of 

the Reformation, five sailors, "the Master's boy", "the Master's 

Negro", the Dickinsons and their slaves, Robert Barrow, a 

prominent Quaker preacher, Benjamin Allen, a "kinsman" of 

Dickinson, and Venus, "an Indian Girl".  

The Reformation sailed from Port Royal on August 23, 1696 

(Old Style) as part of a convoy under the protection of the 

Royal Navy frigate HMS Hampshire. While drifting in calm 

weather, the Reformation became separated from the convoy. 

On September 18 a sudden wind blew a boom across the 

quarterdeck, breaking the leg of the Master, Joseph Kirle. On 

the same date Venus, the Indian girl, died after being ill for 

several days. By September 20, the Reformation was still in the 

straits between Cuba and Florida trying to avoid ships of the 

French fleet that they believed to be in the area. On September 

24 a storm, which may have been a hurricane, drove the ship 

onto a reef and then onto shore on Jupiter Island, Florida, a 

little ways north of Jupiter Inlet near present-day Hobe Sound.  
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All of the ship's party survived the shipwreck, and they soon 

began retrieving provisions and supplies from the wreck. 

Several of the party were sick, including the Dickinson infant, 

Robert Barrow, Benjamin Allen, and Joseph Kirle, whose leg 

had been broken a few days earlier. Within a few hours they 

were discovered by the local Jobe Indians (Dickinson spelled 

the name "Hoe-Bay"). The Jobes appropriated almost 

everything the shipwrecked party had brought out of the ship, 

and much that was still on the ship, although they showed no 

interest in the alcohol, sugar or molasses. The Jobes made 

threatening gestures and called the castaways "Nickaleer", by 

which they meant "English." Dickinson and Robert Barrow, 

being staunch Quakers, persuaded the others to not resist the 

Jobes, but to put their trust in God to protect them. One of the 

crewmen, Solomon Cresson, could speak Spanish well, and 

they resolved to say that they were Spanish. The Jobes acted 

as though they did not believe them, but may have been afraid 

of mistakenly treating Spanish nationals too harshly. The 

castaways indicated their desire to travel to Saint Augustine, 

but the Jobe Cacique (which Dickinson spelled "Caseekey") 

wanted them to go to Havana, Cuba instead.  

Jobe 

The Jobes took the castaways to their town at Jupiter Inlet. 

The Jobes continued to mistreat the castaways, stripping them 

of most of their clothes. On the other hand, a woman whom 

Dickinson believed to be the wife of the cacique nursed the 

Dickinson's infant son. When the Jobes offered the castaways 

food they were reluctant to eat, fearing that the Jobes wanted 

to fatten them for the cooking pot. Dickinson was troubled to 
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hear one of the Jobes say in English, "English son of a bitch", 

which made him fear that the Jobes had previously held 

English captives.  

The Jobes burned the wrecked Reformation, but brought the 

ship's boat to the town. On September 28 the party was 

allowed to leave the Jobe village, heading north to Saint 

Augustine. They were able to take some supplies that the Jobes 

did not want, including some wine, butter, sugar, and 

chocolate, and one of the ship's quadrants. One of Dickinson's 

slaves had kept a tinderbox and flint, and the party also had a 

couple of knives. To Dickinson's dismay, the Jobe Cacique 

insisted on keeping one of Dickinson's slaves, a boy named 

Caesar.  

The journey up the coast was difficult. The weak and sick 

members of the party were put in the ship's boat with some 

men to row it, while the rest walked along the shore. Drinking 

water was in short supply. They passed villages where the 

shore party would be harassed, but the travelers in the boat 

refused to land, fearing what treatment they would receive 

once all were on shore. They wanted to reach the town of Santa 

Lucea (just across the Old Indian River Inlet located just north 

of the modern, artificial Fort Pierce Inlet), even though Indians 

in the villages they passed warned that they would be killed 

there. As the town had a Spanish name, they hoped to find 

some sort of Spanish authority there.  

Santa Lucea 

On September 30 the party encountered Ais Indians from Santa 

Lucea, who called them "Nickaleer" even though Solomon 
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Cresson was speaking Spanish to them. They forcefully 

stripped the travelers, including the Dickinson infant, of all 

their remaining clothing, although one of the Indians 

afterwards gave a pair of breeches to Dickinson's wife. The 

Indians tore pages from a Bible the group carried and gave 

them to the travelers to cover themselves, but other Indians 

snatched away the pages. The Indians also threatened the 

travelers with arrows and knives. The party was taken to the 

town, and the travelers were eventually given local clothing, 

deer skins for the women and a sort of breechclout-apron for 

the men. The Indians finally fed the travelers. As Mary 

Dickinson's milk was failing, several women in the village 

nursed the Dickinson infant.  

The Indians of Santa Lucea were finally convinced that some of 

the travelers were Spanish. They did not think that the 

travelers with light-colored hair were Spanish, however. They 

told the travelers that they would be sent on to the next town. 

They also told the travelers that some "English off Bristol", six 

men and a woman, were being held at that town, and that the 

prisoners would be killed before the Reformation party reached 

there.  

In the middle of the night the travelers were suddenly forced to 

leave the town, and were escorted four miles up the beach by a 

crowd throwing rocks at them. At this point they realized that 

Solomon Cresson, Joseph Kirle's cabin boy, John Hilliard, and 

his slave, Ben, were not with them. The three remaining 

escorts kept them moving, repeatedly asking them if they were 

"Nickaleer". When the travelers said they were not, the escorts 

hit them. On October 2 the travelers passed the shipwreck they 

had heard of.  
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Jece 

At Jece (the chief town of the Ais), near present-day Sebastian, 

they were welcomed and given some pieces of clothing. They 

met the survivors of the shipwreck they had passed, which was 

the Nantwitch, part of the convoy from Port Royal. The 

Nantwitch had been driven ashore by the same storm that 

wrecked the Reformation. Later that evening the stragglers 

caught up with the main group. Solomon Cresson said he had 

been detained at Santa Lucea, while John Hilliard and Ben had 

been asleep in another house when the party was driven out of 

town.  

Upon hearing from the travelers what had been taken from 

them by the Cacique of Jobe, the Cacique of Jece, who 

appeared to be the paramount chief of the Ais, decided to go to 

Jobe to claim part of the plunder. While he was gone the town 

was hit by a severe storm, probably a hurricane, that flooded 

the town and nearly drowned the party. The cacique returned 

on October 11, bringing part of the goods plundered from the 

shipwreck, and the boy Caesar, who had been kept behind by 

the Cacique of Jobe. The cacique recognized that the goods 

from the Reformation were English, and now strongly doubted 

that the travelers were Spanish.  

The cacique indicated that he planned to travel to Saint 

Augustine, and would take one of the shipwrecked party with 

him. They eventually decided to send Solomon Cresson, as they 

feared the Indians living closer to Saint Augustine would know 

enough Spanish to recognize that the other members of the 

shipwreck party were not Spanish. The cacique left for Saint 

Augustine on October 18, taking Solomon Cresson and much of 
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the money that the Jobes had taken from the Reformation. The 

cacique told them it would be about a month before he 

returned.  

The stranded party suffered while the cacique was gone. The 

Indians of this part of the Florida coast did not cultivate crops, 

but lived on fish, shellfish and palmetto, cocoplum and 

seagrape berries in season. The berries were gone by this time, 

and the Jeces seldom gave the stranded party fish. They were 

reduced to eating the gills and guts of fish taken from a "dung-

hill", as Dickinson puts it. The party from the Reformation 

continued to worry about their fate. The Indians of Jece would 

alternately threaten the Reformation party and then tell them 

how they planned to kill the Nantwitch survivors.  

Mary Dickinson's milk was failing. Some women of the town 

would occasionally nurse the Dickinson infant, but there were 

other mothers in the town with insufficient milk, so there was 

little to spare for him. When a woman who had recently given 

birth, but had no milk, gave her child to Mary Dickinson to 

nurse, Mary did so, although she had little milk herself. This 

turned out to be to her benefit, however, as the Indians started 

giving her fish to eat so that she could produce enough milk 

for the Indian new-born, as well as her own child.  

Spanish soldiers 

On November 2 a squad of Spanish soldiers from Saint 

Augustine arrived in the town. They had brought the cacique 

back with them, but Solomon Cresson had been sent on to 

Saint Augustine. The Spanish soldiers treated the English 

castaways kindly, but were harsh to the Indians. The next day 
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they sent some of the English survivors from both ships north 

towards Saint Augustine on a catamaran they constructed from 

two canoes. The Spanish also sent for the Reformation's boat 

that had been left in Santa Lucea. On November 5 the rest of 

the English survivors departed for Saint Augustine in the boats 

from the two wrecked ships. This group quickly caught up with 

the first group.  

The combined party continued their journey with the Spanish 

escort. Food remained in short supply for the English party. 

The Spanish soldiers shared very little from their own supplies, 

and on one occasion the castaways had only boiled pumpkin 

leaves for their meal.  

On November 9 the escort of Spanish soldiers turned back 

south towards the two wrecked ships, leaving only one of them 

to guide the party to Saint Augustine. On November 10 the 

party was quartered in two adjacent towns of the Timucua 

people.  

The Spanish soldiers had told the English castaways that a 

group of stranded Dutch sailors had been killed and eaten in 

one of those towns a year earlier.  

On November 13 the party had to abandon their boats and 

walk along the shore. In their hurry to get to a Spanish 

sentinels' house that was near, the stronger members of the 

party pressed on, leaving the weaker behind.  

It was cold and the travelers, having little clothing, suffered 

greatly from it. Five of the group died of exposure that day: 

Dickinson's kinsman, Benjamin Allen, and four of his slaves, 

Jack, Caesar, Quenza, and a child named Cajoe.  
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Saint Augustine to Charles Town 

The Spanish soldiers at the sentinels' house had limited food 

supplies, and pushed the reluctant castaways to move on to 

the next sentinels' house. There were three sentinels' houses 

south of Saint Augustine that the travelers passed in 

succession. Dickinson reached Saint Augustine on November 

15. He found that all of the English there were being well 

treated by the Spanish. Dickinson, his wife and child, and 

Joseph Kirle and John Smith, the Master of the Nantwitch, 

stayed in the governor's house.  

The party of survivors left Saint Augustine in canoes on 

November 29. The governor had provided them with what 

supplies could be found in Saint Augustine. An escort of 

Spanish soldiers went with them. They stopped at Spanish 

outposts and Indian villages at night when they could, or 

camped on islands along the coast. On December 21 they 

reached the most southerly of the South Carolina plantations. 

They arrived in Charles Town on December 26.  

Philadelphia 

On March 18, 1696 (Old Style, the year number not changing 

until March 25) Jonathan Dickinson and his family and Robert 

Barrow sailed from Charles Town, reaching Philadelphia 

fourteen days later. On April 4, 1697, three days after reaching 

Philadelphia, Robert Barrow died. Jonathan Dickinson 

prospered in Philadelphia. He and his wife Mary had four 

children. He twice served as Mayor of Philadelphia, in 1712–

1713 and 1717–1719. Jonathan Dickinson died in 1722.  



Chapter 30 

Father Le Loutre's War 

Father Le Loutre's War (1749–1755), also known as the Indian 

War, the Micmac War and the Anglo-Micmac War, took place 

between King George's War and the French and Indian War in 

Acadia and Nova Scotia. On one side of the conflict, the British 

and New England colonists were led by British Officer Charles 

Lawrence and New England Ranger John Gorham. On the other 

side, Father Jean-Louis Le Loutre led the Mi'kmaq and the 

Acadia militia in guerrilla warfare against settlers and British 

forces. (At the outbreak of the war there were an estimated 

2500 Mi'kmaq and 12,000 Acadians in the region.)  

While the British captured Port Royal in 1710, the Mi'kmaq 

and Acadians continued to contain the British in settlements 

at Port Royal and Canso. The rest of the colony was in the 

control of the Catholic Mi'kmaq and Acadians. About forty 

years later, the British made a concerted effort to settle 

Protestants in the region and to establish military control over 

all of Nova Scotia and present-day New Brunswick, igniting 

armed response from Acadians in Father Le Loutre's War. The 

British settled 3,229 people in Halifax during the first years. 

This exceeded the number of Mi'kmaq in the entire region and 

was seen as a threat to the traditional occupiers of the land. 

The Mi'kmaq and some Acadians resisted the arrival of these 

Protestant settlers.  

The war caused unprecedented upheaval in the area. Atlantic 

Canada witnessed more population movements, more 

fortification construction, and more troop allocations than ever 
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before. Twenty-four conflicts were recorded during the war 

(battles, raids, skirmishes), thirteen of which were Mi'kmaq 

and Acadian raids on the capital region Halifax/Dartmouth. As 

typical of frontier warfare, many additional conflicts were 

unrecorded.  

During Father Le Loutre's War, the British attempted to 

establish firm control of the major Acadian settlements in 

peninsular Nova Scotia and to extend their control to the 

disputed territory of present-day New Brunswick. The British 

also wanted to establish Protestant communities in Nova 

Scotia.  

During the war, the Acadians and Mi'kmaq left Nova Scotia for 

the French colonies of Ile St. Jean (Prince Edward Island) and 

Ile Royale (Cape Breton Island). The French also tried to 

maintain control of the disputed territory of present-day New 

Brunswick. (Father Le Loutre tried to prevent the New 

Englanders from moving into present-day New Brunswick just 

as a generation earlier, during Father Rale's War,  

Rale had tried to prevent New Englanders from taking over 

present-day Maine.) Throughout the war, the Mi’kmaq and 

Acadians attacked the British forts in Nova Scotia and the 

newly established Protestant settlements. They wanted to 

retard British settlement and buy time for France to implement 

its Acadian resettlement scheme.  

The war began with the British establishing Halifax, settling 

more British settlers within six months than there were 

Mi'kmaq. In response, the Acadians and Mi'kmaq orchestrated 

attacks at Chignecto, Grand Pré, Dartmouth, Canso, Halifax 

and Country Harbour. The French erected forts at present-day 
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Fort Menagoueche, Fort Beauséjour and Fort Gaspareaux. The 

British responded by attacking the Mi'kmaq and Acadians at 

Mirligueche (later known as Lunenburg), Chignecto and St. 

Croix.  

The British unilaterally established communities in Lunenburg 

and Lawrencetown. Finally, the British erected forts in Acadian 

communities located at Windsor, Grand Pré and Chignecto. The 

war ended after six years with the defeat of the Mi'kmaq, 

Acadians and French in the Battle of Fort Beauséjour.  

Background 

• Acadian resistance to British-rule in Acadia began 

after Queen Anne's War, with the signing of the 

Treaty of Portsmouth in 1713. The treaty saw the 

French cede portions of New France to the British, 

including the Hudson Bay region, Newfoundland, and 

peninsular Acadia. Acadians had previously 

supported the French in three conflicts known as the 

French and Indian Wars. Acadians joined French 

privateer Pierre Maisonnat dit Baptiste as crew 

members in his victories over many British vessels 

during King William's War. After the Siege of 

Pemaquid, Pierre Le Moyne d'Iberville led a force of 

124 Canadians, Acadians, Mi'kmaq and Abenaki in 

the Avalon Peninsula Campaign. They destroyed 

almost every British settlement in Newfoundland, 

killed more than 100 British and captured many 

more. They deported almost 500 British colonists to 

England or France. 
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During Queen Anne's War, Mi’kmaq and Acadians resisted 

during the Raid on Grand Pré, Pisiquit, and Chignecto in 1704. 

The Acadians assisted the French in protecting the capital in 

the First siege of Port Royal and the final second siege of Port 

Royal.  

However, with the signing of the Treaty of Portsmouth in 1713, 

peninsular Acadia was formally ceded to the British. Although 

peace was formally reestablished with France, the British still 

faced resistance from the French colonists in the Acadian 

peninsula. During Father Rale's War, the Maliseet raided 

numerous British vessels on the Bay of Fundy while the 

Mi'kmaq raided Canso in 1723. In the latter engagement, the 

Mi'kmaq were supported by the Acadians.  

During these conflicts, the French and Acadian settlers were 

aligned with the Mi’kmaq, fighting alongside them during the 

Battle of Bloody Creek The Mi'kmaq, which formed a part of the 

Wabanaki Confederacy, had a long history of protecting their 

land by killing British soldiers and civilians along the New 

England/Acadia border in Maine.  

During the 17th and early-18th century, the Wabanaki fought 

in several campaigns, including in 1688, 1703, 1723, 1724, 

1745, 1746, and in 1747.  

• Hostilities between the British and French resumed 

during King George's War (1744–48). Supported by 

the French, Jean-Louis Le Loutre led a forces of 

French soldiers, and Acadians, and Mi’kmaq 

militiamen in efforts to recapture the capital, such 

as the Siege of Annapolis Royal. During this siege, 

the French officer Marin had taken British prisoners 
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and stopped with them further up the bay at 

Cobequid. While at Cobequid, an Acadian said that 

the French soldiers should have "left their [the 

British] carcasses behind and brought their skins." 

Le Loutre was also joined by the prominent Acadian 

resistance leader Joseph Broussard (Beausoleil). 

Broussard and other Acadians supported the French 

soldiers in the Battle of Grand Pré. During King 

George's War, Le Loutre, Gorham and Lawrence rose 

to prominence in the region. During the war, 

however, Massachusetts Governor Shirley 

acknowledged that Nova Scotia was still "scarcely" 

British and urged London to fund building forts in 

the Acadian communities. The signing of the Treaty 

of Aix-la-Chapelle in 1748 ended formal hostilities 

between British and French forces. With peace 

formally reestablished, the British began to 

consolidate its control over peninsular Acadia, 

leading further conflict with the Acadian and 

Mi'kmaq.  

At the outset of Le Loutre's war, along with the New England 

Ranger units, there were three British regiments at Halifax, the 

40th Regiment of Foot arrived from Annapolis, while the 29th 

Regiment of Foot (Peregrine Hopson's regiment) and 45th 

Regiment of Foot (Hugh Warburton's regiment) arrived from 

Louisbourg. The 47th Regiment (Peregrine Lascelles' regiment) 

arrived the following year (1750). At sea, Captain John Rous 

was the senior naval officer on the Nova Scotia station during 

the war. The main officer under his command was Silvanus 

Cobb. John Gorham also owned two armed schooners: the 

Anson and the Warren.  
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Course of war 

1749 

British consolidation of Nova Scotia 

The war began when Edward Cornwallis arrived to establish 

Halifax with 13 transports on June 21, 1749. The British 

quickly began to build other settlements. To guard against 

Mi'kmaq, Acadian and French attacks on the new Protestant 

settlements, British fortifications were erected in Halifax 

(Citadel Hill in 1749), Bedford (Fort Sackville in 1749), 

Dartmouth (1750), Lunenburg (1753) and Lawrencetown 

(1754).  

Within 18 months of establishing Halifax, the British 

attempted to take control of the Nova Scotia peninsula by 

building fortifications in all the major Acadian communities: 

present-day Windsor (Fort Edward); Grand Pré (Fort Vieux 

Logis) and Chignecto (Fort Lawrence). A British fort (Fort Anne) 

already existed at the other major Acadian centre of Annapolis 

Royal and Cobequid remained without a fort. Le Loutre is 

reported to have said that "the English might build as many 

Forts as they pleased but he wou'd take care that they shou'd 

not come out of them, for he was resolved to torment them with 

his Indians...." In fact, Mi'kmaq resistance kept the British 

largely holed up in their forts until the fall of Louisbourg 

(1758).  

By June 1751, Cornwallis wrote to the Board of Trade that his 

adversaries had "done as much harm to as they could have 
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done in open war." Richard Bulkeley wrote that between 1749 

and 1755, Nova Scotia "was kept in an uninterrupted state of 

war by the Acadians... and the reports of an officer 

commanding Fort Edward, [indicated he] could not be conveyed 

[to Halifax] with less an escort than an officer and thirty men." 

(Along with Bulkeley, Cornwallis' other Aide-de-camp was 

Horatio Gates.)  

The only land route between Louisbourg and Quebec went from 

Baie Verte through Chignecto, along the Bay of Fundy and up 

the Saint John River. With the establishment of Halifax, the 

French recognized at once the threat it represented and that 

the Saint John River corridor might be used to attack Quebec 

City itself. To protect this vital gateway, at the beginning of 

1749, the French strategically constructed three forts within 

18 months along the route: one at Baie Verte (Fort 

Gaspareaux), one at Chignecto (Fort Beausejour) and another 

at the mouth of the Saint John River (Fort Menagoueche). In 

response to Gorham's raid on the Saint John River in 1748, the 

Governor of Canada threatened to support native raids along 

the northern New England border. There were many previous 

raids from the Mi'kmaq militia and Maliseet Militias against 

British settlers on the border (1703, 1723, 1724, 1745, 1746, 

1747). During the war, along the former border of Acadia, the 

Kennebec River, the British built Fort Halifax (Winslow), Fort 

Shirley (Dresden, formerly Frankfurt) and Fort Western 

(Augusta).  

Acadian Exodus 

With demands for an unconditional oath, the British 

fortification of Nova Scotia, and the support of French policy, a 
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significant number of Acadians made a stand against the 

British. On 18 September 1749, a document was delivered to 

Edward Cornwallis signed by a total of 1000 Acadians, with 

representatives from all the major centres. The document 

stated that they would leave the country before they would sign 

an unconditional oath. Cornwallis continued to press for the 

unconditional oath rejecting their Christian Catholic Faith and 

accepting the Protestant Anglican Church with a deadline of 25 

October. In response, hundreds of Acadians were deported by 

the British with the confiscation of their homes, their lands 

and their cattle. The deportation of the Acadians by the British 

involved almost half of the total Acadian population of Nova 

Scotia. The expulsion was brutal often separating children 

from their families. The leader of the Exodus was Father Jean-

Louis Le Loutre, whom the British gave the code name "Moses". 

Historian Micheline Johnson described Le Loutre as "the soul 

of the Acadian resistance."  

Conflict begins 

The first Mi'kmaq breach of the Treaty of 1726 and 1748 was 

at Canso. On 19 August 1749, Lieutenant Joseph Gorham, 

younger brother of John Gorham (military officer), was under 

the command of William Clapham at Canso and his party was 

attacked by Mi'kmaq. They seized his vessel and took twenty 

prisoners and carried them off to Louisbourg ten days later on 

the 29th. After Cornwallis complained to the Governor of Ile 

Royale, sixteen of the prisoners were released to Halifax and 

the other four sent off on their own vessel. The year earlier the 

Mi'kmaq had seized Captain Ellingwood's vessel Success and 

he promised them 100 pounds and left his son hostage to have 

it released. Mikmaq reported they released the prisoners from 
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Canso. because Captain Ebenezer Ellingwood had paid the 

money but had not returned for his son.  

At the Isthmus of Chignecto in August 1749, the Mi'kmaq 

attacked two British vessels thought to be preventing Acadians 

from joining the Acadian Exodus by leaving Beaubassin for Ile 

St. Jean. On September 18, several Mi'kmaq and Maliseets 

ambushed and killed three British men at Chignecto. Seven 

natives were killed in the skirmish.  

On 24 September 1749, the Mi'kmaq formally wrote to 

Governor Cornwallis through French missionary Father 

Maillard, proclaiming their ownership of the land, and 

expressing their opposition to the British actions in settling at 

Halifax. Some historians have read this letter as declaration of 

hostility against the British. Other historians have questioned 

that interpretation.  

On September 30, 1749, about forty Mi'kmaq attacked six men 

during the Raid on Dartmouth. The six men, under the 

command of Major Gilman, were in Dartmouth, Nova Scotia 

cutting trees near a saw mill. Four of them were killed on the 

spot, one was taken prisoner and one escaped. Two of the men 

were scalped and the heads of the others were cut off. Major 

Ezekiel Gilman and others in his party escaped and gave the 

alarm. A detachment of rangers was sent after the raiding 

party and cut off the heads of two Mi'kmaq and scalped one. 

This raid was the first of eight against Dartmouth during the 

war.  

This raid was consistent with the Wabanaki Confederacy and 

New England's approach to warfare with each other since King 

William's War (1688).  
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Cornwallis' proclamation 

On October 1, 1749, Cornwallis convened a meeting of the 

Nova Scotia Council aboard HMS Beaufort. According to the 

minutes, in keeping with earlier treaties, the Council 

determined that they would treat the Mi'kmaq as rebellious 

British subjects rather than as war adversaries: "That, in their 

opinion to declare war formally against the Micmac Indians 

would be a manner to own them a free and independent people, 

whereas they ought to be treated as so many Banditti Ruffians, 

or Rebels, to His Majesty's Government."  

On October 2, 1749, the Nova Scotia Council issued the 

extirpation proclamation against the Mi’kmaq on peninsular 

Nova Scotia and those that assist them. The intent of the 

proclamation was to stop native raids on the British and to 

pressure the natives into "submission" to establish "peace and 

friendship." The proclamation outlined four strategies for 

people to pressure the natives: "annoy" them, "distress" them, 

kill them or take them prisoner. There was also a bounty of 10 

guinea given for a native killed or taken prisoner. The 

proclamation reads:  

"For, those cause we by and with the advice and consent of His 

Majesty's Council, do hereby authorize and command all 

Officers Civil and Military, and all His Majesty's Subjects or 

others to annoy, distress, take or destroy the Savage commonly 

called Micmac, wherever they are found, and all as such as 

aiding and assisting them, give further by and with the consent 

and advice of His Majesty's Council, do promise a reward of ten 

Guineas for every Indian Micmac taken or killed, to be paid 
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upon producing such Savage taken or his scalp (as in the 

custom of America) if killed to the Officer Commanding." 

To carry out this task, two companies of rangers were raised, 

one led by Captain Francis Bartelo and the other by Captain 

William Clapham. These two companies served alongside that 

of John Gorham's company. The three companies scoured the 

land around Halifax looking for Mi'kmaq. Three days after the 

bounty was ordered, on October 5, Governor Cornwallis sent 

Commander White with troops in the 20-gun sloop Sphinx to 

Mirligueche (Lunenburg).  

After two consecutive attacks on June 18 and then June 20, 

1750 Cornwallis deemed the initial proclamation ineffective 

and increased the bounty to 50 guinea on June 21, 1750. 

During Cornwallis' tenure there is evidence of one scalp being 

taken, no prisoners and three non-combatants being killed - 

three youth in 1752. 

Siege of Grand Pré 

Two months later, on November 27, 1749, 300 Mi'kmaq, 

Maliseet, and Acadians attacked Fort Vieux Logis, recently 

established by the British in the Acadian community of Grand 

Pré. The fort was under the command of Captain Handfield. 

The Native and Acadian militia killed the sentries (guards) who 

were firing on them. The Natives then captured Lieutenant 

John Hamilton and eighteen soldiers under his command, 

while surveying the fort's environs. After the British soldiers 

were captured, the native and Acadian militias made several 

attempts over the next week to lay siege to the fort before 

breaking off the engagement. Gorham's Rangers was sent to 
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relieve the fort. When he arrived, the militia had already 

departed with the prisoners. The prisoners spent several years 

in captivity before being ransomed. There was no fighting over 

the winter months, which was common in frontier warfare.  

1750–1751 

Battle at St. Croix 

The following spring, on March 18, 1750, John Gorham and his 

Rangers left Fort Sackville (at present day Bedford, Nova 

Scotia), under orders from Governor Cornwallis, to march to 

Piziquid (present day Windsor, Nova Scotia). Gorham's mission 

was to establish a blockhouse at Pisiquid, which became Fort 

Edward, and to seize the property of Acadians who had 

participated in the siege of Grand Pré.  

Arriving at about noon on March 20 at the Acadian village of 

Five Houses beside the St. Croix River, Gorham and his men 

found all the houses deserted. Seeing a group of Mi’kmaq 

hiding in the bushes on the opposite shore, the Rangers 

opened fire. The skirmish deteriorated into a siege, with 

Gorham's men taking refuge in a sawmill and two of the 

houses. During the fighting, the Rangers suffered three 

wounded, including Gorham, who sustained a bullet in the 

thigh. As the fighting intensified, a request was sent back to 

Fort Sackville for reinforcements.  

Responding to the call for assistance on March 22, Governor 

Cornwallis ordered Captain Clapham's and Captain St. Loe's 

Regiments, equipped with two field guns, to join Gorham at 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 4 

757 

Piziquid. The additional troops and artillery turned the tide for 

Gorham and forced the Mi’kmaq to withdraw.  

Gorham proceeded to present-day Windsor and forced Acadians 

to dismantle their church – Notre Dame de l'Assomption – so 

that Fort Edward could be built in its place.  

Battles at Chignecto 

In May 1750, Lawrence was unsuccessful in establishing 

himself at Chignecto because Le Loutre burned the village of 

Beaubassin, thereby preventing Lawrence from using the 

supplies of the village to establish a fort. (According to 

historian Frank Patterson, the Acadians at Cobequid burned 

their homes as they retreated from the British to 

Tatamagouche, Nova Scotia in 1754.) Lawrence retreated only 

to return in September 1750.  

On September 3, 1750 New England Ranger John Gorham led 

over 700 men to the Isthmus of Chignecto. Mi’kmaq and 

Acadians opposed the landing and killed twenty British. 

Several Mi’kmaq were killed and they were eventually 

overwhelmed by the invading force and withdrew, burning their 

crops and houses as they retreated. On 15 October (N.S.) a 

group of Micmacs disguised as French officers called a member 

of the Nova Scotia Council Edward How to a conference. This 

trap, organized by Chief Étienne Bâtard, gave him the 

opportunity to wound How seriously, and How died five or six 

days later, according to Captain La Vallière (probably Louis 

Leneuf de La Vallière), the only eyewitness.  

Le Loutre and Acadian militia leader Joseph Broussard resisted 

the British assault. The British troops defeated the resistance 
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and began construction of Fort Lawrence near the site of the 

ruined Acadian village of Beaubassin. The work on the fort 

proceeded rapidly and the facility was completed within weeks. 

To limit the British to peninsular Nova Scotia, the French 

began also to fortify the Chignecto and its approaches, 

constructing Fort Beausejour and two satellite forts – one at 

present-day Port Elgin, New Brunswick (Fort Gaspareaux) and 

the other at present-day Saint John, New Brunswick (Fort 

Menagoueche).  

During these months, 35 Mi'kmaq and Acadians ambushed 

Ranger Francis Bartelo, killing him and six of his men while 

taking seven others captive. The captives' bloodcurdling 

screams as the Mi'kmaq tortured them throughout the night 

had a chilling effect on the New Englanders.  

Raids on Halifax 

There were four raids on Halifax during the war. The first raid 

happened in October 1750, while in the woods on peninsular 

Halifax, Mi'kmaq scalped two British people and took six 

prisoner: Cornwallis' gardener, his son, and Captain William 

Clapham's book keeper were tortured and scalped. The 

Mi'kmaq buried the son while the gardener's body was left 

behind and the other six persons were taken prisoner to Grand 

Pre for five months. Shortly after this raid, Cornwallis learned 

that the Mi'kmaq had received payment from the French at 

Chignecto for five prisoners taken at Halifax as well as 

prisoners taken earlier at Dartmouth and Grand Pre.  

In 1751, there were two attacks on blockhouses surrounding 

Halifax. Mi'kmaq attacked the North Blockhouse (located at the 
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north end of Joseph Howe Drive) and killed the men on guard. 

Mi'kmaq also attacked near the South Blockhouse (located at 

the south end of Joseph Howe Drive), at a saw-mill on a stream 

flowing out of Chocolate Lake into the Northwest Arm. They 

killed two men.  

Battle off Baie Verte 

In August 1750, there was a naval battle off Baie Verte 

between British Captain Le Cras, of the Trial and the French 

sloop, London, of 70 tons. The London was seized to discover 

that it had been employed to carry stores of all kinds, arms, 

and ammunition, from Quebec to Le Loutre and the Mi'kmaq 

fighters. François Bigot, the intendant of New France had given 

instructions to the French captain to follow the orders of Le 

Loutre or La Corne, the bills of lading endorsed by Le Loutre, 

and other papers and letters, were found on board of her, with 

four deserters from Cornwallis' regiment, and a family of 

Acadians. The prize and her papers were sent to Halifax.  

Port Joli 

About 1750, the Mi'kmaq captured a New England fishing 

schooner off of Port Joli and tortured the crew members. To the 

west of St. Catherines River, the Mi'kmaq heated "Durham 

Rock" and forced each crew member to burn on the rock or 

jump to their death into the ocean.  

Battle off Port La Tour (1750) 

In mid September 1750 French officer Louis Du Pont 

Duchambon de Vergor (later the commander at Fort 
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Beausejour) was dispatched aboard the brigantine Saint-

François to convoy the schooner Aimable Jeanne, which was 

carrying munitions and supplies from Quebec to the Saint 

John River for Boishebert at Fort Boishebert. Early on 16 

October, about ten leagues west of Cape Sable (present-day 

Port La Tour, Nova Scotia and area), British Captain John 

Rous in HMS Albany overtook the French vessels.  

Despite inferior armament, Vergor engaged the sloop, allowing 

Aimable Jeanne to reach Fort Boishebert. The action lasted the 

better part of the day, after which, with only seven men fit out 

of 50 and Saint-François unmasted and sinking, Vergor was 

obliged to yield. Three of Rous' crew were killed. The French 

ship contained a large quantity of provision, uniforms and 

warlike supplies. Cornwallis noted that this action was the 

second time he had caught the Governor of Canada sending a 

ship of military supplies to the Mi'kmaq to use against the 

British. By the end of the year, Cornwallis estimated that there 

were no less than eight to ten French vessels which unloaded 

war supplies for the Mi'kmaq, French, and Acadians at Saint 

John River and Baye Vert. In response to their defeat in the 

Battle off Port La Tour, the Governor of Canada ordered four 

British sloops to be seized at Louisbourg.  

Raids on Dartmouth 

There were six raids on Dartmouth during this time period. In 

July 1750, the Mi'kmaq killed and scalped 7 men who were at 

work in Dartmouth.  

In August 1750, 353 people arrived on the Alderney and began 

the town of Dartmouth. The town was laid out in the autumn of 
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that year. The following month, on September 30, 1750, 

Dartmouth was attacked again by the Mi'kmaq and five more 

residents were killed. In October 1750 a group of about eight 

men went out "to take their diversion; and as they were 

fowling, they were attacked by the Indians, who took the whole 

prisoners; scalped ... [one] with a large knife, which they wear 

for that purpose, and threw him into the sea ..."  

The following spring, on March 26, 1751, the Mi'kmaq attacked 

again, killing fifteen settlers and wounding seven, three of 

which would later die of their wounds. They took six captives, 

and the regulars who pursued the Mi'kmaq fell into an ambush 

in which they lost a sergeant killed. Two days later, on March 

28, 1751, Mi'kmaq abducted another three settlers.  

Two months later, on May 13, 1751, Broussard led sixty 

Mi'kmaq and Acadians to attack Dartmouth again, in what 

would be known as the "Dartmouth Massacre". Broussard and 

the others killed twenty settlers – mutilating men, women, 

children and babies – and took more prisoners. A sergeant was 

also killed and his body mutilated. They destroyed the 

buildings. The British returned to Halifax with the scalp of one 

Mi'kmaq warrior, however, they reported that they killed six 

Mi'kmaq warriors. Captain William Clapham and sixty soldiers 

were on duty and fired from the blockhouse. The British killed 

six Mi'kmaq warriors, but were only able to retrieve one scalp 

that they took to Halifax. Those at a camp at Dartmouth Cove, 

led by John Wisdom, assisted the settlers. Upon returning to 

their camp the next day they found the Mi'kmaq had also 

raided their camp and taken a prisoner. All the settlers were 

scalped by the Mi'kmaq. The British took what remained of the 

bodies to Halifax for burial in the Old Burying Ground.  
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Raid on Chignecto 

The British retaliated for the raid on Dartmouth by sending 

several armed companies to Chignecto. A few French defenders 

were killed and the dikes were breached. Hundreds of acres of 

crops were ruined which was disastrous for the Acadians and 

the French troops. In the summer of 1752 Father Le Loutre 

went to Quebec and then on to France to advocate for supplies 

to re-build the dikes. He returned in the spring of 1753.  

1752–1753 

In 1752, the Mi'kmaq attacks on the British along the coast, 

both east and west of Halifax, were frequent. Those who were 

engaged in the fisheries were compelled to stay on land 

because they were the primary targets. In early July, New 

Englanders killed and scalped two Mi'kmaq girls and one boy 

off the coast of Cape Sable (Port La Tour, Nova Scotia). In 

August, at St. Peter's, Nova Scotia, Mi'kmaq seized two 

schooners – the Friendship from Halifax and the Dolphin from 

New England – along with 21 prisoners who were captured and 

ransomed.  

By the summer of 1752, the war had not been going well for 

the British. The Acadian Exodus remained strong. The war had 

bankrupted the colony. As well, two of the three ranger leaders 

had died. In August 1751, the main ranger leader John 

Gorham left for London and died there of disease in December. 

Ranger leader Captain Francis Bartelo had been killed in 

action at Chignecto, while the other ranger leader Captain 

William Clapham had been disgraced, failing to prevent the 

Dartmouth Massacre. John Gorham was succeeded by his 
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younger brother Joseph Gorham. In 1752, to reduce the 

expense of the war, the companies raised in 1749 were 

disbanded, bringing down the strength of the unit to only one 

company. This reduction led to the 22 March 1753 resolution 

for a militia that would be raised from the colonists to 

establish the security of the colony, in which all British 

subjects between the ages of 16 and 60 were compelled to 

serve. On April 21, 1753, at Torbay, the Mi'kmaq fighters killed 

two British. Throughout 1753, French authorities on Cape 

Breton Island were paying Mi'kmaq warriors for the scalps of 

the British. In June 1753, the London Magazine reported that 

"the war with the Indians hath hitherto hindered the 

inhabitants going far into the woods."  

On 14 September 1752 Governor Peregrine Hopson and the 

Nova Scotia Council negotiated the Treaty of 1752 with Jean-

Baptiste Cope. (The treaty was signed officially on November 

22, 1752.) Cope was unsuccessful in getting support for the 

treaty from other Mi'kmaq leaders. Cope burned the treaty six 

months after he signed it. Despite the collapse of peace on the 

eastern shore, the British did not formally renounce the Treaty 

of 1752 until 1756.  

Attack at Mocodome 

On February 21, 1753, nine Mi'kmaq from Nartigouneche 

(present-day Antigonish, Nova Scotia) in canoes attacked a 

British vessel at Country Harbour. The vessel was from Canso 

and had a crew of four. The Mi'kmaq fired on them and drove 

them toward the shore. Other natives joined in and boarded 

the schooner, forcing them to run their vessel into an inlet. 

The Mi'kmaq killed and scalped two of the British and took two 
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others captive. After seven weeks in captivity, on April 8, the 

two British prisoners – one of which was John Connor – killed 

six Mi'kmaq and managed to escape. The Mi'kmaq account of 

this attack was that the two English died of natural causes and 

the other two killed seven of the Mi'kmaq for their scalps.  

Attack at Jeddore 

In response, on the night of April 21, under the leadership of 

Chief Jean-Baptiste Cope and the Mi'kmaq attacked another 

British schooner in a battle at sea off Jeddore, Nova Scotia. On 

board were nine British men and one Acadian (Casteel), who 

was the pilot. The Mi'kmaq killed and scalped the British and 

let the Acadian off at Port Toulouse, where the Mi'kmaq sank 

the schooner after looting it. In August 1752, the Mi'kmaq at 

Saint Peter's seized the schooners Friendship of Halifax and 

Dolphin of New England and took 21 prisoners who they held 

for ransom. In May 1753, natives scalped two British soldiers 

at Fort Lawrence.  

Raid on Halifax 

In late September 1752, Mi’kmaq scalped a man they had 

caught outside the palisade of Fort Sackvillle. In 1753, when 

Lawrence became governor, the Mi'kmaq attacked again upon 

the sawmills near the South Blockhouse on the Northwest Arm, 

where they killed three British. The Mi'kmaq made three 

attempts to retrieve the bodies for their scalps. On the 

otherside of the harbour in Dartmouth, in 1753, there were 

reported only to be five families, all of whom refused to farm 

for fear of being attacked if they left the confines of the 

picketed fence around the village. On 23 July 1753, Governor 
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Hobson reported to the Board of Trade on the "continual war 

we have with the Indians." Governor Hobson in his letter to the 

Board of Trade, dated 1 October 1753, says, "At Dartmouth 

there is a small town well picketed in, and a detachment of 

troops to protect it, but there are not above five families 

residing in it, as there is no trade or fishing to maintain any 

inhabitants, and they apprehend danger from the Indians in 

cultivating any land on the outer side of the pickets."  

The Lunenburg Rebellion 

In the spring of 1753, it became public knowledge that the 

British were planning to unilaterally establish the settlement 

of Lunenburg, that is, without negotiating with the Mi'kmaq 

people. The British decision was a continuation of violations of 

an earlier treaty and undermined Chief Jean-Baptiste Cope's 

1752 Peace Treaty. As a result, Governor Peregrine Hopson 

received warnings from Fort Edward that as many as 300 

natives nearby were prepared to oppose the settlement of 

Lunenburg and intended to attack upon the arrival of settlers. 

The move was part of the British government campaign to 

establish Protestants in Nova Scotia against the power of 

Catholic Acadians. This also served the dual purpose of getting 

rid of Foreign Protestants from Halifax that had become 

problematic out of their frustration due to mistreatment by the 

British.  

In June 1753, 1400 German and French Protestant settlers, 

supervised by Lawrence and protected by the British Navy 

ships, a unit of Regular soldiers under Major Patrick 

Sutherland, and a unit of rangers under Joseph Gorham, 

established the village of Lunenberg. The settlement was 
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founded by two British army officers John Creighton and 

Patrick Sutherland and German-immigrant local official 

Dettlieb Christopher Jessen.  

In August 1753, Le Loutre paid Mi'kmaq for 18 British scalps 

which they took from the English in different incursions that 

they had made on their establishments over the summer.  

In mid December 1753, within six months of their arrival at 

Lunenburg, Nova Scotia, the new settlers, who were mostly 

Foreign Protestants and weary from resettlement and poor 

conditions, rebelled against the British.  

They were supported by Le Loutre. The rebellion is often 

referred to as "The Hoffman Insurrection," because it was led 

by John Hoffman, one of the army captains who had 

established the settlers in the town.  

Hoffman led a mob that eventually locked up in one of the 

blockhouses the Justice of the Peace and some of Commander 

Patrick Sutherland's troops. The rebels then declared a 

republic. Commander Patrick Sutherland at Lunenburg asked 

for reinforcements from Halifax and Lawrence sent Colonel 

Robert Monckton with troops to restore order.  

Monckton arrested Hoffman and took him to Halifax. Hoffman 

was charged with planning to join the French and take a large 

number of settlers with him. He was fined and imprisoned on 

Georges Island (Nova Scotia) for two years. After the rebellion a 

number of the French and German-speaking Foreign 

Protestants left the village to join Le Loutre and the Acadians. 

Lawrence and his deputy refused to send Acadians to the area 

for fear of their influence on the local population.  
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Dyking on riviere Au Lac 

Le Loutre and the Acadian refugees at Chignecto struggled to 

create dykes that would support the new communities that 

resulted from the Acadian Exodus. In the first winter (1749), 

the Acadians survived on rations waiting for the dykes to be 

built. Acadians from Minas were a constant support in 

providing provisions and labour on the dykes. In retaliation for 

the Acadian and Mi’kmaq Raid on Dartmouth (1751), the 

British raided Chignecto destroying the dykes and ruining 

hundreds of acres of crops. Acadians began to defect from the 

exodus and made application to return to the British colony. 

Le Loutre immediately sought help from Quebec and then 

France to support re-building dykes in the area. He returned 

with success in May 1753 and work began on the grand dyking 

project on riviere Au Lac (present day Aulac River, New 

Brunswick). At this time, there were 2000 Acadians and about 

300 Mi'kmaq encamped near-by.  

By the summer of 1754, Le Loutre's amazing engineering feats 

manifested themselves on the great sweeping marshlands of 

the isthmus; he now had in his workforce and within a forty-

eight-hour marching radius about 1400 to 1500 Acadian men. 

Nearby at Baie Verte there was a summer encampment of about 

400 natives that would have been one of the largest 

concentrations of Native people in the Atlantic region at the 

time. Altogether, he had a substantial fighting force capable of 

defending itself against anything the Nova Scotia Government 

might have mustered at the time. Unfortunately, that year 

storm tides broke through the main cross-dike of the large-

scale reclamation project, destroying nearly everything the 
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Acadians had accomplished in several months of intense work. 

Again some Acadians tried to defect to the British.  

1754–1755 

Raid on Lawrencetown 

In 1754, the British established Lawrencetown. In late April 

1754, Beausoleil and a large band of Mi'kmaq and Acadians 

left Chignecto for Lawrencetown. They arrived in mid-May and 

in the night open fired on the village. Beausoleil killed and 

scalped four British settlers and two soldiers. By August, as 

the raids continued, the residents and soldiers were withdrawn 

to Halifax. By June 1757, the settlers had to be withdrawn 

completely again from the settlement of Lawrencetown because 

the number of Native raids eventually prevented settlers from 

leaving their houses.  

Prominent Halifax business person Michael Francklin was 

captured by a Mi'kmaq raiding party in 1754 and held captive 

for three months. Another captivity narrative was written by 

Henry Grace was taken captive by the Mi'kmaq near Fort 

Cumberland in the early 1750s. The narrative was entitled, 

"The History of the Life and Sufferings of Henry Grace" 

(Boston, 1764).  

Port Joli 

In 1754, late one evening, a canoe full of Mi'kmaq fighters 

attempted to destroy the rudder of a New England fishing 

vessel. The New England crew sank the canoe and all the 
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Mi'kmaq drowned except Molly Pigtow who was captured and 

taken back to New England.  

Battle off Port La Tour (1755) 

In April 1755, while searching for a wrecked vessel at Port La 

Tour, Cobb discovered the French schooner Marguerite 

(Margarett), taking war supplies to the Saint John River for 

Boishebert at Fort Menagoueche. Cobb returned to Halifax with 

the news and was ordered by Governor Charles Lawrence to 

blockade the harbour until Captain William Kensey arrived in 

the warship HMS Vulture, and then to assist Kensey in 

capturing the French prize and taking it to Halifax.  

In the action of 8 June 1755, a naval battle off Cape Race, 

Newfoundland, the British found on board the French ships 

Alcide and Lys 10,000 scalping knives for Acadians and 

Indians serving under Mi'kmaq Chief Cope and Acadian 

Beausoleil as they continued to fight Father Le Loutre's War. 

The British also thwarted French supplies from reaching 

Acadians and Mi'kmaq resisting the British in the previous 

war, King George's War—see First Battle of Cape Finisterre 

(1747).  

Battle of Fort Beauséjour 

On May 22, 1755, the British commanded a fleet of three 

warships and thirty-three transports carrying 2,100 soldiers 

from Boston, Massachusetts; they landed at Fort Lawrence on 

June 3, 1755. The following day the British forces attacked 

Fort Beausejour using the plan created by spy Thomas Pichon. 

After the Fort's capitulation the French forces evacuated on 
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June 16, 1755 to Fort Gaspereaux en route to Louisbourg, 

arriving on June 24, 1755. Shortly after, Monckton dispatched 

Captain John Rous to take Fort Menagoueche at the mouth of 

the St. John River. Boishebert, seeing that resistance was 

futile, destroyed the fort and retreated upriver to Belleisle Bay. 

There he erected a camp volant and constructed a small 

battery as a rear guard for the Acadian settlements on the 

river. which the French destroyed themselves to prevent it from 

falling into British hands. This battle proved to be one of the 

key victories for the British in the Seven Years' War, in which 

Great Britain gained control of nearly all of New France.  

Trade during the war 

During Father Le Loutre's War, Minas Basin communities 

willingly responded to the call from Le Loutre for basic food 

stuffs. The bread basket of the region, they raised wheat and 

other grains, produced flour in no fewer than eleven mills, and 

sustained herds of several thousand head of cattle, sheep and 

hogs. Regular cattle droves made their way over a road from 

Cobequid to Tatamagouche for the supply of Beausejour, 

Louisbourg, and settlements on Ile St. Jean. Other exports 

went by sea from Minas Basin to Beaubassin or to the mouth 

of the St. John River, carried in Acadian vessels by Acadian 

middlemen.  

At the same time, Acadians began to refuse to trade with the 

British. By 1754, no Acadian produce was reaching the Halifax 

market. While the French pressured Acadians not to trade with 

Halifax, even when British merchants tried to buy directly from 

Acadians, they were refused. Acadians refused to supply Fort 

Edward with any firewood. Lawrence passed a Corn Law, 
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forbidding Acadian exports until Halifax market had been 

supplied. The British devised a war plan for Nova Scotia that 

focused on cutting off the food supply to Fort Beauséjour and 

Louisbourg. This plan involved both siege tactics but also 

cutting of the source of the supply.  

Aftermath 

Father Le Loutre's War had done much to create the condition 

of total war; British civilians had not been spared, and, as 

Lawrence saw it, Acadian civilians had provided intelligence, 

sanctuary, and logistical support while others actually fought 

in armed conflict. More than any other single factor – including 

the massive assault that eventually forced the surrender of 

Louisbourg – the supply problem spelled doom to French power 

in the region. To cut off the supply to the French, Lawrence 

realized he could do this, in part, by deporting the Acadians.  

With the fall of Beausejour, Le Loutre was imprisoned and the 

Acadian expulsion began. During the French and Indian War, 

the British forces rounded up French settlers starting with the 

Bay of Fundy Campaign (1755). The British deported the 

Acadians and burned their villages at Chignecto to prevent 

their return.  

The Acadian Exodus from Nova Scotia during the war spared 

most of those who joined it – particularly those who went to Ile 

St. Jean and Ile Royal – from the British expulsion of the 

Acadians in 1755. However, with the fall of Louisbourg in 

1758, the Acadians who left for the French colonies were 

deported as well.  



Chapter 31 

Thirteen Colonies 

The Thirteen Colonies, also known as the Thirteen British 

Colonies or the Thirteen American Colonies, were a group of 

British colonies on the Atlantic coast of North America. 

Founded in the 17th and 18th centuries, they declared 

independence in 1776 and together formed the United States of 

America.  

The Thirteen Colonies had very similar political, constitutional, 

and legal systems. They were dominated by Protestant English-

speakers, and the New England colonies (Massachusetts, 

Connecticut, Rhode Island and New Hampshire), as well as the 

colonies of Maryland and Pennsylvania were founded primarily 

for the furtherance of religious beliefs. The other colonies were 

founded for business and economic expansion. All thirteen 

colonies were part of Britain's possessions in the New World, 

which also included territory in Canada, Florida, and the 

Caribbean. The colonial population grew from about 2,000 to 

2.4 million between 1625 and 1775, displacing Native 

Americans. This population included people subject to a 

system of slavery which was legal in all of the colonies prior to 

the American Revolutionary War. In the 18th century, the 

British government operated its colonies under a policy of 

mercantilism, in which the central government administered its 

possessions for the economic benefit of the mother country.  

The Thirteen Colonies had a high degree of self-governance and 

active local elections, and they resisted London's demands for 

more control. The French and Indian War (1754–1763) against 
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France and its Indian allies led to growing tensions between 

Britain and the Thirteen Colonies. During the 1750s, the 

colonies began collaborating with one another instead of 

dealing directly with Britain. These inter-colonial activities 

cultivated a sense of shared American identity and led to calls 

for protection of the colonists' "Rights as Englishmen", 

especially the principle of "no taxation without representation". 

Conflicts with the British government over taxes and rights led 

to the American Revolution, in which the colonies worked 

together to form the Continental Congress. The colonists 

fought the American Revolutionary War (1775–1783) with the 

aid of the Kingdom of France and, to a much smaller degree, 

the Dutch Republic and the Kingdom of Spain. Just prior to 

declaring independence, the Thirteen Colonies consisted of New 

Hampshire, Massachusetts, Connecticut, Rhode Island, New 

York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Delaware, Maryland, Virginia, 

North Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia.  

British colonies 

In 1606, King James I of England granted charters to both the 

Plymouth Company and the London Company for the purpose 

of establishing permanent settlements in America. The London 

Company established the Colony and Dominion of Virginia in 

1607, the first permanently settled English colony on the 

continent. The Plymouth Company founded the Popham Colony 

on the Kennebec River, but it was short-lived. The Plymouth 

Council for New England sponsored several colonization 

projects, culminating with Plymouth Colony in 1620 which was 

settled by English Puritan separatists, known today as the 

Pilgrims. The Dutch, Swedish, and French also established 
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successful American colonies at roughly the same time as the 

English, but they eventually came under the English crown. 

The Thirteen Colonies were complete with the establishment of 

the Province of Georgia in 1732, although the term "Thirteen 

Colonies" became current only in the context of the American 

Revolution.  

In London beginning in 1660, all colonies were governed 

through a state department known as the Southern 

Department, and a committee of the Privy Council called the 

Board of Trade and Plantations. In 1768, a specific state 

department was created for America, but it was disbanded in 

1782 when the Home Office took responsibility.  

New England colonies 

1. Province of Massachusetts Bay, chartered as a royal colony 

in 1691  

• Popham Colony, established in 1607; abandoned in 

1608 

• Plymouth Colony, established in 1620; merged with 

Massachusetts Bay Colony in 1691 

• Province of Maine, patent issued in 1622 by Council 

for New England; patent reissued by Charles I in 

1639; absorbed by Massachusetts Bay Colony by 

1658 

• Massachusetts Bay Colony, established in 1629; 

merged with Plymouth Colony in 1691 

2. Province of New Hampshire, established in 1629; merged 

with Massachusetts Bay Colony in 1641; chartered as royal 

colony in 1679  
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3. Connecticut Colony, established in 1636; chartered as royal 

colony in 1662  

• Saybrook Colony, established in 1635; merged with 

Connecticut Colony in 1644 

• New Haven Colony, established in 1638; merged with 

Connecticut Colony in 1664 

4. Colony of Rhode Island chartered as royal colony in 1663  

• Providence Plantations established by Roger Williams 

in 1636 

• Portsmouth established in 1638 by John Clarke, 

William Coddington, and others 

• Newport established in 1639 after a disagreement 

and split among the settlers in Portsmouth 

• Warwick established in 1642 by Samuel Gorton 

• These four settlements merged into a single Royal 

colony in 1663 

Plymouth, Massachusetts Bay, Connecticut, and New Haven 

Colonies formed the New England Confederation in (1643–

1654; 1675–c. 1680) and all New England colonies were 

included in the Dominion of New England (1686–1689).  

Middle colonies 

5. Delaware Colony (before 1776, the Lower Counties on 

Delaware), established in 1664 as proprietary colony  

6. Province of New York, established as a proprietary colony in 

1664; chartered as royal colony in 1686; included in the 

Dominion of New England (1686–1689)  
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7. Province of New Jersey, established as a proprietary colony 

in 1664; chartered as a royal colony in 1702  

• East Jersey, established in 1674; merged with West 

Jersey to re-form Province of New Jersey in 1702; 

included in the Dominion of New England 

• West Jersey, established in 1674; merged with East 

Jersey to re-form Province of New Jersey in 1702; 

included in the Dominion of New England 

8. Province of Pennsylvania, established in 1681 as a 

proprietary colony  

Southern colonies 

9. Colony and Dominion of Virginia, established in 1607 as a 

proprietary colony; chartered as a royal colony in 1624  

10. Province of Maryland, established 1632 as a proprietary 

colony  

– Province of Carolina, initial charter issued in 1629; initial 

settlements established after 1651; initial charter voided in 

1660 by Charles II; rechartered as a proprietary colony in 

1663. (Earlier, along the coast, the Roanoke Colony was 

established in 1585; re-established in 1587; and found 

abandoned in 1590.) The Carolina province was divided into 

separate proprietary colonies, north and south in 1712.  

11. Province of North Carolina, previously part of the Carolina 

province until 1712; chartered as a royal colony in 1729.  
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12. Province of South Carolina, previously part of the Carolina 

province until 1712; chartered as a royal colony in 1729  

13. Province of Georgia, established as a proprietary colony in 

1732; royal colony from 1752.  

17th century 

Southern colonies 

The first successful English colony was Jamestown, 

established May 14, 1607, near Chesapeake Bay. The business 

venture was financed and coordinated by the London Virginia 

Company, a joint-stock company looking for gold. Its first 

years were extremely difficult, with very high death rates from 

disease and starvation, wars with local Native Americans, and 

little gold. The colony survived and flourished by turning to 

tobacco as a cash crop.  

In 1632, King Charles I granted the charter for Province of 

Maryland to Cecil Calvert, 2nd Baron Baltimore. Calvert's 

father had been a prominent Catholic official who encouraged 

Catholic immigration to the English colonies. The charter 

offered no guidelines on religion.  

The Province of Carolina was the second attempted English 

settlement south of Virginia, the first being the failed attempt 

at Roanoke. It was a private venture, financed by a group of 

English Lords Proprietors who obtained a Royal Charter to the 

Carolinas in 1663, hoping that a new colony in the south 

would become profitable like Jamestown. Carolina was not 

settled until 1670, and even then the first attempt failed 
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because there was no incentive for emigration to that area. 

Eventually, however, the Lords combined their remaining 

capital and financed a settlement mission to the area led by Sir 

John Colleton. The expedition located fertile and defensible 

ground at what became Charleston, originally Charles Town for 

Charles II of England.  

Middle colonies 

Beginning in 1609, Dutch traders explored and established fur 

trading posts on the Hudson River, Delaware River, and 

Connecticut River, seeking to protect their interests in the fur 

trade. The Dutch West India Company established permanent 

settlements on the Hudson River, creating the Dutch colony of 

New Netherland. In 1626, Peter Minuit purchased the island of 

Manhattan from the Lenape Indians and established the 

outpost of New Amsterdam. Relatively few Dutch settled in New 

Netherland, but the colony came to dominate the regional fur 

trade. It also served as the base for extensive trade with the 

English colonies, and many products from New England and 

Virginia were carried to Europe on Dutch ships. The Dutch 

also engaged in the burgeoning Atlantic slave trade, taking 

enslaved Africans to the English colonies in North America and 

Barbados. The West India Company desired to grow New 

Netherland as it became commercially successful, yet the 

colony failed to attract the same level of settlement as the 

English colonies did. Many of those who did immigrate to the 

colony were English, German, Walloon, or Sephardim.  

In 1638, Sweden established the colony of New Sweden in the 

Delaware Valley. The operation was led by former members of 

the Dutch West India Company, including Peter Minuit. New 
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Sweden established extensive trading contacts with English 

colonies to the south and shipped much of the tobacco 

produced in Virginia. The colony was conquered by the Dutch 

in 1655, while Sweden was engaged in the Second Northern 

War.  

Beginning in the 1650s, the English and Dutch engaged in a 

series of wars, and the English sought to conquer New 

Netherland. Richard Nicolls captured the lightly defended New 

Amsterdam in 1664, and his subordinates quickly captured the 

remainder of New Netherland. The 1667 Treaty of Breda ended 

the Second Anglo-Dutch War and confirmed English control of 

the region. The Dutch briefly regained control of parts of New 

Netherland in the Third Anglo-Dutch War, but surrendered 

claim to the territory in the 1674 Treaty of Westminster, 

ending the Dutch colonial presence in North America.  

After the Second Anglo-Dutch War, the British renamed the 

colony "York City" or "New York". Large numbers of Dutch 

remained in the colony, dominating the rural areas between 

New York City and Albany, while people from New England 

started moving in as well as immigrants from Germany. New 

York City attracted a large polyglot population, including a 

large black slave population. In 1674, the proprietary colonies 

of East Jersey and West Jersey were created from lands 

formerly part of New York.  

Pennsylvania was founded in 1681 as a proprietary colony of 

Quaker William Penn. The main population elements included 

the Quaker population based in Philadelphia, a Scotch-Irish 

population on the Western frontier and numerous German 

colonies in between. Philadelphia became the largest city in the 
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colonies with its central location, excellent port, and a 

population of about 30,000.  

New England 

The Pilgrims were a small group of Puritan separatists who felt 

that they needed to distance themselves physically from the 

Church of England, which they perceived as corrupted. They 

initially moved to the Netherlands, but eventually sailed to 

America in 1620 on the Mayflower. Upon their arrival, they 

drew up the Mayflower Compact, by which they bound 

themselves together as a united community, thus establishing 

the small Plymouth Colony. William Bradford was their main 

leader. After its founding, other settlers traveled from England 

to join the colony.  

More Puritans immigrated in 1629 and established the 

Massachusetts Bay Colony with 400 settlers. They sought to 

reform the Church of England by creating a new, ideologically 

pure church in the New World. By 1640, 20,000 had arrived; 

many died soon after arrival, but the others found a healthy 

climate and an ample food supply. The Plymouth and 

Massachusetts Bay colonies together spawned other Puritan 

colonies in New England, including the New Haven, Saybrook, 

and Connecticut colonies. During the 17th century, the New 

Haven and Saybrook colonies were absorbed by Connecticut.  

Roger Williams established Providence Plantations in 1636 on 

land provided by Narragansett sachem Canonicus. Williams 

was a Puritan who preached religious tolerance, separation of 

Church and State, and a complete break with the Church of 

England. He was banished from the Massachusetts Bay Colony 
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over theological disagreements; he founded the settlement 

based on an egalitarian constitution, providing for majority 

rule "in civil things" and "liberty of conscience" in religious 

matters. In 1637, a second group including Anne Hutchinson 

established a second settlement on Aquidneck Island, also 

known as Rhode Island.  

On October 19, 1652, the Massachusetts General Court 

decreed that "for the prevention of clipping of all such pieces of 

money as shall be coined with-in this jurisdiction, it is ordered 

by this Courte and the authorite thereof, that henceforth all 

pieces of money coined shall have a double ring on either side, 

with this inscription, Massachusetts, and a tree in the center 

on one side, and New England and the yeare of our Lord on the 

other side. "These coins were the famous "tree" pieces. There 

were Willow Tree Shillings, Oak Tree Shillings, and Pine Tree 

Shillings" minted by John Hull and Robert Sanderson in the 

"Hull Mint" on Summer Street in Boston, Massachusetts. "The 

Pine Tree was the last to be coined, and today there are 

specimens in existence, which is probably why all of these 

early coins are referred to as "the pine tree shillings."   The 

"Hull Mint" was forced to close in 1683.   In 1684 the charter 

of Massachusetts was revoked by the king Charles II.   

Other colonists settled to the north, mingling with adventurers 

and profit-oriented settlers to establish more religiously 

diverse colonies in New Hampshire and Maine. Massachusetts 

absorbed these small settlements when it made significant land 

claims in the 1640s and 1650s, but New Hampshire was 

eventually given a separate charter in 1679. Maine remained a 

part of Massachusetts until achieving statehood in 1820.  
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In 1685, King James II of England closed the legislatures and 

consolidated the New England colonies into the Dominion of 

New England, putting the region under the control of Governor 

Edmund Andros. In 1688, the colonies of New York, West 

Jersey, and East Jersey were added to the dominion. Andros 

was overthrown and the dominion was closed in 1689, after the 

Glorious Revolution deposed King James II; the former colonies 

were re-established. According to Guy Miller, the Rebellion of 

1689 was the "climax of the 60-year-old struggle between the 

government in England and the Puritans of Massachusetts over 

the question of who was to rule the Bay colony."  

18th century 

In 1702, East and West Jersey were combined to form the 

Province of New Jersey.  

The northern and southern sections of the Carolina colony 

operated more or less independently until 1691 when Philip 

Ludwell was appointed governor of the entire province. From 

that time until 1708, the northern and southern settlements 

remained under one government. However, during this period, 

the two halves of the province began increasingly to be known 

as North Carolina and South Carolina, as the descendants of 

the colony's proprietors fought over the direction of the colony. 

The colonists of Charles Town finally deposed their governor 

and elected their own government. This marked the start of 

separate governments in the Province of North-Carolina and 

the Province of South Carolina. In 1729, the king formally 

revoked Carolina's colonial charter and established both North 

Carolina and South Carolina as crown colonies.  
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In the 1730s, Parliamentarian James Oglethorpe proposed that 

the area south of the Carolinas be colonized with the "worthy 

poor" of England to provide an alternative to the overcrowded 

debtors' prisons. Oglethorpe and other English philanthropists 

secured a royal charter as the Trustees of the colony of Georgia 

on June 9, 1732. Oglethorpe and his compatriots hoped to 

establish a utopian colony that banned slavery and recruited 

only the most worthy settlers, but by 1750 the colony remained 

sparsely populated. The proprietors gave up their charter in 

1752, at which point Georgia became a crown colony.  

The colonial population of Thirteen Colonies grew immensely in 

the 18th century. According to historian Alan Taylor, the 

population of the Thirteen Colonies stood at 1.5  million in 

1750, which represented four-fifths of the population of British 

North America. More than 90 percent of the colonists lived as 

farmers, though some seaports also flourished. In 1760, the 

cities of Philadelphia, New York, and Boston had a population 

in excess of 16,000, which was small by European standards. 

By 1770, the economic output of the Thirteen Colonies made 

up forty percent of the gross domestic product of the British 

Empire.  

As the 18th century progressed, colonists began to settle far 

from the Atlantic coast. Pennsylvania, Virginia, Connecticut, 

and Maryland all laid claim to the land in the Ohio River 

valley. The colonies engaged in a scramble to purchase land 

from Indian tribes, as the British insisted that claims to land 

should rest on legitimate purchases. Virginia was particularly 

intent on western expansion, and most of the elite Virginia 

families invested in the Ohio Company to promote the 

settlement of Ohio Country.  
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Global trade and immigration 

The British colonies in North America became part of the global 

British trading network, as the value tripled for exports from 

British North America to Britain between 1700 and 1754. The 

colonists were restricted in trading with other European 

powers, but they found profitable trade partners in the other 

British colonies, particularly in the Caribbean. The colonists 

traded foodstuffs, wood, tobacco, and various other resources 

for Asian tea, West Indian coffee, and West Indian sugar, 

among other items. American Indians far from the Atlantic 

coast supplied the Atlantic market with beaver fur and 

deerskins. British North America had an advantage in natural 

resources and established its own thriving shipbuilding 

industry, and many North American merchants engaged in the 

transatlantic trade.  

Improved economic conditions and easing of religious 

persecution in Europe made it more difficult to recruit labor to 

the colonies, and many colonies became increasingly reliant on 

slave labor, particularly in the South. The population of slaves 

in British North America grew dramatically between 1680 and 

1750, and the growth was driven by a mixture of forced 

immigration and the reproduction of slaves. Slaves supported 

vast plantation economies in the South, while slaves in the 

North worked in a variety of occupations. There were some 

slave revolts, such as the Stono Rebellion and the New York 

Conspiracy of 1741, but these uprisings were suppressed.  

A small proportion of the English population migrated to 

British North America after 1700, but the colonies attracted 

new immigrants from other European countries. These 
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immigrants traveled to all of the colonies, but the Middle 

Colonies attracted the most and continued to be more 

ethnically diverse than the other colonies. Numerous settlers 

immigrated from Ireland, both Catholic and Protestant—

particularly "New Light" Ulster Presbyterians. Protestant 

Germans also migrated in large numbers, particularly to 

Pennsylvania. In the 1740s, the Thirteen Colonies underwent 

the First Great Awakening.  

French and Indian War 

In 1738, an incident involving a Welsh mariner named Robert 

Jenkins sparked the War of Jenkins' Ear between Britain and 

Spain. Hundreds of North Americans volunteered for Admiral 

Edward Vernon's assault on Cartagena de Indias, a Spanish 

city in South America. The war against Spain merged into a 

broader conflict known as the War of the Austrian Succession, 

but most colonists called it King George's War. In 1745, British 

and colonial forces captured the town of Louisbourg, and the 

war came to an end with the 1748 Treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle. 

However, many colonists were angered when Britain returned 

Louisbourg to France in return for Madras and other 

territories. In the aftermath of the war, both the British and 

French sought to expand into the Ohio River valley.  

The French and Indian War (1754–1763) was the American 

extension of the general European conflict known as the Seven 

Years' War. Previous colonial wars in North America had 

started in Europe and then spread to the colonies, but the 

French and Indian War is notable for having started in North 

America and spread to Europe. One of the primary causes of 
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the war was increasing competition between Britain and 

France, especially in the Great Lakes and Ohio valley.  

The French and Indian War took on a new significance for the 

British North American colonists when William Pitt the Elder 

decided that major military resources needed to be devoted to 

North America in order to win the war against France. For the 

first time, the continent became one of the main theaters of 

what could be termed a "world war". During the war, it became 

increasingly apparent to American colonists that they were 

under the authority of the British Empire, as British military 

and civilian officials took on an increased presence in their 

lives.  

The war also increased a sense of American unity in other 

ways. It caused men to travel across the continent who might 

otherwise have never left their own colony, fighting alongside 

men from decidedly different backgrounds who were 

nonetheless still American. Throughout the course of the war, 

British officers trained Americans for battle, most notably 

George Washington, which benefited the American cause 

during the Revolution. Also, colonial legislatures and officials 

had to cooperate intensively in pursuit of the continent-wide 

military effort. The relations were not always positive between 

the British military establishment and the colonists, setting 

the stage for later distrust and dislike of British troops. At the 

1754 Albany Congress, Pennsylvania colonist Benjamin 

Franklin proposed the Albany Plan which would have created a 

unified government of the Thirteen Colonies for coordination of 

defense and other matters, but the plan was rejected by the 

leaders of most colonies.  
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In the Treaty of Paris (1763), France formally ceded to Britain 

the eastern part of its vast North American empire, having 

secretly given to Spain the territory of Louisiana west of the 

Mississippi River the previous year. Before the war, Britain 

held the thirteen American colonies, most of present-day Nova 

Scotia, and most of the Hudson Bay watershed. Following the 

war, Britain gained all French territory east of the Mississippi 

River, including Quebec, the Great Lakes, and the Ohio River 

valley. Britain also gained Spanish Florida, from which it 

formed the colonies of East and West Florida. In removing a 

major foreign threat to the thirteen colonies, the war also 

largely removed the colonists' need for colonial protection.  

The British and colonists triumphed jointly over a common foe. 

The colonists' loyalty to the mother country was stronger than 

ever before. However, disunity was beginning to form. British 

Prime Minister William Pitt the Elder had decided to wage the 

war in the colonies with the use of troops from the colonies 

and tax funds from Britain itself. This was a successful 

wartime strategy but, after the war was over, each side 

believed that it had borne a greater burden than the other. The 

British elite, the most heavily taxed of any in Europe, pointed 

out angrily that the colonists paid little to the royal coffers. 

The colonists replied that their sons had fought and died in a 

war that served European interests more than their own. This 

dispute was a link in the chain of events that soon brought 

about the American Revolution.  

Growing dissent 

The British were left with large debts following the French and 

Indian War, so British leaders decided to increase taxation and 
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control of the Thirteen Colonies. They imposed several new 

taxes, beginning with the Sugar Act of 1764. Later acts 

included the Currency Act of 1764, the Stamp Act of 1765, and 

the Townshend Acts of 1767.  

The Royal Proclamation of 1763 restricted settlement west of 

the Appalachian Mountains, as this was designated an Indian 

Reserve. Some groups of settlers disregarded the proclamation, 

however, and continued to move west and establish farms. The 

proclamation was soon modified and was no longer a hindrance 

to settlement, but the fact angered the colonists that it had 

been promulgated without their prior consultation.  

Parliament had directly levied duties and excise taxes on the 

colonies, bypassing the colonial legislatures, and Americans 

began to insist on the principle of "no taxation without 

representation" with intense protests over the Stamp Act of 

1765. They argued that the colonies had no representation in 

the British Parliament, so it was a violation of their rights as 

Englishmen for taxes to be imposed upon them. Parliament 

rejected the colonial protests and asserted its authority by 

passing new taxes.  

Colonial discontentment grew with the passage of the 1773 Tea 

Act, which reduced taxes on tea sold by the East India 

Company in an effort to undercut the competition, and Prime 

Minister North's ministry hoped that this would establish a 

precedent of colonists accepting British taxation policies. 

Trouble escalated over the tea tax, as Americans in each colony 

boycotted the tea, and those in Boston dumped the tea in the 

harbor during the Boston Tea Party in 1773 when the Sons of 

Liberty dumped thousands of pounds of tea into the water. 
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Tensions escalated in 1774 as Parliament passed the laws 

known as the Intolerable Acts, which greatly restricted self-

government in the colony of Massachusetts.  

These laws also allowed British military commanders to claim 

colonial homes for the quartering of soldiers, regardless of 

whether the American civilians were willing or not to have 

soldiers in their homes.  

The laws further revoked colonial rights to hold trials in cases 

involving soldiers or crown officials, forcing such trials to be 

held in England rather than in America. Parliament also sent 

Thomas Gage to serve as Governor of Massachusetts and as the 

commander of British forces in North America.  

By 1774, colonists still hoped to remain part of the British 

Empire, but discontentment was widespread concerning British 

rule throughout the Thirteen Colonies. Colonists elected 

delegates to the First Continental Congress which convened in 

Philadelphia in September 1774. In the aftermath of the 

Intolerable Acts, the delegates asserted that the colonies owed 

allegiance only to the king; they would accept royal governors 

as agents of the king, but they were no longer willing to 

recognize Parliament's right to pass legislation affecting the 

colonies.  

Most delegates opposed an attack on the British position in 

Boston, and the Continental Congress instead agreed to the 

imposition of a boycott known as the Continental Association. 

The boycott proved effective and the value of British imports 

dropped dramatically. The Thirteen Colonies became 

increasingly divided between Patriots opposed to British rule 

and Loyalists who supported it.  
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American Revolution 

In response, the colonies formed bodies of elected 

representatives known as Provincial Congresses, and Colonists 

began to boycott imported British merchandise. Later in 1774, 

12 colonies sent representatives to the First Continental 

Congress in Philadelphia. During the Second Continental 

Congress, the remaining colony of Georgia sent delegates as 

well.  

Massachusetts Governor Thomas Gage feared a confrontation 

with the colonists; he requested reinforcements from Britain, 

but the British government was not willing to pay for the 

expense of stationing tens of thousands of soldiers in the 

Thirteen Colonies. Gage was instead ordered to seize Patriot 

arsenals. He dispatched a force to march on the arsenal at 

Concord, Massachusetts, but the Patriots learned about it and 

blocked their advance. The Patriots repulsed the British force 

at the April 1775 Battles of Lexington and Concord, then lay 

siege to Boston.  

By spring 1775, all royal officials had been expelled, and the 

Continental Congress hosted a convention of delegates for the 

13 colonies. It raised an army to fight the British and named 

George Washington its commander, made treaties, declared 

independence, and recommended that the colonies write 

constitutions and become states. The Second Continental 

Congress assembled in May 1775 and began to coordinate 

armed resistance against Britain. It established a government 

that recruited soldiers and printed its own money. General 

Washington took command of the Patriot soldiers in New 

England and forced the British to withdraw from Boston. In 
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1776, the Thirteen Colonies declared their independence from 

Britain. With the help of France and Spain, they defeated the 

British in the American Revolutionary War, with the final 

battle usually being referred to as the Siege of Yorktown in 

1781. In the Treaty of Paris (1783), Britain officially recognized 

the independence of the United States of America.  

Thirteen British colonies population 

The colonial population rose to a quarter of a million during 

the 17th century, and to nearly 2.5 million on the eve of the 

American revolution. The estimates do not include the Indian 

tribes outside the jurisdiction of the colonies. Good health was 

important for the growth of the colonies: "Fewer deaths among 

the young meant that a higher proportion of the population 

reached reproductive age, and that fact alone helps to explain 

why the colonies grew so rapidly." There were many other 

reasons for the population growth besides good health, such as 

the Great Migration.  

By 1776, about 85% of the white population's ancestry 

originated in the British Isles (English, Scots-Irish, Scottish, 

Welsh), 9% of German origin, 4% Dutch and 2% Huguenot 

French and other minorities.  

Over 90% were farmers, with several small cities that were also 

seaports linking the colonial economy to the larger British 

Empire. These populations continued to grow at a rapid rate 

during the late 18th and early 19th centuries, primarily 

because of high birth rates and relatively low death rates. 

Immigration was a minor factor from 1774 to 1830. The 

Federal Census Bureau study of 2004 gives the following 
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population estimates for the colonies: 1610 350; 1620 2,302; 

1630 4,646; 1640 26,634; 1650 50,368; 1660 75,058; 1670 

111,935; 1680 151,507; 1690 210,372; 1700 250,888; 1710 

331,711; 1720 466,185; 1730 629,445; 1740 905,563; 1750 

1,170,760; 1760 1,593,625; 1770 2,148,076; 1780 2,780,369. 

CT970 p. 2-13: Colonial and Pre-Federal Statistics, United 

States Census Bureau 2004, p. 1168.  

Slavery 

• Slavery was legal and practiced in all of the Thirteen 

Colonies. In most places, it involved house servants 

or farm workers. It was of economic importance in 

the export-oriented tobacco plantations of Virginia 

and Maryland and on the rice and indigo plantations 

of South Carolina. About 287,000 slaves were 

imported into the Thirteen Colonies over a period of 

160 years, or 2% of the estimated 12 million taken 

from Africa to the Americas via the Atlantic slave 

trade. The great majority went to sugar colonies in 

the Caribbean and to Brazil, where life expectancy 

was short and the numbers had to be continually 

replenished. By the mid-18th century, life 

expectancy was much higher in the American 

colonies. 

The numbers grew rapidly through a very high birth rate and 

low mortality rate, reaching nearly four million by the 1860 

census. From 1770 until 1860, the rate of natural growth of 

North American slaves was much greater than for the 

population of any nation in Europe, and was nearly twice as 

rapid as that in England.  
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Religion 

Protestantism was the predominant religious affiliation in the 

Thirteen Colonies, although there were also Catholics, Jews, 

and deists, and a large fraction had no religious connection. 

The Church of England was officially established in most of the 

South. The Puritan movement became the Congregational 

church, and it was the established religious affiliation in 

Massachusetts and Connecticut into the 18th century. In 

practice, this meant that tax revenues were allocated to church 

expenses. The Anglican parishes in the South were under the 

control of local vestries and had public functions such as 

repair of the roads and relief of the poor.  

The colonies were religiously diverse, with different Protestant 

denominations brought by British, German, Dutch, and other 

immigrants. The Reformed tradition was the foundation for 

Presbyterian, Congregationalist, and Continental Reformed 

denominations. French Huguenots set up their own Reformed 

congregations. The Dutch Reformed Church was strong among 

Dutch Americans in New York and New Jersey, while 

Lutheranism was prevalent among German immigrants. 

Germans also brought diverse forms of Anabaptism, especially 

the Mennonite variety. Reformed Baptist preacher Roger 

Williams founded Providence Plantations which became the 

Colony of Rhode Island and Providence Plantations. Jews were 

clustered in a few port cities. The Baltimore family founded 

Maryland and brought in fellow Catholics from England. 

Catholics were estimated at 1.6% of the population or 40,000 

in 1775. Of the 200–250,000 Irish who came to the Colonies 

between 1701 and 1775 less than 20,000 were Catholic, many 
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of whom hid their faith or lapsed because of prejudice and 

discrimination. Between 1770 and 1775 3,900 Irish Catholics 

arrived out of almost 45,000 white immigrants (7,000 English, 

15,000 Scots, 13,200 Scots-Irish, 5,200 Germans). Most 

Catholics were English Recusants, Germans, Irish, or blacks; 

half lived in Maryland, with large populations also in New York 

and Pennsylvania. Presbyterians were chiefly immigrants from 

Scotland and Ulster who favored the back-country and frontier 

districts.  

Quakers were well established in Pennsylvania, where they 

controlled the governorship and the legislature for many years. 

Quakers were also numerous in Rhode Island. Baptists and 

Methodists were growing rapidly during the First Great 

Awakening of the 1740s. Many denominations sponsored 

missions to the local Indians.  

Education 

Higher education was available for young men in the north, 

and most students were aspiring Protestant ministers. Nine 

institutions of higher education were chartered during the 

colonial era. These colleges, known collectively as the colonial 

colleges were New College (Harvard), the College of William & 

Mary, Yale College (Yale), the College of New Jersey (Princeton), 

King's College (Columbia), the College of Philadelphia 

(University of Pennsylvania), the College of Rhode Island 

(Brown), Queen's College (Rutgers) and Dartmouth College. The 

College of William & Mary and Queen's College later became 

public institutions while the other institutions account for 

seven of the eight private Ivy League universities.  
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With the exception of the College of William and Mary, these 

institutions were all located in New England and the Middle 

Colonies. The southern colonies held the belief that the family 

had the responsibility of educating their children, mirroring 

the common belief in Europe. Wealthy families either used 

tutors and governesses from Britain or sent children to school 

in England. By the 1700s, university students based in the 

colonies began to act as tutors.  

Most New England towns sponsored public schools for boys, 

but public schooling was rare elsewhere. Girls were educated 

at home or by small local private schools, and they had no 

access to college. Aspiring physicians and lawyers typically 

learned as apprentices to an established practitioner, although 

some young men went to medical schools in Scotland.  

Government 

The three forms of colonial government in 1776 were provincial 

(royal colony), proprietary, and charter. These governments 

were all subordinate to the British monarch with no 

representation in the Parliament of Great Britain. The 

administration of all British colonies was overseen by the 

Board of Trade in London beginning late in the 17th century.  

The provincial colony was governed by commissions created at 

the pleasure of the king. A governor and his council were 

appointed by the crown. The governor was invested with 

general executive powers and authorized to call a locally 

elected assembly. The governor's council would sit as an upper 

house when the assembly was in session, in addition to its role 

in advising the governor. Assemblies were made up of 
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representatives elected by the freeholders and planters 

(landowners) of the province. The governor had the power of 

absolute veto and could prorogue (i.e., delay) and dissolve the 

assembly.  

The assembly's role was to make all local laws and ordinances, 

ensuring that they were not inconsistent with the laws of 

Britain. In practice, this did not always occur, since many of 

the provincial assemblies sought to expand their powers and 

limit those of the governor and crown. Laws could be examined 

by the British Privy Council or Board of Trade, which also held 

veto power of legislation. New Hampshire, New York, Virginia, 

North Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia were crown 

colonies. Massachusetts became a crown colony at the end of 

the 17th century.  

Proprietary colonies were governed much as royal colonies, 

except that lord proprietors appointed the governor rather than 

the king. They were set up after the English Restoration of 

1660 and typically enjoyed greater civil and religious liberty. 

Pennsylvania (which included Delaware), New Jersey, and 

Maryland were proprietary colonies.  

Charter governments were political corporations created by 

letters patent, giving the grantees control of the land and the 

powers of legislative government. The charters provided a 

fundamental constitution and divided powers among 

legislative, executive, and judicial functions, with those powers 

being vested in officials. Massachusetts, Providence Plantation, 

Rhode Island, Warwick, and Connecticut were charter colonies. 

The Massachusetts charter was revoked in 1684 and was 

replaced by a provincial charter that was issued in 1691. 
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Providence Plantations merged with the settlements at Rhode 

Island and Warwick to form the Colony of Rhode Island and 

Providence Plantations, which also became a charter colony in 

1636.  

British role 

After 1680, the imperial government in London took an 

increasing interest in the affairs of the colonies, which were 

growing rapidly in population and wealth. In 1680, only 

Virginia was a royal colony; by 1720, half were under the 

control of royal governors. These governors were appointees 

closely tied to the government in London.  

Historians before the 1880s emphasized American nationalism. 

However, scholarship after that time was heavily influenced by 

the "Imperial school" led by Herbert L. Osgood, George Louis 

Beer, Charles McLean Andrews, and Lawrence H. Gipson. This 

viewpoint dominated colonial historiography into the 1940s, 

and they emphasized and often praised the attention that 

London gave to all the colonies. In this view, there was never a 

threat (before the 1770s) that any colony would revolt or seek 

independence.  

Self-government 

British settlers did not come to the American colonies with the 

intention of creating a democratic system; yet they quickly 

created a broad electorate without a land-owning aristocracy, 

along with a pattern of free elections which put a strong 

emphasis on voter participation. The colonies offered a much 

freer degree of suffrage than Britain or indeed any other 
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country. Any property owner could vote for members of the 

lower house of the legislature, and they could even vote for the 

governor in Connecticut and Rhode Island. Voters were 

required to hold an "interest" in society; as the South Carolina 

legislature said in 1716, "it is necessary and reasonable, that 

none but such persons will have an interest in the Province 

should be capable to elect members of the Commons House of 

Assembly". The main legal criterion for having an "interest" 

was ownership of real estate property, which was uncommon in 

Britain, where 19 out of 20 men were controlled politically by 

their landlords. (Women, children, indentured servants, and 

slaves were subsumed under the interest of the family head.) 

London insisted on this requirement for the colonies, telling 

governors to exclude from the ballot men who were not 

freeholders—that is, those who did not own land. Nevertheless, 

land was so widely owned that 50% to 80% of the men were 

eligible to vote.  

The colonial political culture emphasized deference, so that 

local notables were the men who ran and were chosen. But 

sometimes they competed with each other and had to appeal to 

the common man for votes. There were no political parties, and 

would-be legislators formed ad hoc coalitions of their families, 

friends, and neighbors. Outside of Puritan New England, 

election day brought in all the men from the countryside to the 

county seat to make merry, politick, shake hands with the 

grandees, meet old friends, and hear the speeches—all the 

while toasting, eating, treating, tippling, and gambling. They 

voted by shouting their choice to the clerk, as supporters 

cheered or booed. Candidate George Washington spent £39 for 

treats for his supporters. The candidates knew that they had to 

"swill the planters with bumbo" (rum). Elections were carnivals 
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where all men were equal for one day and traditional restraints 

were relaxed. The actual rate of voting ranged from 20% to 40% 

of all adult white males. The rates were higher in Pennsylvania 

and New York, where long-standing factions based on ethnic 

and religious groups mobilized supporters at a higher rate. 

New York and Rhode Island developed long-lasting two-faction 

systems that held together for years at the colony level, but 

they did not reach into local affairs. The factions were based 

on the personalities of a few leaders and an array of family 

connections, and they had little basis in policy or ideology. 

Elsewhere the political scene was in a constant whirl, based on 

personality rather than long-lived factions or serious disputes 

on issues.  

The colonies were independent of one other long before 1774; 

indeed, all the colonies began as separate and unique 

settlements or plantations. Further, efforts had failed to form a 

colonial union through the Albany Congress of 1754 led by 

Benjamin Franklin. The thirteen all had well-established 

systems of self-government and elections based on the Rights 

of Englishmen which they were determined to protect from 

imperial interference.  

Economic policy 

The British Empire at the time operated under the mercantile 

system, where all trade was concentrated inside the Empire, 

and trade with other empires was forbidden. The goal was to 

enrich Britain—its merchants and its government. Whether the 

policy was good for the colonists was not an issue in London, 

but Americans became increasingly restive with mercantilist 

policies.  
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Mercantilism meant that the government and the merchants 

became partners with the goal of increasing political power and 

private wealth, to the exclusion of other empires.  

The government protected its merchants—and kept others 

out—by trade barriers, regulations, and subsidies to domestic 

industries in order to maximize exports from and minimize 

imports to the realm. The government had to fight smuggling—

which became a favorite American technique in the 18th 

century to circumvent the restrictions on trading with the 

French, Spanish or Dutch.  

The tactic used by mercantilism was to run trade surpluses, so 

that gold and silver would pour into London. The government 

took its share through duties and taxes, with the remainder 

going to merchants in Britain. The government spent much of 

its revenue on a superb Royal Navy, which not only protected 

the British colonies but threatened the colonies of the other 

empires, and sometimes seized them. Thus the British Navy 

captured New Amsterdam (New York) in 1664. The colonies 

were captive markets for British industry, and the goal was to 

enrich the mother country.  

Britain implemented mercantilism by trying to block American 

trade with the French, Spanish, or Dutch empires using the 

Navigation Acts, which Americans avoided as often as they 

could. The royal officials responded to smuggling with open-

ended search warrants (Writs of Assistance). In 1761, Boston 

lawyer James Otis argued that the writs violated the 

constitutional rights of the colonists. He lost the case, but 

John Adams later wrote, "Then and there the child 

Independence was born."  
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However, the colonists took pains to argue that they did not 

oppose British regulation of their external trade; they only 

opposed legislation that affected them internally.  

Other British colonies 

Besides the grouping that became known as the "thirteen 

colonies", Britain in the late-18th century had another dozen 

colonial possessions in the New World. The British West Indies, 

Newfoundland, the Province of Quebec, Nova Scotia, Prince 

Edward Island, Bermuda, and East and West Florida remained 

loyal to the British crown throughout the war (although Spain 

reacquired Florida before the war was over, and in 1821 sold it 

to the United States). Several of the other colonies evinced a 

certain degree of sympathy with the Patriot cause, but their 

geographical isolation and the dominance of British naval 

power precluded any effective participation. The British crown 

had only recently acquired several of those lands, and many of 

the issues facing the Thirteen Colonies did not apply to them, 

especially in the case of Quebec and Florida.  

• Sparsely-settled Rupert's Land, which King Charles 

II of England had chartered as "one of our 

Plantations or Colonies in America" in 1670, 

operated remotely from the rebellious colonies and 

had relatively little in common with them. 

• Newfoundland, exempt from the Navigation Acts, 

shared none of the grievances of the continental 

colonies. Tightly bound to Britain and controlled by 

the Royal Navy, it had no assembly that could voice 

grievances. 
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• Nova Scotia had a large Yankee element which had 

recently arrived from New England, and which 

shared the sentiments of the Americans in the 13 

colonies about demanding the rights of the British 

men. The royal government in Halifax reluctantly 

allowed the Yankees of Nova Scotia a kind of 

"neutrality". In any case, the island-like geography 

and the presence of the major British naval base at 

Halifax made the thought of armed resistance 

impossible. 

• Quebec was inhabited by French Catholic settlers 

who had come under British control by 1760. The 

Quebec Act of 1774 gave the French settlers formal 

cultural autonomy within the British Empire, and 

many of their Catholic priests feared the intense 

Protestantism in New England. American grievances 

over taxation had little relevance, and there was no 

assembly nor elections of any kind that could have 

mobilized any grievances. Even so, the Americans 

offered the Quebecois membership in their new 

country and sent a military expedition that failed to 

capture Canada in 1775. Most Canadians remained 

neutral, but some joined the American cause. 

• In the West Indies the elected assemblies of Jamaica, 

Grenada, and Barbados formally declared their 

sympathies for the American cause and called for 

mediation, but the others were quite loyal. Britain 

carefully avoided antagonizing the rich owners of 

sugar plantations (many of whom lived in London); in 

turn the planters' greater dependence on slavery 

made them recognize the need for British military 

protection from possible slave revolts. The 
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possibilities for overt action were sharply limited by 

the overwhelming power of Royal Navy in the islands. 

During the war there was some opportunistic trading 

with American ships. 

• In Bermuda and in the Bahamas, local leaders were 

angry at the food shortages caused by British 

blockade of American ports. There was increasing 

sympathy for the American cause, which extended to 

smuggling, and both colonies were considered 

"passive allies" of the United States throughout the 

war. When an American naval squadron arrived in 

the Bahamas to seize gunpowder, the colony offered 

no resistance at all. 

• Spain had transferred the territories of East Florida 

and West Florida to Britain by the Treaty of Paris in 

1763 after the French and Indian War. The few 

British colonists there needed protection from 

attacks by Indians and by Spanish privateers. After 

1775 East Florida became a major base for the 

British war-effort in the South, especially in the 

invasions of Georgia and South Carolina. However, 

Spain seized Pensacola in West Florida in 1781, then 

recovered both territories in the Treaty of Paris that 

ended the war in 1783. Spain ultimately agreed to 

transfer the Florida provinces to the United States in 

1819. 

Historiography 

The first British Empire centered on the Thirteen Colonies, 

which attracted large numbers of settlers from Britain. The 
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"Imperial School" in the 1900–1930s took a favorable view of 

the benefits of empire, emphasizing its successful economic 

integration. The Imperial School included such historians as 

Herbert L. Osgood, George Louis Beer, Charles M. Andrews, 

and Lawrence Gipson.  

The shock of Britain's defeat in 1783 caused a radical revision 

of British policies on colonialism, thereby producing what 

historians call the end of the First British Empire, even though 

Britain still controlled Canada and some islands in the West 

Indies. Ashley Jackson writes:  

The first British Empire was largely destroyed by the loss of 

the American colonies, followed by a "swing to the east" and 

the foundation of a second British Empire based on commercial 

and territorial expansion in South Asia. 

Much of the historiography concerns the reasons why the 

Americans rebelled in the 1770s and successfully broke away. 

Since the 1960s, the mainstream of historiography has 

emphasized the growth of American consciousness and 

nationalism and the colonial republican value-system, in 

opposition to the aristocratic viewpoint of British leaders.  

Historians in recent decades have mostly used one of three 

approaches to analyze the American Revolution:  

• The Atlantic history view places North American 

events in a broader context, including the French 

Revolution and Haitian Revolution. It tends to 

integrate the historiographies of the American 

Revolution and the British Empire. 
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• The new social history approach looks at community 

social structure to find issues that became magnified 

into colonial cleavages. 

• The ideological approach centers on republicanism in 

the Thirteen Colonies. The ideas of republicanism 

dictated that the United States would have no 

royalty or aristocracy or national church. They did 

permit continuation of the British common law, 

which American lawyers and jurists understood, 

approved of, and used in their everyday practice. 

Historians have examined how the rising American 

legal profession adapted the British common law to 

incorporate republicanism by selective revision of 

legal customs and by introducing more choice for 

courts. 

  



Chapter 32 

Thomas Walker 

Thomas Walker (January 25, 1715 – November 9, 1794) was a 

physician, planter and explorer in colonial Virginia who served 

multiple terms in the Virginia General Assembly, and whose 

descendants also had political careers. Walker explored 

Kentucky in 1750, 19 years before the arrival of Daniel Boone.  

Early and family life and education 

Thomas Walker was born at "Rye Field", Walkerton, King and 

Queen County, Virginia.  

He was raised as an Englishman in the Tidewater region of 

Virginia. Walker's first profession was that of a physician; he 

had attended the College of William and Mary and studied 

under his brother-in-law Dr. George Gilmer.  

Walker married Mildred Thornton (widow of Nicholas 

Meriwether) in 1741, and acquired land and enslaved people in 

the soon-to be formed Albemarle County from her late 

husband's estate.  

The new couple built a home known as Castle Hill and had 12 

children. They in turn would later become prominent Albemarle 

County citizens in their own right. Two of Walker's sons, John 

and Francis Walker, became Congressmen in the new United 

States. After the death of his first wife, in 1781 Walker married 

Elizabeth Thornton.  
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Planter and burgess 

In April 1744, Walker was elected as vestryman at his church, 

a position he held for more than forty years, until 1785. He 

also served Virginia as a delegate to the House of Burgesses 

many times, first from Louisa County, then newly formed 

Hampshire County in the Appalachian region, and finally from 

Albemarle County. Walker also became a trustee of the newly 

formed town of Charlottesville.  

Around 1742, Walker imported six or eight couple of English 

Foxhounds, thus beginning a foxhunting tradition of the local 

Albemarle gentry, particularly in Keswick."  

Pioneer and explorer 

• On July 12, 1749, the Loyal Land Company was 

founded with Walker as a leading member, along 

with fellow surveyors Joshua Fry and Peter 

Jefferson, as well as many investors. After receiving 

a royal grant of 800,000 acres (320,000 ha) in what 

is now southeastern Kentucky (which was occupied 

by Native Americans), the company appointed Walker 

to lead an expedition to explore and survey the 

region in 1750, so he set out, probably along the 

Wilderness Road. Walker also bought a plantation 

from Joshua Frye along the Hardware River in 

Albermarle County, in part to pay sums due him for 

his surveying services. Fellow stockholders elected 

Walker head of the Loyal Land Company in 1752.  
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During the expedition, Walker gave names to many 

topographical features, including the Cumberland Gap. His 

party built the first non-Indian house (a cabin) in Kentucky, 

and helped Virginia pioneer Samuel Stalnaker build his home 

on the westernmost point in colonial Virginia. Walker kept a 

daily journal of the trip.  

During some of his expeditions, Walker explored with fellow 

Virginian, Indian agent, legislator, surveyor and later 

Revolutionary war general, Joseph Martin, as some of the first 

colonialists to travel in this area.  

Martin's son, Revolutionary War officer Col. William Martin, 

described the naming of the area and river in a letter to 

historian Lyman Draper,  

A treaty with the Cherokees was held at Fort Chiswell on New 

River, then a frontier. On the return of the chiefs home, Dr. 

[Thomas] Walker, a gentleman of distinction, and my father, 

[General] Joseph Martin, accompanied them. The Indians being 

guides, they passed through the place now called Cumberland 

Gap, where they discovered a fine spring. They still had a little 

rum remaining, and they drank to the health of the Duke of 

Cumberland. This gave rise to the name of Cumberland 

Mountain and Cumberland River. 

At the age of 64, Walker again traveled to the western areas of 

Kentucky and Tennessee; he had been commissioned to survey 

the border between westward of the Virginia and North 

Carolina. (At that time each state claimed the land to the west 

of their boundaries for ultimate settlement by the right of 

discovery.) Because the border was mapped and surveyed, 

rather than created along the natural boundary of a river, it 



Pre–United States History: 1700–1759, Volume 4 

809 

was considered controversial. It was called the "Walker Line", 

and still constitutes the border between Kentucky and 

Tennessee from east to west terminating at the Tennessee 

River.  

Walker was influential in dealing with Indian affairs. He was 

appointed to represent Virginia at the Treaty of Fort Stanwix 

and Treaty of Lochaber (1770), and dealt with the peace 

negotiations after the Battle of Point Pleasant. In 1775, Walker 

served as a Virginia commissioner in negotiations with 

representatives of the Iroquois Six Nations in Pittsburgh, as 

the colonies tried to engage them as allies against the British.  

He is credited as the first to discover and use coal in 

Kentucky.  

Due to his broad knowledge of the areas and their resources, 

Walker became an adviser to Thomas Jefferson from 1780 to 

1783 as the future President wrote his Notes on the State of 

Virginia (1785).  

Death, legacy and honors 

Thomas Walker died on November 9, 1794 at his home of 

Castle Hill.  

• Kentucky built a replica of the cabin which his 

expedition put up in present-day Kentucky; it has 

been designated as the Dr. Thomas Walker State 

Historic Site. 

• Thomas Walker High School is one of two high 

schools in Lee County, Virginia. It is located one 
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mile east of the town of Ewing, and three miles west 

of the town of Rose Hill. Thomas Walker High School 

was built in 1940. It was built to combine Rose Hill 

High School and Ewing High School. The high school 

was remodeled and enlarged in 1959. The last 

addition was added to Thomas Walker High School in 

1971. The Rose Hill District is made up of two towns, 

Rose Hill and Ewing. 

Cumberland Gap 

The Cumberland Gap is a pass through the long ridge of the 

Cumberland Mountains, within the Appalachian Mountains, 

near the junction of the U.S. states of Kentucky, Virginia, and 

Tennessee. It is famous in American colonial history for its role 

as a key passageway through the lower central Appalachians.  

Long used by Native American nations, the Cumberland Gap 

was brought to the attention of settlers in 1750 by Thomas 

Walker, a Virginia physician and explorer. The path was used 

by a team of frontiersmen led by Daniel Boone, making it 

accessible to pioneers who used it to journey into the western 

frontiers of Kentucky and Tennessee.  

It was an important part of the Wilderness Road and is now 

part of the Cumberland Gap National Historical Park.  

Geography 

The Cumberland Gap is one of many passes in the Appalachian 

Mountains but the only one in the continuous Cumberland 
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Mountain ridgeline. It lies within Cumberland Gap National 

Historical Park and is located on the border of present-day 

Kentucky and Virginia, approximately 0.25 miles (0.40 km) 

northeast of the tri-state marker with Tennessee.  

The V-shaped gap serves as a gateway to the west. The base of 

the gap is about 300 feet (91 m) above the valley floor, even 

though the north side of the pass was lowered 20 feet (6.1 m) 

during the construction of Old U.S. Route 25E. To the south, 

the ridge rises 600 feet (180 m) above the pass, while to the 

north the Pinnacle Overlook towers 900 feet (270 m) above 

(elevation 2,505 feet (764 m)).  

Because it is centrally located in the United States, the region 

around Cumberland Gap experiences all four seasons. The 

summers are typically sunny, warm, and humid with average 

high temperatures in the mid to upper 80s F (29-32C). In the 

winter months, January through March, temperatures range in 

the 30s to 40s F (0s C) and are generally mild with rain and 

few periods of snow.  

The nearest cities are Middlesboro, Kentucky, and Harrogate, 

Tennessee. The nearby town of Cumberland Gap, in Tennessee, 

is named after the gap.  

Geology 

The gap was formed by the development of three major 

structural features: the Pine Mountain Thrust Sheet, the 

Middlesboro Syncline, and the Rocky Face Fault. Lateral 

compressive forces of sedimentary rocks from deep layers of 

the Earth's crust pushing upward 320 to 200 million years ago 
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created the thrust sheet. Resistance on the fault from the 

opposing Cumberland Mountain to Pine Mountain caused the 

U-shaped structure of the Middlesboro Syncline. The once flat-

lying sedimentary rocks were deformed roughly 40 degrees 

northwest. Further constriction to the northwest of 

Cumberland Mountain developed into a fault trending north-to-

south called the Rocky Face Fault, which eventually cut 

through Cumberland Mountain. This combination of natural 

geological processes created ideal conditions for weathering 

and erosion of the rocks.  

The discovery of the Middlesboro impact structure has 

proposed new details in the formation of Cumberland Gap. 

Less than 300 million years ago a meteorite, "approximately 

the size of a football field", struck the earth, creating the 

Middlesboro Crater. One of three astroblemes in the state, it is 

a 3.7-mile (6.0 km) diameter meteorite impact crater with the 

city of Middlesboro, Kentucky built entirely inside it.  

Detailed mapping by geologists in the 1960s led many to 

interpret the geological features of the area to be the site of an 

ancient impact. In 1966 Robert Dietz discovered shatter cones 

in nearby sandstone, proving recent speculation. Shatter 

cones, a rock-shattering pattern naturally formed only during 

impact events, are found in abundance in the area. The 

presence of shatter cones found also helped confirm the origin 

of the impact. In September 2003, the site was designated a 

Distinguished Geologic Site by the Kentucky Society of 

Professional Geologists.  

Without the Rocky Face Fault, it would have been difficult for 

pack-horses to navigate this gap and the gap in Pine Mountain 
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near Pineville, and it would be improbable that wagon roads 

would have been constructed at an early date. Middlesboro is 

the only place in the world where coal is mined inside an 

astrobleme. Special mining techniques must be used in the 

complicated strata of this crater.  

History 

• The passage created by Cumberland Gap was well 

traveled by Native Americans long before the arrival 

of European-American settlers. The passage through 

the gap was originally created by herds of woodland 

buffalo that traveled across it over thousands of 

years, drawn by the abundance of salt in the region. 

The earliest written account of Cumberland Gap 

dates to the 1670s, by Abraham Wood of Virginia. 

Some time before 1748 Samuel Stalnaker is believed 

to have passed through the gap while exploring the 

region.The gap was named for Prince William, Duke 

of Cumberland, son of King George II of Great 

Britain, who had many places named for him in the 

American colonies after the Battle of Culloden. The 

explorer Thomas Walker gave the name to the 

Cumberland River in 1750, and the name soon 

spread to many other features in the region, such as 

the Cumberland Gap. In 1769 Joseph Martin built a 

fort nearby at present-day Rose Hill, Virginia, on 

behalf of Walker's land claimants. But Martin and 

his men were chased out of the area by Native 

Americans, and Martin did not return until 1775.In 

1775 Daniel Boone, hired by the Transylvania 
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Company, arrived in the region leading a company of 

men to widen the path through the gap to make 

settlement of Kentucky and Tennessee easier. On his 

arrival, Boone discovered that Martin had already 

arrived in Powell Valley, where Martin and his men 

were clearing land for their own settlement – the 

westernmost settlement in English colonial America 

at the time. By the 1790s, the trail that Boone and 

his men built had been widened to accommodate 

wagon traffic and became known as the Wilderness 

Road.  

Several American Civil War engagements occurred in and 

around the Cumberland Gap and are known as the Battle of 

the Cumberland Gap.  

In June 1862, Union Army General George W. Morgan captured 

the gap for the Union. In September of that year, Confederate 

States Army forces under Edmund Kirby Smith occupied the 

gap during General Braxton Bragg's Kentucky Invasion.  

The following year, in a bloodless engagement in September 

1863, Union Army troops under General Ambrose Burnside 

forced the surrender of 2,300 Confederates defending the gap, 

gaining Union control of the gap for the remainder of the war.  

It is estimated that between 200,000 and 300,000 European-

American settlers passed through the gap on their way into 

Kentucky and the Ohio Valley before 1810. Today 18,000 cars 

pass beneath the site daily, and 1.2 million people visit the 

park on the site annually. The park features many hiking 

trails.  
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U.S. Route 25E passed overland through the gap before the 

completion of the Cumberland Gap Tunnel in 1996. The 

original trail was then restored.  

Historic district 

The gap and associated historic resources were listed on the 

National Register of Historic Places as a historic district on 

May 28, 1980.  

Biology and ecology 

Flora 

Within the Cumberland Gap National Historical Park there are 

currently 855 known species of vascular plants identified, but 

that number is expected to increase with reports from National 

Park Service inventory and monitoring programs. There are 15 

various vegetation communities throughout the park, with 

some of them in special locations, such as mountain bogs, low-

elevation wetlands, and rocky bluffs.  

Fauna 

Of the 371 species of animals listed so far within the park, 33 

are mammals, 89 are birds, 29 amphibians, 15 reptiles, 27 

fish, and 187 are insects, however many others remain to be 

included. Visitors to the park can expect to see gray squirrels, 

white-tailed deer, cottontail rabbits, songbirds, hawks, snakes, 

turtles, and perhaps black bear or bobcat. Over 120 species of 

birds have been logged in the park on the website eBird.  
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In popular culture 

Music 

• "Cumberland Gap" (first recorded in 1924) is a 

popular folk song recorded and performed by 

American folk and bluegrass musicians such as 

Woody Guthrie and Earl Scruggs, and by 

Britishskiffle artists such as Lonnie Donegan and 

the Vipers Skiffle Group. 

• The gap has been mentioned in many other songs, 

including:  

• "The Ballad of Thunder Road" 

• "Mighty Joe Moon", by American band Grant Lee 

Buffalo 

• "Wagon Wheel", co-written by Bob Dylan and Ketch 

Secor, performed by Old Crow Medicine Show 

• "Cumberland Gap", by American band Ragged 

Mountain String Band 

• "Cumberland Gap", by Jason Isbell and the 400 Unit 

• "Cumberland Gap", by David Rawlings on his 2017 

album Poor David's Almanack 

• "One More River To Cross", by Bob Weir on his 2016 

album Blue Mountain 

• "Barbara's Song", by Ian Noe on his 2019 album 

Between the Country 

• "Moonshine", by Mike Oldfield on his 2014 album 

Man on the Rocks 
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